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Pan Asia Environmental Protection Group Limited
RERREEBRAAE

Chairman’s Statement
FERES

To Our Shareholders:

On behalf of the Board (the “Board”) of Directors (the
“Directors”), | am pleased to present the annual report of Pan
Asia Environmental Protection Group Limited (the “Company”)
and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) for
the year ended 31 December 2019 (the “Reporting Period”).

In 2019, the global economy was full of challenges and
uncertainties, events such as the rise of global trade
protectionism, unclear consequences of Brexit, and the
worldwide flattening of inflation rates, have further exacerbated
the situation. As a consequence, most industries have faced
problems including slowing growth momentum, sluggish
demand, and a continued downturn in international trade and
investment. The uncertainties also sparked fierce competition
in the environmental protection (“EP”) industry with participants
adopting more aggressive marketing strategies and bidding for
business at lower prices. Therefore, the Group is continuing
to pursue the strategy of business diversification, while
consolidating our position in the EP industry.

In the presentation of its “Report on the Work of the
Government” (BF T{ERE) in 2019, Li Kegiang, Premier of
the State Council (BI7Pr 8322 5558) affirmed the remarkable
accomplishments on pollution prevention and control were
achieved over the past year; especially in the areas of air quality
which saw a notable continued decrease of PM2.5 levels.
Encouraging results also followed the implementation of the
“Three-Year Action Plan to Win the Blue Sky Defence War” (§T
WERRFH=F178)5t2]) and the successive launch of the
“Action Plan for the Tackling and Fighting against Pollution by
Diesel Trucks” (SMEE5RGEBNERSTB)ETE]). Highlights
includes the percentage of excellent days (18 R AHLH) in at
least 338 cities increasing by 1.3 percentage points to 79.3%.
It is worth mentioning that the overall PM2.5 concentration
decreased by 9.3% year-on-year, with particularly exceptional
performances found in various key areas such as the Yangtze
River Delta (K=#3), Fenwei Plain (/3’8 F &) and Beijing (1t &).
Meanwhile, Premier Li put forward clear requirements for this
year’s efforts, which specified the need to focus on key tasks
such as maintaining blue skies, continuing to promote pollution
prevention, strengthening the protection and restoration of
ecosystems, expanding the green environmental protection
industry and vigorously promoting green development, etc.
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As a leading company in the EP industry, the Group will
continue to seek out potential growth and development
opportunities of the industry in China. However, as the Group is
facing fiercer competition nowadays, stronger cost control and
efficiency management measures will be carried out to facilitate
optimal allocation of resources. Meanwhile, the Group will
evaluate other investment opportunities, and potential mergers
and acquisitions with the aim of diversifying our business and
the expansion of our revenue streams.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

For the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group achieved a
total revenue from continuing operations of RMB79.8 million,
declining by 51% as compared with RMB162.2 million in
2018. Gross profit decreased to about RMB3.5 million (2018:
RMB20.4 million) and gross profit margin was 4.4% (2018:
12.5%). The Group recorded a net loss of RMB58.6 million
(2018: RMB19.4 million), mainly due to an intense competition
in the EP industry in the PRC. The basic loss per share was
RMB6.98 cents (2018: RMB2.30 cents).

PROSPECTS

EP Business

The year 2020 marks the final year of the “The 13th Five-
Year Plan” (t=H}Zl). It was clearly stated at the Central
Economic Work Conference (FR&E T EE ) that the
battle for prevention of ecological pollution remains a major
task intended to convey the new trend of China’s economic
development, as well as accelerating the formation of national
green development for the well-being of citizens and society as
a whole. The Conference proposed that a consistent direction
for the battle against pollution has to be established as guided
by a detailed action plan, with attention on precise and scientific
pollution control mechanisms in accordance with the law. The
Conference required that main focus should be on causes and
characteristics of air, water and soil pollution, while paying close
attention to the current issues and study and assessment of
any appropriate remedies.
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Pan Asia Environmental Protection Group Limited
RERREEBRAAE

Chairman’s Statement
FERES

The Government will continue to emphasize the protection
of the clear sky, clean water and land in 2020 by working on
the prevention and control of pollution at its sources. As this
year marks an important checkpoint for the “The 13th Five-
Year Plan”, a remarkable improvement on the environment and
ecological quality is expected, while impressive progress is also
foreseen for the treatment of air, water and soil pollution. The
construction of an ecological civilization is an indispensable task
to make our environment more sustainable.

The Group will continue to bear the responsibility and accept
the mission for environmental protection, under the guidance of
China’s government.

Business Diversification Strategy

As the global economic and market environment remains very
challenging, the Group will continue to explore more strategic
partnerships, mergers and acquisitions in a prudent way. While
ongoing uncertainties continue to exist in the macroeconomic
environment, the Group believes that business diversification
is the way to mitigate risks and to take advantage of potential
growth opportunities. As a result, exploring opportunities within
the industry with substantial market potential will be our priority
here, especially those which can bring synergies to our existing
business and optimize our business scope.

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board and the management, | would like to
express my heartfelt gratitude to our staff for their committed
dedications during the Year. | also extend my appreciation to
the shareholders as they have supported the Group to steadily
develop its ongoing EP business and seek strategic investment
opportunities. My thanks further go to our shareholders,
investors, clients, suppliers and business partners for their
constant supports, which has provided the Group with strong
momentum to generate better results in the future.

Jiang Xin
Chairman
Hong Kong, 31 March 2020
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BUSINESS REVIEW
Sales of EP Products and Equipment Business

Sales of EP products and equipment remained the major
income contributor of the Group during the year. This segment
recorded a revenue of RMB78.8 million (2018: RMB159.9
million) and the gross profit amounted to RMB3.5 million (2018:
RMB19.4 million), with a gross profit margin of 4.4% (2018:
12.1%). Details of the types of the sales of EP products and
equipment are laid out below.

Sales of Flue Gas Treatment Products and Equipment

The Group’s comprehensive flue gas treatment supply chain
provides related products and equipment. During the year,
the Group completed 7 projects related to sales of flue gas
treatment equipment and recorded a revenue of approximately
RMB72.3 million, accounting for about 90.6% of the total
revenue.

Sales of Water Treatment Products and Equipment

Water treatment systems are mainly used for the treatment of
industrial and urban waste water. During the year, the Group
completed 3 water treatment-related sales contracts, and the
business generated a revenue of approximately RMB6.5 million,
accounting for about 8.1% of the Group’s total revenue.

EP Construction Engineering Projects

With the extensive industry expertise, professional research and
development capabilities and technologies, the Group provides
one-stop EP solutions to a diverse range of clients. During the
year, the Group completed 1 EP construction engineering-
related project, and this segment recorded a revenue of
approximately RMB1.0 million, accounting for about 1.3% of the
Group’ s total revenue.

Prospects

In the light of the importance of environmental protection in
China and the relevant supportive policies, the Group believes
that there is still a growth potential in the EP industry and
the Group will continue to explore the market and grasp
any opportunities. At the same time, the Group will seek
other industries with development potential to ensure stable
business growth and generate revenue from multiple channels.
A diversified business portfolio also safeguards the Group to
continue to consolidate its position in the market during periods
of economic disruption.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEEENWEDN

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

As at 31 December 2019, total assets of the Group amounted
to RMB1,261.1 million, a decrease of RMB30.0 million as
compared with RMB1,291.1 million in 2018. The Group’s total
liabilities as at 31 December 2019 amounted to RMB116.9
million, an increase of RMB29.8 million as compared with
RMB87.1 million in 2018. The Group’s total equity as at 31
December 2019 was RMB1,144.2 million (2018: RMB1,204.0
million). As at 31 December 2019, the gearing ratio of the
Group, based on total borrowings (including corporate bonds)
to the equity (including all capital and reserves) was 4.3% (2018:
4.0%). The Group’s cash and cash equivalents amounted
to RMB1,203.1 million as at 31 December 2019 (2018:
RMB1,037.9 million).

Exposure to Exchange Rate Fluctuation

The Group adopts a conservative financial policy. Business
transactions and liabilities of the Group are largely denominated
in Renminbi and Hong Kong Dollars, so are the majority
of its bank deposits. As at 31 December 2019, the Group
did not have any foreign currency bank liabilities, foreign
exchange contracts, interest or currency swaps or other
financial derivatives for hedging purposes. Nevertheless, the
management will continue to monitor the Group’s foreign
exchange exposure and will take relevant measures with
prudence as and when appropriate. As at 31 December 2019,
the Group did not hold any derivatives for hedging against
interest rate and foreign exchange risks.

Capital Commitments and Contingent Liabilities

As at 31 December 2019, the Group had no capital expenditure
commitment in respect of the acquisition of property, plant
and equipment (2018: Nil). The Group has provided product
warranties to its customers in respect of certain of its EP
products and equipment sold for a warranty period ranging
from six months to two years after installation. At the same
time, the Group has also received the same product warranties
in respect of those EP products and equipment provided by its
suppliers and subcontractors. The Directors of the Company
believe that the amount of crystallised warranty liabilities will not
be significant at the end of the Reporting Period.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Pledge of Assets

There was no pledge of assets by the Group as at 31 December
2019.

Significant Investments, Acquisition and Disposal of Assets

Save as disclosed in this Report, the Group did not have any
other significant investments, acquisitions and disposal of
assets during the financial year under review.

Termination of Discloseable Transaction

After amicable discussion and careful consideration of all the
circumstances surrounding the acquisition regarding 51% of the
issued share capital of MSC (Hong Kong) Limited, the Group
and other parties decided not to proceed with the acquisition.

Relationship with Employees and Key Shareholders

As at 31 December 2019, the Group had approximately 106
employees. Salaries of employees remained at competitive
levels and are reviewed annually, with close reference to the
relevant labour market and economic situations. Remuneration
of the Directors is determined based on a variety of factors
such as market conditions and the specific responsibilities of
the individual Directors. Apart from the basic remuneration and
benefits required by law, the Group also provides discretionary
bonuses based on its results and the performance of the
individual employee. The Group also has an employee share
option scheme in place. Total remuneration costs, including
Directors’ remuneration, for the year ended 31 December 2019
were RMB12.6 million (2018: RMB13.9 million). During the
year, the Group organised professional and vocational training
for its employees. The Directors believe that the Group has
maintained cordial and professional relations with its employees.
In addition, the Group understands that in order to achieve its
long-term goals, it is important to maintain a good relationship
with business partners, shareholders, investors and bankers.
Thus, the Group has formulated an investor relations scheme
to help foster a close relationship with its shareholders and
investors. Specific activities are organised from time to time to
communicate with and rally for support of key stakeholders.
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Corporate Governance Report

LR ARE

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board of Directors of the Company (the “Board”) is pleased
to present the Corporate Governance Report in the Group’s
annual report for the year ended 31 December 2019.

The Board was committed to achieving high corporate
governance standards.

The Company’s corporate governance practices are based on
the principles and code provisions as set out in the Corporate
Governance Code (the “CG Code”) contained in Appendix 14
to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) (the
“Listing Rules”).

The Board believes that high corporate governance standards
are essential in providing a framework for the Group to
safeguard the interests of shareholders (the “Shareholders”),
enhance corporate value, formulate its business strategies and
policies, and enhance its transparency and accountability.

In the opinion of the Directors, throughout the year ended
31 December 2019, the Company has complied with all
applicable code provisions of the CG Code, except for CG
Code provisions A.1.1, A.2.1 and E.1.2, which provides that
regular Board meetings should be held at least four times a
year at approximately quarterly intervals with active participation
of majority of directors, either in person or through electronic
means of communication, the roles of Chairman and Chief
Executive Officer should be separate and should not be
performed by the same individual and the Chairman of the
Board should attend the annual general meeting, details of
which are set out in the sections headed “Attendance Records
of Directors”, “Board of Directors” and “Communication with
Shareholders and Investors” of this Corporate Governance
Report.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted its own code of conduct regarding
Directors’ dealings in the Company’s securities (the “Company’s
Securities Dealing Code”) on terms no less exacting than the
Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed
Issuers (the “Model Code”) as set out in Appendix 10 to the
Listing Rules.

Specific enquiry has been made of all the Directors and the
Directors have confirmed that they have complied with the
Company’s Securities Dealing Code throughout the year ended
31 December 2019.
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The Company’s Securities Dealing Code, no less exacting than
the Model Code, for securities transactions also applies to all
employees who are likely to be in possession of unpublished
price sensitive information of the Company. No incident of non-
compliance of the Company’s Securities Dealing Code by the
employees was noted by the Company.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board oversees the Group’s businesses, strategic decisions
and performance and should take decisions objectively in the
best interests of the Company.

The Board should regularly review the contribution required
from a Director to perform his responsibilities to the Company,
and whether the Director is spending sufficient time performing
them.

Board Composition

The Board currently comprises five members including one
Executive Director, one Non-executive Director and three
Independent Non-executive Directors:

Executive Director:
Mr. Jiang Xin, Chairman, Chief Executive Officer and member of
the Nomination Committee and Remuneration Committee

Non-executive Director:
Mr. Fan Yajun

Independent Non-executive Directors:

Mr. Lai Wing Lee, chairman of the Nomination Committee
and Remuneration Committee and member of the Audit
Committee

Mr. Leung Shu Sun, Sunny, chairman of the Audit Committee
and member of the Nomination Committee and Remuneration
Committee

Professor Wang Guozhen, member of the Audit Committee,
Nomination Committee and Remuneration Committee

The biographical information of the Directors are set out in the
section headed “Directors and Senior Management” on pages
27 to 30 of the annual report for the year ended 31 December
2019. None of the members of the Board is related to one
another.
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Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Code provision A.2.1 stipulates that the roles of Chairman and
Chief Executive Officer should be separated and should not be
performed by the same individual.

The Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of the Company
are held by Mr. Jiang Xin since 15 September 2017. The
Board believes that Mr. Jiang Xin has the requisite experience
and knowledge and that vesting in both roles would maintain
efficient business operation which is in the best interest of the
Group.

Independent Non-executive Directors

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Board at all
times met the requirements of the Listing Rules relating to
the appointment of at least three Independent Non-executive
Directors representing at least one-third of the Board with one
of whom possessing appropriate professional qualifications or
accounting or related financial management expertise.

The Company has received written annual confirmation from
each of the Independent Non-executive Directors in respect
of his independence in accordance with the independence
guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The
Company is of the view that all Independent Non-executive
Directors are independent.

Appointment and Re-election of Directors

The Non-executive Director of the Company has entered into a
service contract with the Company which is renewable from year
to year until terminated by either party with 3 months’ notice
in writing served on the other side. Each of the Independent
Non-executive Directors of the Company is appointed under a
letter of appointment which is terminable by either party with 3
months’ notice in writing served on the other side.

Under the Articles of Association of the Company, at each
annual general meeting, one-third of the Directors for the time
being, or if their number is not three or a multiple of three, the
number nearest to but not less than one-third shall retire from
office by rotation provided that every Director, including those
appointed for a specific term, shall be subject to retirement by
rotation at least once every three years. The retiring Directors
shall be eligible for re-election.

EFRRATRAR

STRIMESCEA 2 RATHR - & RITHAR
RACETES  TRAR - AEE-

B-Z—tFhATHBER  BELEEE
EARREIERITRER - EFZSHER
BREABMAE AR NAE - MRER
IMEALKREEREAERERF &
SBZ &EMNE -

BYFIITES

BE_ZT-NFT-_A=T—HLFE"
i%ﬁ—EL#imﬁWEﬁ%EEQE
%ﬁi%ﬂﬁi%lﬁﬁ%AA%iyz

D~ MEP-—BBEIIFRTEEAR
BEEEXERA S HEBMBEERSR
RABERE o

NS

AT BWEISBIIIERTESRELT
L UERCIR e 3ok AVA C =L= 1 b= % AV
BHNTFEBRRE - AQRRAE 288
NIERITESHEBR

ZERERES

RRBFERTERDHARRRLRE A
A iiT%ﬁ% BEEEA—TTRAR—
FERE=ZEAEMAEMALIL - ARAEE
VHHTESFORBREERRME X

REARERN-—TRAS—HEL=EADN
EEBATIALL -
REBEARNFMABERRZAR  RNEEHRERE

FREL ERARB=SZ—HNESR (W
EEABWF==EH  AARRE
MERPR=Zn2 —WEZEAR) BWmE
BE - EAAEF (BEREEEEHANE
R)ARLB=FHRELE X BREE
EREREREE-



Annual Report 2019
“E-NEFEFR

Corporate Governance Report

Responsibilities, Accountabilities and Contributions of the
Board and Management

The Board should assume responsibility for leadership and
control of the Company and is collectively responsible for
directing and supervising the Company’s affairs.

The Board directly, and indirectly through its committees,
leads and provides direction to management by laying down
strategies and overseeing their implementation, monitors the
Group’s operational and financial performance, and ensures
that sound internal control and risk management systems are in
place.

All Directors, including Non-executive Director and Independent
Non-executive Directors, have brought a wide spectrum of
valuable business experience, knowledge and professionalism
to the Board for its efficient and effective functioning.

The Independent Non-executive Directors are responsible for
ensuring a high standard of regulatory reporting of the Company
and providing a balance in the Board for bringing effective
independent judgement on corporate actions and operations.

All Directors have full and timely access to all the information
of the Company and may, upon request, seek independent
professional advice in appropriate circumstances at the
Company’s expenses for discharging their duties to the
Company.

The Directors shall disclose to the Company details of other
offices held by them and the Board regularly reviews the
contribution required from each Director to perform his
responsibility to the Company.

The Board reserves for its decision all major matters relating to
policy matters, strategies and budgets, internal control and risk
management, material transactions (in particular those that may
involve conflict of interests), financial information, appointment
of Directors and other significant operational matters of the
Company. Responsibilities relating to implementing decisions
of the Board, directing and co-ordinating the daily operation
and management of the Company are delegated to the
management.

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance coverage on
Directors’ and officers’ liabilities in respect of any legal actions
taken against Directors and senior management arising out of
corporate activities. The insurance coverage would be reviewed
on an annual basis.
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Continuous Professional Development of Directors

The existing Directors are continually updated with the legal and
regulatory developments, the market changes and the business
activities and development of the Company to ensure that their
contribution to the Board remains informed and relevant.

Every newly appointed Director has received formal,
comprehensive and tailored induction on the first occasion of
his/her appointment to ensure appropriate understanding of the
business and operations of the Company and full awareness
of Director’s responsibilities and obligations under the Listing
Rules and relevant statutory requirements. Such induction shall
be supplemented by visits to the Company’s key plant sites and
meetings with senior management of the Company.

Directors should participate in appropriate continuous
professional development to develop and refresh their
knowledge and skills. Internally-facilitated briefings for Directors
would be arranged and reading materials on relevant topics
would be provided to Directors where appropriate. All Directors
are encouraged to attend relevant training courses at the
Company’s expenses.
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The record of continuous professional development relating
to Director’s duties and regulatory and business development
that have been received by the Directors for the year ended 31
December 2019 are summarized as follows:

Directors BE=

Executive Director HITEE

Mr. Jiang Xin BErE
Non-executive Director HHITEE

Mr. Fan Yajun SBIRE LA
Independent Non-executive Directors BUINTEF
Mr. Lai Wing Lee FEKF S A
Mr. Leung Shu Sun, Sunny PR
Professor Wang Guozhen FEEZHE

Note:
Types of Training

A: Attending training sessions, including but not limited to, briefings,
seminars, conferences and workshops

B: Reading relevant news alerts, newspapers, journals, magazines
and relevant publications

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three committees, namely, the Audit
Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee, for overseeing particular aspects of the Company’s
affairs. All Board committees of the Company are established
with specific written terms of reference which deal clearly with
their authority and duties. The terms of reference of the Board
committees are posted on the Company’s website and the
Stock Exchange’s website and are available to Shareholders
upon request.

The list of the chairman and members of each Board committee
is set out under “Board of Directors” on page 11 of this
Corporate Governance Report.

T EEABE

BE_Z-NFT_A=T—HLFE"
EECHEAHEZREUREBTRER
EROFEZSFERCEMBMT -

Type of Training "o
xR

B
B
A&B
A&B
A&B
Bia -
pre[Eoepad]

Al Z2NEBIIRE BRETRARERE -
Mg FFLRITES

B: BIEMRBIAEIRA - WA - BT MR
Ko AR B H R )

EFZRE

i%AE“**ﬂééé' DhRERE
Bg FMEZEEeMERZES  UEER
$®7Rﬁkmﬁ BETS - TAARAE
%?E@mﬁiﬂﬁiﬁﬁmﬁﬁﬁﬁ

B BRINESRZESNENLEE - A
%i%%E@%FMIM§ﬂEﬂﬂﬂ$

N A Ak % B A% P AR ik I AU BR R SR AT it
&BH -

2N EFERKBREFEN AL
MENIEZEEIA-

15



16

Pan Asia Environmental Protection Group Limited
RERREEBRAAE

Corporate Governance Report
TEERRE

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee consists of three members, including three
Independent Non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Lai Wing Lee,
Mr. Leung Shu Sun, Sunny and Professor Wang Guozhen. Mr.
Leung Shu Sun, Sunny is the chairman of the Audit Committee.

The terms of reference of the Audit Committee are of no less
exacting terms than those set out in the CG Code.

The main duties of the Audit Committee are to assist the Board
in reviewing the financial information and reporting process,
risk management and internal control systems, effectiveness
of the internal audit function, scope of audit and appointment
of external auditor, and arrangements to enable employees of
the Company to raise concerns about possible improprieties
in financial reporting, internal control or other matters of the
Company.

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Audit Committee
held two meetings to review the annual financial results and
reports in respect of the year ended 31 December 2018 and
the interim financial results and reports for the period ended
30 June 2019 and significant issues on the financial reporting,
operational and compliance controls, the effectiveness of the
risk management and internal control systems and internal audit
function, appointment of external auditor, engagement of non-
audit services and relevant scope of works, amendments of the
terms of reference in light of the amendments to the Corporate
Governance Code and arrangements for employees to raise
concerns about possible improprieties.

The Audit Committee also met the external auditor twice without
the presence of the Executive Director.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee consists of four members
including one Executive Director, namely Mr. Jiang Xin, and
three Independent Non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Lai
Wing Lee, Mr. Leung Shu Sun, Sunny and Professor Wang
Guozhen. Mr. Lai Wing Lee is the chairman of the Remuneration
Committee.

The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee are of
no less exacting terms than those set out in the CG Code.
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The primary functions of the Remuneration Committee include
reviewing and making recommendations to the Board on the
remuneration packages of individual executive Directors and
senior management, the remuneration policy and structure
for all Directors and senior management, and establishing
transparent procedures for developing such remuneration policy
and structure to ensure that no Director or any of his associates
will participate in deciding his own remuneration.

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Remuneration
Committee held one meeting to review and make
recommendation to the Board on the remuneration policy and
structure of the Company and the remuneration packages of the
executive Directors and senior management and other related
matters.

Details of the remuneration of the senior management by band
are set out in note 10 in the notes to the audited financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2019.

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee consists of four members, including
one Executive Director, namely Mr. Jiang Xin, and three
Independent Non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Lai Wing Lee,
Mr. Leung Shu Sun, Sunny and Professor Wang Guozhen. Mr.
Lai Wing Lee is the chairman of the Nomination Committee.

The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee are of no
less exacting terms than those set out in the CG Code.

The principal duties of the Nomination Committee include
reviewing the Board composition, developing and formulating
relevant procedures for the nomination and appointment of
Directors, making recommendations to the Board on the
appointment and succession planning of Directors, and
assessing the independence of Independent Non-executive
Directors.

In assessing the Board composition, the Nomination Committee
would take into account various aspects as well as factors
concerning Board diversity as set out in the Company’s Board
Diversity Policy. The Nomination Committee would discuss and
agree on measurable objectives for achieving diversity on the
Board, where necessary, and recommend them to the Board
for adoption.
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In identifying and selecting suitable candidates for directorships,
the Nomination Committee would consider the candidate’s
relevant criteria as set out in the Director Nomination Policy
that are necessary to complement the corporate strategy and
achieve Board diversity, where appropriate, before making
recommendation to the Board.

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Nomination
Committee held one meeting to review the structure, size
and composition of the Board and the independence of
the Independent Non-executive Directors, to consider the
qualifications of the retiring Directors standing for election at the
annual general meeting. The Nomination Committee considered
an appropriate balance of diversity perspectives of the Board is
maintained.

Board Diversity Policy

The Company has adopted a Board Diversity Policy on 31
December 2018 which sets out the approach to achieve
diversity of the Board. The Company recognizes and embraces
the benefits of having a diverse Board and sees increasing
diversity at the Board level as an essential element in
maintaining the Company’s competitive advantage.

Pursuant to the Board Diversity Policy, the Nomination
Committee will review annually the structure, size and
composition of the Board and where appropriate, make
recommendations on changes to the Board to complement the
Company’s corporate strategy and to ensure that the Board
maintains a balanced diverse profile. In relation to reviewing
and assessing the Board composition and the nomination of
Directors, the Nomination Committee is committed to diversity
at all levels and will consider a number of aspects, including but
not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background,
professional qualifications, skills, knowledge and regional and
industry experience.

The Company aims to maintain an appropriate balance of
diversity perspectives that are relevant to the Company’s
business growth and is also committed to ensuring that
recruitment and selection practices at all levels (from the Board
downwards) are appropriately structured so that a diverse range
of candidates are considered.

The Board will consider setting measurable objectives to
implement the Board Diversity Policy and review such objectives
from time to time to ensure their appropriateness and ascertain
the progress made towards achieving those objectives.
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At present, the Nomination Committee considered that the
Board is sufficiently diverse and the Board has not set any
measurable objectives.

The Nomination Committee will review the Board Diversity
Policy, as appropriate, to ensure its effectiveness.

Director Nomination Policy

The Board has delegated its responsibilities and authority for
selection and appointment of Directors to the Nomination
Committee of the Company.

The Company has adopted a Director Nomination Policy on
31 December 2018 which sets out the selection criteria and
process and the Board succession planning considerations
in relation to nomination and appointment of Directors of the
Company and aims to ensure that the Board has a balance of
skills, experience and diversity of perspectives appropriate to
the Company and the continuity of the Board and appropriate
leadership at Board level.

The Director Nomination Policy sets out the factors for
assessing the suitability and the potential contribution to the
Board of a proposed candidate, including but not limited to the
following:

° Character and integrity;

° Qualifications including professional qualifications, skills,
knowledge and experience that are relevant to the
Company’s business and corporate strategy;

o Diversity in all aspects, including but not limited to
gender, age (18 years or above), cultural and educational
background, ethnicity, professional experience, skKills,
knowledge and length of service;

o Requirements of Independent Non-executive Directors on
the Board and independence of the proposed Independent
Non-executive Directors in accordance with the Listing
Rules; and

° Commitment in respect of available time and relevant
interest to discharge duties as a member of the Board
and/or Board committee(s) of the Company.
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The Director Nomination Policy also sets out the procedures for
the selection and appointment of new Directors and re-election
of Directors at general meetings. During the year ended 31
December 2019, there was no change in the composition of the
Board.

The Nomination Committee will review the Director Nomination
Policy, as appropriate, to ensure its effectiveness.

Corporate Governance Functions

The Board is responsible for performing the functions set out in
the code provision D.3.1 of the CG Code.

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Board had
reviewed the Company’s corporate governance policies and
practices, training and continuous professional development of
Directors and senior management, the Company’s policies and
practices on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements,
the compliance of the Company’s Securities Dealing Code and
the Model Code, and the Company’s compliance with the CG
Code and disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.

ATTENDANCE RECORDS OF DIRECTORS

The attendance record of each Director at the Board and Board
Committee meetings and the general meetings of the Company
held during the year ended 31 December 2019 is set out in the
table below:
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Regular Board meetings should be held at least four times a
year involving active participation, either in person or through
electronic means of communication, of a majority of Directors.
During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Board held two
meetings with active participation of majority directors, either
in person or through electronic means of communication. The
Company does not announce its quarterly results and hence
not consider the holding of quarterly meetings as necessary.

Apart from regular Board meetings, the Chairman also held
meetings with Independent Non-executive Directors without the
presence of other Directors.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROLS

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for the risk
management and internal control systems and reviewing their
effectiveness. Such systems are designed to manage rather
than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives,
and can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance
against material misstatement or loss.

The Board has the overall responsibility for evaluating and
determining the nature and extent of the risks it is willing to
take in achieving the Company’s strategic objectives, and
establishing and maintaining appropriate and effective risk
management and internal control systems.

The Audit Committee assists the Board in leading the
management and overseeing their design, implementation and
monitoring of the risk management and internal control systems.

The Company has developed and adopted various risk
management procedures and guidelines with defined
authority for implementation by key business processes and
office functions, including project management, sales and
leasing, financial reporting, human resources and information
technology.

All divisions conducted internal control assessment regularly to
identify risks that potentially impact the business of the Group
and various aspects including key operational and financial
processes, regulatory compliance and information security. Self-
evaluation has been conducted annually to confirm that control
policies are properly complied with by each division.
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The management, in co-ordination with division heads,
assessed the likelihood of risk occurrence, provide treatment
plans, and monitor the risk management progress, and reported
to the Audit Committee and the Board on all findings and the
effectiveness of the systems.

The management has reported to the Board and the Audit
Committee on the effectiveness of the risk management and
internal control systems for the year ended 31 December 2019.

The Company has engaged external professional firm
for providing the internal audit function and performing
independent review of the adequacy and effectiveness of the
risk management and internal control systems. The internal
audit function examined key issues in relation to the accounting
practices and all material controls and provided its findings and
recommendations for improvement to the Audit Committee.

The Board, as supported by the Audit Committee as well as the
management report and the internal audit findings, reviewed
the risk management and internal control systems, including
the financial, operational and compliance controls, for the year
ended 31 December 2019, and considered that such systems
are effective and adequate. The annual review also covered
the financial reporting and internal audit function and staff
qualifications, experiences and relevant resources.

Arrangements are in place to facilitate employees of the
Company to raise, in confidence, concerns about possible
improprieties in financial reporting, internal control or other
matters of the Company.

The Company has developed its disclosure policy which
provides a general guide to the Company’s Directors, officers,
senior management and relevant employees in handling
confidential information, monitoring information disclosure and
responding to enquiries.

Control procedures have been implemented to ensure that
unauthorized access and use of inside information are strictly
prohibited.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY IN RESPECT OF
THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing
the financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31
December 2019.
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The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties
relating to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
upon the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.

The statement of the independent auditor of the Company
about their reporting responsibilities on the financial statements
is set out in the Independent Auditor’s Report on pages 44 to
51.

Where appropriate, a statement from the Audit Committee
explaining its recommendation regarding the selection,
appointment, resignation or dismissal of external auditors and
the reasons why the Board has taken a different view from that
of the Audit Committee.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

An analysis of the remuneration paid to the external auditor of
the Company, Messrs Ascenda Cachet CPA Limited, in respect
of audit services and non-audit services for the year ended 31
December 2019 is set out below:

Service Category BRFXER
Audit Services EZRE
Non-audit Services IEEZ RS

— Review of accounts for the period ended
30 June 2019

— Agreed upon procedures on preliminary results
announcement

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Board appoints Mr. Wan San Fai, Vincent as its Company
Secretary in accordance with the Company’s Articles of
Association and in compliance with the requirements of the
Listing Rules. Mr. Wan has complied with the professional
training requirement as set out in Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules
during the year ended 31 December 2019.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

The Company engages with Shareholders through various
communication channels and a Shareholders’ communication
policy is in place to ensure that Shareholders’ views and
concerns are appropriately addressed. The policy is regularly
reviewed to ensure its effectiveness.

The Company adopted the Dividend Policy on 31 December
2018. Depending on the financial conditions of the Company
and the Group and the conditions and factors as set out in the
Dividend Policy, dividends may be proposed and/or declared
by the Board for a financial year or period. Any final dividend
for a financial year will be subject to Shareholders’ approval
and any dividend unclaimed shall be forfeited and reverted to
the Company in accordance with the Company’s Articles of
Association.

To safeguard Shareholder interests and rights, separate
resolution should be proposed for each substantially separate
issue at general meetings, including the election of individual
Director. All resolutions put forward at general meetings will be
voted on by poll pursuant to the Listing Rules and poll results
will be posted on the websites of the Company and of the
Stock Exchange after each general meeting.

Convening an Extraordinary General Meeting by
Shareholders

Pursuant to Article 64 of the Articles of Association of the
Company, extraordinary general meetings may be convened
on the requisition of one or more Shareholders holding, at the
date of deposit of the requisition, not less than one tenth of the
paid up capital of the Company having the right of voting at
general meetings. Such requisition shall be made in writing to
the Directors or the Secretary for the purpose of requiring an
Extraordinary General Meeting to be called by the Directors for
the transaction of any business specified in such requisition. If
within twenty-one (21) days of such deposit the Directors do not
proceed to convene such meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself
(themselves) may do so in the same manner, and all reasonable
expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) shall be reimbursed to
the requisitionist(s) by the Company.
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Putting Forward Proposals at General Meetings

For proposal of a person for election as Director, pursuant
to Article 113 of the Articles of Association of the Company,
no person, other than a retiring Director, shall, unless
recommended by the Directors for election, be eligible for
election to the office of Director at any general meeting, unless
notice in writing of the intention to propose that person for
election as a Director and notice in writing by that person of
his willingness to be elected shall have been lodged at the
Company’s Head Office at Room 1101, 11/F, Tower One, Lippo
Centre, No. 89 Queensway, Hong Kong or at the Company’s
Registration Office at Tricor Investor Services Limited at Level
54, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong at
least seven (7) clear days before the date of the general meeting
and the period for lodgement of such notices shall commence
no earlier than the day after the despatch of the notice of the
general meeting appointed for such election and shall be at
least seven (7) clear days in length.

Shareholders who wish to put forward other proposals at
general meetings may follow the procedures in “Convening an
Extraordinary General Meeting by Shareholders” set out above
to convene an extraordinary general meeting for business
specified in the written requisition.

Putting Forward Enquiries to the Board

For putting forward any enquiries to the Board of the Company,
Shareholders may send written enquiries to the Company.
The Company will not normally deal with verbal or anonymous
enquiries.

Contact Details

Shareholders may send their enquiries or requests as mentioned
above to the following:

Address: Room 1101, 11/F, Tower One, Lippo Centre,
No. 89 Queensway, Hong Kong

(For the attention of the Board of Directors)
Fax: (852) 3747-8047

Email: info@paep.com.cn
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For the avoidance of doubt, Shareholder(s) must deposit
and send the original duly signed written requisition, notice
or statement, or enquiry (as the case may be) to the above
address, apart from other specified office of the Company,
if any, and provide their full name, contact details and
identification in order to give effect thereto. Shareholders’
information may be disclosed as required by law.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTORS

The Company considers that effective communication with
Shareholders is essential for enhancing investor relations and
investor understanding of the Group’s business performance
and strategies. The Company endeavours to maintain an on-
going dialogue with Shareholders and in particular, through
annual general meetings and other general meetings. At
the annual general meeting, Directors (or their delegates as
appropriate) are available to meet Shareholders and answer
their enquiries.

The Chairman of the Board was unable to attend the annual
general meeting held on 6 June 2019 due to a business trip. He
will use his best endeavours to attend all future shareholders’
meetings of the Company.

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Company has
not made any changes to its Articles of Association. An up to
date version of the Company’s Articles of Association is also
available on the Company’s website and the Stock Exchange’s
website.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Executive Director

Mr. Jiang Xin, aged 35, is the Chairman of the Board,
an Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer. He was
appointed as an Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer
of the Company in December 2016. He was also appointed as
the Chairman of the Company in September 2017. He is also
a member of the Nomination Committee and the Remuneration
Committee. He is currently the general manager of China Rare
Earth Holdings Limited (“China Rare Earth”) (Stock Code: 769)
(the shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange). He joined China Rare Earth in August 2008 and
was promoted to the present position of general manager in
August 2012. Mr. Jiang Xin obtained a bachelor’s degree in arts
majoring in international business, finance and economics from
University of Manchester in June 2006 and a bachelor’s degree
in arts majoring in business studies from University of Wales in
July 2008.

Non-Executive Director

Mr. Fan Yajun, aged 52, is a Non-executive Director. He
was appointed as an Executive Director in March 2007 and
was re-designated as a Non-executive Director on 12 April
2016. Mr. Fan has more than 20 years of experience in
business management. He joined the Group in July 2002
and has been responsible for the overall administration and
business management. He completed a Master of Business
Administration course at Southeast University in July 2004. For
the period between August 1999 and August 2005, he was an
executive director of China Rare Earth, the shares of which are
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.

EENEREEE

EFE
BITES

BEEE 355 BEFZEFR W
BENMTHEH - BN -_ZT—XF+_-A
BZERARRRMITEERITHAEE -
MR —_E—+FNAEZTAEARRRZE
e HRKAREZESRFMNEES L
RE - WBEREBLERAR AT ([F
I%jj>W%ﬁﬁ$'76®(H%ﬁﬁ*

RITERET) 2BREE - FRZFEZN
FNAMAFRBRBL TR-_ZF——FN
BEAZEE (BEE)  BHELEN-ZT
ERFAAEERTFARBREXELE
il - FIEBBREE - eBREE YR
EENFLAEBRBHATARBREELE
il + FIEHEME -

FHITES

JEEESEE 525 BIERTES -
RZETLF=-ABZERITES I
B/\\_g—/\imﬂﬂ—_ﬁﬂfﬂ%ihﬂﬁé
o BAEERERFZLETELR -
ﬁ\_?v_itﬂmkﬁﬁﬁ BEXR
SEZBEBTHREBER - BR_ZEZX
ME+ATKREAASIHERELTR
B-BR-ANAMNENAEZEZZZTRFN
RHBATRHB L (ERMOAB T ER
W) 28iTES -

27



28

Pan Asia Environmental Protection Group Limited
RERREEBRAAE

Directors and Senior Management
EERSREEE

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Lai Wing Lee, aged 80, has been appointed as an
Independent Non-executive Director since December 2007.
He is the chairman of the Nomination Committee and the
Remuneration Committee and also a member of the Audit
Committee. He has been the managing director of Shenzhen
Beishen Environmental Packaging Development Co., Limited,
which is mainly engaged in the sales and manufacture of EP
packaging products, since August 2005. He graduated from
the South China Institute of Technology (now known as South
China University of Technology) in 1965. He has over 30 years
of experience in enterprise management.

Mr. Leung Shu Sun, Sunny, aged 57, has been appointed as
an Independent Non-executive Director since December 2007.
He is the chairman of the Audit Committee and a member of
the Nomination Committee and the Remuneration Committee.
He has over 20 years’ working experience in, among others,
accounting, treasury management, budgeting and corporate
finance. He graduated from Hong Kong Polytechnic University
with a professional diploma in Accountancy and obtained a
master’s degree in business administration from the University
of South Australia. He is a fellow member of the Association
of Chartered Certified Accountants, an associate member
of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
and a member of Certified General Accountants’ Association
of Canada. From 2005 to 2007, he served as the financial
controller, qualified accountant and company secretary of
Xiwang Sugar Holdings Company Limited (now known as
Xiwang Property Holdings Company Limited) (Stock Code:
2088), the shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange. From 2001 to date, he has been a director
of a company providing accounting, tax and corporate finance
services. From 1999 to 2001, he held key financial position in
a listed company in Hong Kong. From 1998 to 1999, he was
a finance director of a company principally engaged in the
provision of network infrastructure solutions. From 1993 to
1998, he was the financial controller of a company principally
engaged in property investment, trading and securities. From
1987 to 1990, he worked in international accounting firms
handling audit, tax and accounting matters. Mr. Leung has been
an independent non-executive director of Xiwang Special Steel
Company Limited (Stock Code: 1266), the shares of which are
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange since February
2012. He was appointed as an independent non-executive
director of China Art Financial Holdings Limited (Stock Code:
1572), the shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange on 14 October 2016.
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Professor Wang Guozhen, aged 84, has been appointed as
an Independent Non-executive Director since December 2007.
He is a member of the Audit Committee, Nomination Committee
and Remuneration Committee. Since October 1980, Professor
Wang was the chairperson of the Environment Protection
Specialist Commission of the Chinese Society of Rare Earths
and he became a consultant afterwards. He was, from 1994
to 2005, a member of the Rare Earth Expert Group of China
State Planning and Development Commission, and the team
leader of the Industry Division. Professor Wang was appointed
as an expert of the Expert Group of the Association of China
Rare Earth Industry on 8 April 2014. He graduated from the
Department of Chemical Engineering of Tianjin University with a
major in physical chemistry of metals. He was an independent
director of the State-owned Gansu Rare Earth Group Co., Ltd.
from 2005 to December 2012. On 1 August 2012, Professor
Wang was appointed as an independent non-executive director
of China Rare Earth, the shares of which are listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange. From 1 December 2012 to 10
September 2015, he was appointed as an independent director
of Lianyungang Ligang Rare Earth Industrial Co., Ltd. From 26
January 2013 to 25 April 2019, Professor Wang was appointed
as an independent director of Shenghe Resources Holding Co.
Ltd (Stock Code: 600392), the shares of which are listed on the
Shanghai Stock Exchange. He was appointed as senior expert
consultant of rare earth projects of China Enfi Engineering
Corporation from 13 March 2015 to 28 February 2019. Since
December 2016, he was appointed as a honorary director of
the 6th Council of The Chinese Society of Rare Earths.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Wan San Fai, Vincent, aged 46, is the chief financial
officer and company secretary of the Company. He joined
the Group in March 2007 and is responsible for the corporate
finance function of the Group. He oversees matters relating
to financial administration, and compliance and reporting
obligations of the Group. Mr. Wan has more than 20 years’
experience in auditing, accounting and financial management.
Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Wan has worked for a company
listed on the Singapore Stock Exchange as its financial
controller from 2005 to 2007. Mr. Wan is a member of the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Mr. Wan holds
a Bachelor of Arts degree in Accountancy from the Hong Kong
Polytechnic University.

Mr. Shen Li, aged 36, is the chief investment officer of the
Company. He joined the Group in February 2019 and is
responsible for the investment activity of the Group. He worked
as a senior manager in an international accounting firm and
an international consulting company from 2006 to July 2017.
Mr. Shen obtained a Master of Business Administration from
Shanghai Jiao Tong University, and a bachelor's degree in
Administration from Shanghai International Studies University.
He is a Certified Practising Accountant (Australia). From 29
September 2017 to 31 January 2018, he was appointed as an
independent non-executive director of China Fordoo Holdings
Limited (Stock Code: 2399), the shares of which are listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. He is currently an
executive director of Shanghai Songshan Business Consulting
and Service Co., Ltd.

Mr. Cai Xijun, aged 51, is the general manager of Jiangsu
Pan Asia. He has more than 10 years of experience in sales
and project management. He joined the Group in 2000 and
is responsible for project management of EP projects. Before
joining the Group, he was office manager of Yixing Xinwei Group
Company Limited. He graduated from Hufu Middle School of
Yixing City.

Mr. Wu Dongping, aged 37, is the financial controller of
Jiangsu Pan Asia. He has about 10 years of experience in
financial management. He joined the Group in May 2014. Before
joining the Group, he was a finance manager of Yixing AGC
Ceramics Company Limited. He graduated from the Huaiyin
Institute of Technology, majoring in accountancy.
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The Board is pleased to present their annual report together
with the audited consolidated financial statements of the Group
for the year ended 31 December 2019.

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands and has
its principal place of business in the PRC at Baihe Industrial
Park, Xinjie Street, Yixing City, Jiangsu Province, the PRC and
has its principal place of business in Hong Kong at Room 1101,
11/F, Tower One, Lippo Centre, No. 89 Queensway,
Hong Kong.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Group is principally engaged in the sales of EP products
and equipment, as well as undertaking of EP construction
engineering services in the PRC.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A business review of the Group is set out in the section headed
“Management Discussion and Analysis” on pages 7 to 9 of this
annual report.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The information in respect of the major customers and suppliers
of the Group during the financial year is as follows:

The largest customer BAREF

Five largest customers in aggregate AAREF 5T
The largest supplier XA HIER
Five largest suppliers in aggregate RRMEmE LRt

None of the Directors, their close associates (as defined in
the Listing Rules) or any shareholders of the Company (which
to the knowledge of the Directors owned more than 5% of
the Company’s share capital) had a beneficial interest in the
Group’s five largest customers and suppliers.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The results of the Group for the financial year ended 31
December 2019 and the state of the Company’s and the
Group’s affairs as at that date are set out in the financial
statements on pages 52 to 171.

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend
for the year ended 31 December 2019 (2018: Nil) as the capital
will be reserved for the development of the Group’s business
operations.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Loss attributable to equity holders of the Company of
RMB58,624,000 (2018: RMB19,357,000) have been transferred
to reserves. Other movements in reserves are set out in note 25
to the financial statements.

As at 31 December 2019, the distributable reserve of the
Company amounted to approximately RMB564,732,000 (2018:
RMB581,242,000).

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the financial year are set out in note 13 to the
financial statements.

CORPORATE BONDS

Details of movements in corporate bonds issued by the
Company during the year are set out in note 21 to the financial
statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in share capital of the Company
during the financial year are set out in note 24 to the financial
statements.

GEARING RATIO

As at 31 December 2019, the gearing ratio of the Group, based
on total borrowings (including corporate bonds) to the equity
(including all capital and reserves) was 4.3% (2018: 4.0%).
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DIRECTORS
The Directors during the financial year were:

Executive Director
Mr. Jiang Xin (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)

Non-executive Director
Mr. Fan Yajun

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Lai Wing Lee

Mr. Leung Shu Sun, Sunny

Professor Wang Guozhen

Mr. Jiang Xin and Mr. Lai Wing Lee shall retire from the offices
as Executive Director and Independent Non-executive Director
respectively at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting in
accordance with article 108(A) of the Articles of Association.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE

The Company has received from each of the Independent Non-
executive Directors an annual confirmation of independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and considers all the
Independent Non-executive Directors to be independent.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

No Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming Annual
General Meeting has an unexpired service contract which is not
determinable by the Company or any of its subsidiaries within
one year without payment of compensation, other than normal
statutory obligations.

DIRECTORS’ PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Under the Company’s Articles of Association, every Director or
officer of the Company acting in relation to any of the affairs of
the Company shall be indemnified and secured harmless out
of the assets and profits of the Company from and against all
actions, costs and damages which he may incur or sustain in
the execution of the duties of his office or otherwise in relation
thereto. Such provision is in force during the year under review
and as of the date of this annual report.
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DIRECTORS’/CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS’
INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save for the information disclosed in “Material Related Party
Transactions” in note 28 to the financial statements, no
transaction, arrangement or contract of significance in which a
Director or an entity connected with a Director had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted during or at
the end of 2019, and there was no contract of significance
between the Company or a subsidiary of the Company with the
controlling shareholder or any of its subsidiaries during the year
under review.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiary purchased, sold
or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the
year ended 31 December 2019.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of the Directors as at the
date of this annual report, the Company has maintained the
prescribed public float under the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR ITS
ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

As at 31 December 2019, the interests and short positions
of the Directors and chief executive of the Company in the
shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company or its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of
Hong Kong) (the “SFO”) which were required (a) to be notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions
7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short
positions which they were taken or deemed to have under such
provisions of the SFO); or (b) to be recorded in the register of
interests required to be maintained by the Company pursuant
to section 352 of the SFO; or (c) as otherwise notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code
were as follows:
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Interests in shares and underlying shares of the Company
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RAEQTRMDKABERG 2 EHE

Approximate

Equity percentage
derivatives of issued
Number of (share option) share capital
Name of Director Nature of interest shares held BRALTETR HEBITRE
Bx=psg ERME BFERGEAR (BR#E) ZBRBEDL
(Note 1) (Notes 1 and 3)
(Hzt1) (Biat1k3)
Mr. Jiang Xin Interest of controlled 356,568,000 (L) 42.45%
BEkE corporation (Note 2)
EEEEE S (Krit2)
266,568,000 (S) 31.73%
Beneficial interest 2,000,000 (L) 0.24%
EaEn
Mr. Fan Yajun Beneficial interest 2,500,000 (L) 0.3%
BLERAE EnlEn
Mr. Lai Wing Lee Beneficial interest 500,000 (L) 0.06%
FEK A BERER
Mr. Leung Shu Sun, Sunny Beneficial interest 500,000 (L) 0.06%
R LS Emgn
Professor Wang Guozhen Beneficial interest 500,000 (L) 0.06%
TEZHE Emgn
Notes: o

1.

The letter “L” denotes the Director’s long position in the shares/
underlying shares. The letter “S” denotes the person’s short
position in the shares/underlying shares.

These 356,568,000 shares were registered in the name of and
beneficially owned by Praise Fortune Limited (“Praise Fortune”).
The total number of issued shares in Praise Fortune as at 31
December 2019 was 601 shares of US$1 each. Mr. Jiang Xin held
361 shares being approximately 60.07% in Praise Fortune and
was deemed to be interested in the Shares held by Praise Fortune
under the SFO.

These interests represent the interests in underlying shares
in respect of share options granted by the Company to these
Directors as beneficial owners, the details of which are set out in
the Share Option Scheme section stated below.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2019, so far as
was known to any Director or chief executive of the Company,
neither the Directors nor the chief executive had any interests or
short positions in any shares, underlying shares or debentures
of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO).
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2.  #%%356,568,0000% %17 LAPraise Fortune
Limited (FPrause Fortune]) Z%%i;ﬂj’l
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6018 - FRMEE1EL - BELEHSE
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company adopted a share option scheme (the “Share
Option Scheme”), details of which are set out in note 26 to the
financial statements. Details of the share options granted under
the Share Option Scheme and their movements during the year
ended 31 December 2019 were as follows:

Directors

£

PRELE
Mr. Fan Yajun

BAMEE
Mr. Lai Wing Lee

A Fiita
Mr. Leung Shu Sun, Sunny

TEVHE
Professor Wang Guozhen

RHERES
Continuous contract
employees

agt
Total

Date of
Grant
REAH

11/6/2012

11/6/2012

11/6/2012

11/6/2012

11/6/2012

Exercise
Price
per
share
(51
(g3
HKS
BT

0.83

0.83

0.83

0.83

0.83

Vesting
Period
GRS

11/6/2012 &
to
10/6/2013

11/6/2012 2
to
10/6/2013

11/6/2012 2
to
10/6/2013

11/6/2012 &
to
10/6/2013

11/6/2012 &
to
10/6/2013

Exercise
Period

s

11/6/2013 2
to
10/6/2022

11/6/2013 2
to
10/6/2022

11/6/2013 &
to
10/6/2022

11/6/2013
to
10/6/2022

11/6/2013 2
to
10/6/2022

Ris B #E 5T &Y

AR FRA—E AR B ([ 98 AR Rt
B)) - BRI M BBENIE26 - R
BRHE T BIIR I 2 RRARE Y BEI R A BE =
T-AET-AS+—BILERZZBN

™
Number of Share Options
BREZA

Exercised/
Cancelled/ Balance
Balance Lapsed as at
as at during  31/12/2019
1/1/2019  Granted the year R®
R® during RER  —B-1E
ZE-NE  theyear B/ TR
-A-H RER BH#/ =t-H
A 3 ERi BAN Zi8
2,500,000 - - 2,500,000
500,000 - - 500,000
500,000 - - 500,000
500,000 - - 500,000
4,000,000 - - 4,000,000
28,500,000 - - 28,500,000
32,500,000 - - 32,500,000




DIRECTORS’ RIGHT TO ACQUIRE SHARES AND
DEBENTURES

Other than the Share Option Scheme disclosed above, at no
time during the year was the Company or any of its holding
company, subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries a party to any
arrangements to enable the Directors to acquire benefits
by means of acquisition of shares in or debentures of, the
Company or any other body corporate.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save for the Share Option Scheme disclosed above, no equity-
linked agreements were entered into by the Company, or
existed during the year under review.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY

So far as was known to the Directors and chief executive of
the Company, as at 31 December 2019, the following persons
(other than the Directors or chief executive of the Company)
had interests or short positions in the shares or underlying
shares of the Company which would fail to be disclosed to the
Company pursuant to Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO
or as recorded in the register of interests required to be kept by
the Company under section 336 of the SFO:

Interests in the shares and underlying shares of the
Company

Name Nature of interest

&R BiEME

Praise Fortune Limited (Note 2)
(Hat2)

Caitong International Asset
Management Co., Limited (Note 3)
MRAREEEEBRAR (#i23)

Caitong Securities Co., Limited
(Note 4)

MREFBRDBRAR (Hite)

Ministry of Finance of Zhejiang
Province, the PRC (Note 4)
hE ARSI BB (fF4)

Beneficial interest
Enkn

Investment manager
REKE

Security interest

REER

Interest of controlled corporation
REHEEES

Security interest
REER
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Approximate

Equity percentage of
derivatives issued share
Number of (share option) capital
shares held BALTETAR HERTRE
FRRAHE (BERE) ZBREH
(Note 1) (Note 1)
(Hizt1) (Hit1)
356,568,000 (L) 42.45%
266,568,000 (S) 31.73%
250,000,000 (L) 29.76%
266,568,000 (L) 31.73%
250,000,000 (L) 29.76%
266,568,000 (L) 31.73%
250,000,000 (L) 29.76%

Interest of controlled corporation
REtEEES
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Notes:

1. The Letter “L” denotes the person’s long position in the shares/
underlying shares. The Letter “S” denotes the person’s short
position in the shares/underlying shares.

2. The long position in 356,568,000 shares and short position in
266,568,000 shares were beneficially owned by Mr. Jiang Xin, the
Chairman, the Chief Executive Officer and an Executive Director
of the Company and Ms. Qian Yuanying. Mr. Jiang Xin holds 361
shares in Praise Fortune, representing approximately 60.07% in
its issued share capital and Ms. Qian Yuanying holds 240 shares
in Praise Fortune, representing approximately 39.93% in its issued
share capital. Ms. Qian Yuanying is the mother of Mr. Jiang Xin.
Mr. Jiang Quanlong, the spouse of Ms. Qian Yuanying, was
deemed to have interest in the Company.

3. These 250,000,000 shares were beneficially owned by Caitong
Strategic SPC (formerly known as “Avenue Multi-Strategy Fund
SPC”) on behalf of CTI Environmental Protection Industrial Fund
SP (formerly known as “Avenue Multi-Strategy Fund Segregated
Portfolio 1”). Caitong International Asset Management Co., Limited
was interested in these 250,000,000 shares in the capacity of
investment manager.

4.  The 266,568,000 shares were beneficially owned by Caitong
Securities (Hong Kong) Co., Limited. Caitong Securities (Hong
Kong) Co., Limited is wholly owned by Caitong Securities Co.,
Limited which is owned as to 36.60% by Zhejiang Province
Financial Holdings Co., Ltd. Zhejiang Province Financial Holdings
Co., Ltd is wholly owned by Zhejiang Province Financial
Development Limited which is in turn wholly owned by Ministry
of Finance of Zhejiang Province, the PRC. Accordingly, Caitong
Securities Co., Limited, Zhejiang Province Financial Holdings
Co., Ltd, Zhejiang Province Financial Development Limited and
Ministry of Finance of Zhejiang Province, the PRC are deemed
to be interested in the same number of shares in which Caitong
Securities (Hong Kong) Co., Limited is interested under the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2019, the
Company has not been notified by any person (other than the
Directors or chief executive of the Company) who had interests
or short position in the shares or underlying shares of the
Company.
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MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts, other than the service contracts of the Directors
or any person engaged in the full-time employment of the
Company, concerning the management and administration
of the whole or any substantial part of the business of the
Company were entered into or existed during the year.

COMPETING BUSINESS INTERESTS OF
DIRECTORS

Non-Competition Undertaking

Under the restrictive covenants of a share purchase agreement
dated 1 December 2007 executed among (i) YY Holdings as
vendor, (i) Praise Fortune, Mr. Jiang Xin (current Director),
Mr. Jiang Quanlong (former Director), Ms. Qian Yuanying and
Mr. Jiang Lei (former Director) as covenantors, and (iii) the
Company as the purchaser, each of Praise Fortune, Mr. Jiang
Xin, Mr. Jiang Quanlong, Ms. Qian Yuanying, and Mr. Jiang Lei
(collectively the “Covenantors”) has undertaken that he/she/it
will not and shall procure his/her/its close associates will not:

(@) at any time disclose to any person, or himself/herself/
itself use for any purpose, and shall use his/her/its best
endeavours to prevent the publication or disclosure of, any
information concerning the business, accounts or finances
of any Group company, or any of its clients’, suppliers’
or customers’ transactions or affairs, which may, or may
have, come to his/her/its knowledge;

(b) at any time during which the Company is listed on
the Stock Exchange and for so long as each of the
Covenantors and their respective close associates
collectively hold, whether individually or taken together,
30% or more of the issued shares or is regarded as the
controlling shareholder(s) of the Company under the
Listing Rules or for a period of two years from the date of
the Listing, whichever is the longest period of time:

(i) directly or indirectly solicit, interfere with, employ or
endeavour to entice away from any Group company
with a view to competing with the Group any person
who, to his/her/its knowledge, is now, or has during
the 12 months preceding the date of the share
purchase agreement been, a client, customer,
supplier or employee of, or has been in the habit of
dealing with, any Group company;
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(i) at any time use the name or trading style of any
Group company, or any trademarks or logos or
device similar in appearance to any trademarks, in
the PRC, Hong Kong or any other part of the world,
or represent himself as carrying on or continuing
or being connected with any Group company or its
business for any purposes whatsoever; and/or

(i)  directly or indirectly carry on or be engaged or
concerned or interested in the businesses of (i)
the production of water treatment and flue gas
treatment and solid waste treatment equipment and
components and pipes; (i) the sale and installation
of water treatment and flue gas treatment and solid
waste treatment equipment and pipes; and (iii) the
contracting of water treatment and flue gas treatment
and solid waste treatment projects, being the current
principal businesses of the Group.

Each of the Covenantors has undertaken in favour of the
Company under the share purchase agreement to procure the
provision to the Company of all information necessary for the
enforcement of the above undertaking. Each of the Covenantors
further undertakes in favour of the Company to make a
statement in the annual report of the Company confirming
compliance by it and its affiliates with the terms of the non-
competition undertaking in the share purchase agreement.
The Company has received the confirmation in relation to
compliance by them and their affiliates with the terms of the
non-competition undertaking in the share purchase agreement
for the year ended 31 December 2019.

Each of the Covenantors has confirmed that he/she/it is not
currently engaged in any business, which directly or indirectly
competes or may compete with the Group’s business.
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Benxi Fanya Environmental Heat & Power Co., Ltd. (‘Benxi
Fanya”) is owned as to 49% by Asia Global Tech Group
Limited (‘AGT (HK)"), and as to 51% by Benxi (Asia) Thermal
Technology Company Limited (“Benxi Asia”) (beneficially owned
as to 90% and 10% by Ms. Qian Yuanying (the spouse of
Mr. Jiang Quanlong) and Mr. Fan Xinyang (son of Mr. Fan
Yajun)). AGT (HK) is beneficially owned as to 54%, 18%, 18%
and 10% by Ms. Qian Yuanying, Mr. Jiang Lei, Mr. Jiang Xin
(both of whom are sons of Mr. Jiang Quanlong) and Mr. Fan
Xinyang respectively. The permitted business scope on the
business licence of Benxi Fanya includes, among others, heat
supply, electricity generation, operation and construction of
pipeline. As at the date of this annual report, Benxi Fanya was
principally engaged in generating electricity and heat, and was
not engaged or interested in any businesses which compete
with the current principal businesses of the Group. Jiangsu
Tianyuan Technologies Limited (“Jiangsu Tianyuan”) is owned
by the associates of Mr. Fang Guohong, a former Executive
Director of the Company who resigned on 25 March 2009. The
permitted business scope on the business licence of Jiangsu
Tianyuan includes, among others, research and development
of denitrification EP equipment and technology, manufacture
of FGD EP equipment, desulphurization absorption tower
and flue glass flake anticorrosive material and denitrification
EP equipment. As at the date of this annual report, Jiangsu
Tianyuan was principally engaged in the business of producing
thermal insulation components, and was not engaged or
interested in any businesses which compete with the current
principal businesses of the Group. The permitted scope of
business of each of Benxi Fanya and Jiangsu Tianyuan is
relatively wide, but it is not unusual for a corporate entity
to provide for a broader scope of business in its corporate
documents to allow for flexibility. At present, neither Benxi
Fanya nor Jiangsu Tianyuan has any plan to vary their
respective business licences to exclude or alter the permitted
activities as set out therein.

Under the restrictive covenants of several service agreements
dated 1 December 2007 between the Company and each of the
Executive Directors, the Executive Directors gave undertakings
similar to the wordings stated in paragraph (b) above of the said
share purchase agreement.
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The Independent Non-executive Directors shall review, at least
on an annual basis, the compliance with the non-competition
undertaking by each of such persons on their existing or future
competing business and the Company shall disclose the result
of such review either through the annual report of the Company,
or by way of announcement to the public. The Independent
Non-executive Directors have reviewed and confirmed the
compliance by each of such persons with the non-competition
undertaking for the year ended 31 December 2019.

As the controlling shareholders namely, Praise Fortune, Mr.
Jiang Xin (current Director), Mr. Jiang Quanlong (former
Director), Ms. Qian Yuanying and Mr. Jiang Lei (former Director)
have given non-competition undertakings in favour of the
Company and none of them has interests in other businesses
that compete or are likely to compete with the business of
the Group, the management and operation of the operating
entities are independent from each other. The Directors are of
the view that the Group is capable of carrying on its business
independently of the controlling shareholders.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the
Company’s Articles of Association or the laws of the Cayman
Islands which would oblige the Company to offer new shares on
a pro-rata basis to its existing shareholders.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years is set out on page 172 of
the annual report.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT COSTS

The retirement schemes of the Company and its subsidiaries
are primarily in form of contributions to the Hong Kong
mandatory provident fund and China statutory public welfare
fund. Particulars of these retirement schemes are set out in
note 8 to the financial statements.

PROFESSIONAL TAX ADVICE RECOMMENDED

If the shareholders of the Company are unsure about the
taxation implications of purchasing, holding, disposing of,
dealing in, or the exercise of any rights in relation to the shares,
they are advised to consult an expert.
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ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND
PERFORMANCE

The Company is preparing the environmental, social and
governance report (the “ESG report”) for the year ended 31
December 2019 in accordance with the Environmental, Social
and Governance Reporting Guide of the Stock Exchange. The
Company will publish the ESG report on the Stock Exchange’s
website and the Company’s website as close as possible
to, and in any event no later than three months after, the
publication of the Company’s annual report of 2019.

CHANGES IN DIRECTORS’ INFORMATION

Pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules, the changes in
information on Directors are as follows:

Professor Wang Guozhen resigned as an independent director
of Shenghe Resources Holding Co., Ltd (Stock Code: 600392),
the shares of which are listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange,
with effect from 25 April 2019.

Save as disclosed above, during the period under review
and up to the date of this report, there is no other change in
information of Directors required to be disclosed pursuant to
Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2019 have been audited by Ascenda Cachet CPA
Limited. Ascenda Cachet CPA Limited will retire and, being
eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment. A resolution for
the re-appointment of Ascenda Cachet CPA Limited as auditor
of the Company will be proposed at the forthcoming Annual
General Meeting.

On behalf of the Board
Jiang Xin
Chairman

Hong Kong, 31 March 2020
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Ascenda CACFET

RIE IR IF

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE

MEMBERS OF PAN ASIA ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION
GROUP LIMITED

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Pan
Asia Environmental Protection Group Limited (the “Company”)
and its subsidiaries (hereinafter collectively referred to as the
“Group”) set out on pages 52 to 171, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December
2019, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of
changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows
for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including a summary of significant accounting
policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group
as at 31 December 2019, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (‘HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (‘HKICPA”) and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (‘the Code”), and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the
Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming
our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion
on these matters. Our description of how our audit addressed
the key audit matter identified in our audit in relation to the
impairment of the Group’s trade receivables is provided in that
context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements section of our report, including in relation to these
matters. Accordingly, our audit included the performance of
procedures designed to respond to our assessment of the
risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements. The results of our audit procedures, including the
procedures performed to address the matter below, provide the
basis for our audit opinion on the accompanying consolidated
financial statements.
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Impairment of the Group'’s trade receivables

BEXEENE S A RE

Refer to notes 2(g9)(i), 2(j) and 32(a) to the consolidated financial statements for the directors’ disclosures
of the related accounting policies, judgements and estimates and notes 16 and 31(b) to the consolidated

financial statements for further information.
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Key Audit Matter
ARFERER

The carrying amount of the Group’s trade receivables was
approximately RMB36,836,000 as at 31 December 2019, net of
impairment losses of approximately RMB49,597,000.

The assessment of impairment of trade receivables under the
expected credit loss (‘ECL”) model requires the application of
significant judgement and estimates by management. The ECL
on trade receivables are assessed individually for debtors which
are credit impaired and collectively using a provision matrix.

The Group performed the impairment assessment on trade
receivables under the ECL model as at 31 December 2019.
The Group provided net impairment loss on trade receivables
amounting to approximately RMB29,037,000 during the year
ended 31 December 2019.
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How our audit addressed the Key
Audit Matter
ERHEANERNAEEREFEREER

OQur procedures in relation to
management’s impairment assessment
on the Group’s trade receivables
included, among others, the followings:

° Understanding and testing the
design, implementation and
operating effectiveness of the
Group’s key controls over credit
control, debt collection and
impairment assessment under the
ECL model;

e Testing the information used
by management to develop the
provision matrix including ageing
analysis of trade receivables, on
a sample basis, by comparing
individual items in the analysis with
the relevant sales invoices;
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Impairment of the Group’s trade receivables (Continued)

BEEEKE S R RE (&)

Key Audit Matter
ARFERER

Based on the management’s assessment on the impairment
of trade receivables under the ECL model, the management
concluded that the impairment loss on trade receivables was
adequate as at 31 December 2019.
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How our audit addressed the Key
Audit Matter
ERBANERNAEEREFEREER

e Assessing the reasonableness of
management’s judgement and
estimates in determining impairment
loss on trade receivables as at 31
December 2019 by examining the
information used by management,
including review of management’s
identification of trade receivables
with credit impaired, testing
the accuracy of the historical
default data, evaluating whether
the historical loss rates are
appropriately adjusted based on
current economic conditions and
forward-looking information, and
examining the actual impairment
losses recorded during the current
year; and

e Checking settlement from
customers after the financial year-
end relating to the trade receivables
balance as at 31 December 2019,
on a sample basis.
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the annual report, but does not include the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is
materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements
or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears
to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have
performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement
of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We
have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give
a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the
HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
of the Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable,
matters related to going concern and using the going concern
basis of accounting unless the directors of the Company either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no
realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit
Committee in discharging their responsibilities for overseeing
the Group’s financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Qur objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error,
and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion solely
to you, as a body, in accordance with our agreed terms of
engagement, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for
the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions
of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial
statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement
of the consolidated financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations or the override of internal
control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant
to the audit in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of
the Group’s internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the directors.
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° Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of
the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue
as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention
in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions
are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the
date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as
a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

° Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding
the financial information of the entities or business
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for
the direction, supervision and performance of the group
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that
we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on
our independence and, where applicable, related safeguards.
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From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe
these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement director on the audit resulting in this
independent auditor’s report is Lai Wing Ip.

Ascenda Cachet CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong, 31 March 2020

Lai Wing Ip
Practising Certificate Number P0O7296
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Pan Asia Environmental Protection Group Limited

RERREBEFRATE

Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

SEEsRkEMEERS

For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE_ZT—hhF+-_A=1+—HIEFE

Continuing operations:
Revenue
Cost of sales

Gross profit

Other income

Other net loss

Gain on disposal of a subsidiary

Impairment loss on property, plant and
equipment, and prepaid lease payments

Selling and distribution expenses

General and administrative expenses

Finance costs

Loss before taxation

Income tax expenses

Loss for the year from
continuing operations

Discontinued operation:
Loss for the period from
discontinued operation

Loss for the year attributable to
owners of the Company

Other comprehensive loss
for the year (after tax and
reclassification adjustments)
ltem that will not be reclassified
to profit or loss:
— Exchange differences on translation
of financial statements
to presentation currency

Total comprehensive loss for the year

=

HREERY
L'ON
HEMRA

7

H bl

H At B 1858
HEMB AR 2 K

ME - BEREREAR
BNHEFRZBEER
HERDHFAX
—REITHFX

BEKA

BRRMER

IS B X

FARBRRES
RBCBER

ERIEEERY
HAREERIELE
E 3/

ELFREAAREFASR

FRARMZEGR
(REREEHR
STRE)

BTEEHHEE
Ra ZEH -
—BERBRRE

2HERELEZ
X ER

FARRAABREEAZE

attributable to owners of the Company E5ig#i#E

Note
(i

23(b)

2019 2018
—E-hE —ET-N\F
RMB’000 RMB’ 000
AR®TR ARET T
79,802 162,188
(76,261) (141,835)
3,541 20,353
3,941 2,865
(34,435) (7,473)

- 28,702

- (30,300)

(713) (702)
(25,412) (26,082)
(3,149) (1,600)
(56,227) (14,237)
(2,397) (3,116)
(58,624) (17,353)

- (2,004)

(58,624) (19,357)
(1,225) (1,802)
(59,849) (21,159)
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

Loss for the year attributable to
owners of the Company arises from:
- Continuing operations
- Discontinued operation

LOSS PER SHARE

Basic loss per share
- From continuing operations
- From discontinued operation

Diluted loss per share
- From continuing operations
- From discontinued operation

GERaREMEERER

For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE_ZT—hhF+-_A=+—HIEFE

2019 2018
ZE—-nE —E-N\F
Note RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000
MtE AR®TT ARETT
FAFIEBEAEERELT
BEZERER :
— RBECEEK (58,624) (17,353)
—BRIMEEER - (2,004)
(58,624) (19,357)
RMB cents RMB cents
AR#%S ARES
SREE 12
BREFEE
— RERBELEER (6.98) (2.06)
— REERIEEEK - (0.24)
(6.98) (2.30)
sREEEE
— REAREREER (6.98) (2.08)
— REBRIFEEEK - (0.24)
(6.98) (2.30)

The notes on pages 59 to 171 form part of these financial FEOBEEFIT1BEZWEBAT BHRE 2

statements.

— 815 -
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Pan Asia Environmental Protection Group Limited

o4 RERREBEFRATE

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

ra BRI &
As at 31 December 2019
RZE—NF+=-A=+—H

NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Property, plant and equipment
Right-of-use assets
Deferred tax assets

CURRENT ASSETS
Trade and other receivables
Cash and bank balances

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Trade and other payables
Corporate bonds
Lease liabilities
Tax payable

NET CURRENT ASSETS

TOTAL ASSETS LESS
CURRENT LIABILITIES

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Corporate bonds

NET ASSETS

JERENEE

ME - BB KRR
EREEE
RIEN TR E B

REHRE
FENE 5 I H b 5008
Re RIBITHER

REAR
ENE SR EMFRIR
REMES
HEAE
eI IR

REEERE

RERER
RBRE

EREBIER
RNAElESH

RESE

Note
(i

13
14
22(b)

16
17

18

21

20
22(a)

21

2019 2018
ZE—-hE —T-N\F
RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000
ARBFT ARET T
2,203 4,715

903 -

- 2,397

3,106 7,112
54,886 246,123
1,203,070 1,037,883
1,257,956 1,284,006
64,190 36,542
27,952 26,487
926 -

2,521 2,521
95,589 65,550
1,162,367 1,218,456
1,165,473 1,225,568
21,302 21,548
1,144,171 1,204,020
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

CAPITAL AND RESERVES B B 6 0
Share capital N
Reserves w1

TOTAL EQUITY EoWE

The consolidated financial statements on pages 52 to 171 were
approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on
31 March 2020 and were signed on its behalf by:

ma B AR R &
As at 31 December 2019
RZE—NEFE+=-A=+—H

2019 2018

ZE—-hE —ET-N\F

Note RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000
B aE ARBFT ARET T
24 78,073 78,073
25 1,066,098 1,125,947
1,144,171 1,204,020

REFER _T_FTF-_A=1+—HH#tE
KRRETEFE2EEENTIAZERA MK
BRLA FINESFKREE -

Jiang Xin wE Fan Yajun CEE
Director = Non-executive Director HFHITEE

The notes on pages 59 to 171 form part of these financial
statements.

FLOEEFITIAZMEBARBREKZ

— 815 -
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Pan Asia Environmental Protection Group Limited

RERREBEFRATE

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

S A 3L S
mAEREFHR
For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE_ZT—hhF+-_A=1+—HIEFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

FATREAE
Fair value
Enterprise Statutory Share reserve
Share Share Special  expansion surplus  Translation option (non- Retained
capital premium reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve recycling) profits Total
b | 43 ATEER
k% RhER L WEGRH BRER EREE  WMEBEGE (FUEHBL) REEH #R
RMB' 000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB' 000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’ 000 RMB'000
ARETT  ARETR  ARETT  ARETT  ARETT  ARETR  ARETT  ARETR  ARETT  ARETR
(Note2d)  Mote2si)  (Note2sfi]  Mote25)  MNole23()  (Nole25)  (Note25()) (Note 25(i)
(Hsko4)  (Roskos))  (Waeos(i)  (Rfsosy)  (Mfes(y)  (Waosy)  (RfsE2sw)  (BsE2s(i))
Asat 1 January 2018 RZF-N\
-A-H 78,073 466,844 94,225 71,492 80,765 (7,484) 14,949 (9,000) 435,315 1,225,179
Loss for the year FREE - - - - - - - - (19,357) (19,357)
Other comprehensive loss Eh2EEE
- Exchange differences - BEBHERE
on translation of 2yE8EE
financial statements to ZERER
presentation currency - - - - - (1,802) - - - (1,802)
Total comprehensive loss EREEBRLE
for the year - - - - - (1,802) - - (19,357) (21,159)
Transfer to retained profits ~~ REREANEER
upon lapse of share: ERBER
options - - - - - - (8,309) = 8,309 =
Release of reserves upon HERBARNEEDEE
disposal of subsidiaries - - - (70,189) (79,463) - - 9,000 140,652 -
As at 31 December 2018and ~ R=F—/\F
1 January 2019 TZA=t-Rk
“2-715-A-H 78,073 466,844 94,225 1,303 1,302 (9,286) 6,640 - 564,919 1,204,020
Loss for the year FREE - - - - - - - - (58,624) (58,624)
Other comprehensive loss Eth2EEE
- Exchange differences - BERHRRE
on translation of ZHIEREE
financial statements to JERER
presentation currency - - - - - (1,225) - - - (1,225)
Total comprehensive loss EMEEBELE
for the year - - - - - (1,225) - - (58,624) (59,849)
As at 31 December 2019 RZE-NF
+-p=t-A B0 466844 94,205 1,303 1,202 (10,511) 6,640 - 5625 11441471
The notes on pages 59 to 171 form part of these financial FEOEEFIT1 BT BAYEHREK 2

statements.

—H5 -
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
GERERER

For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE_ZT—hhF+-_A=+—HIEFE

2019 2018
—E2-hE —E-N\&F
Notes RMB’000 RMB’ 000
BisE AR®TTR ARETT
Operating activities BEED
Loss before taxation BRELRIE B
- from continuing operations — RERECEER (56,227) (14,237)
- from discontinued operation — REBKRIFEEERK 6 - (2,784)
(56,227) (17,021)
Adjustments for: AR
Amortisation of prepaid lease payments FENHERIE 2 & 5(c)&6 - 596
Depreciation of property, ) ERN e
plant and equipment ZIE 5(c)&6 2,523 6,953
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREBECITE 5(c) 1,531 =
Net impairment loss recognised/ B#R/(BR&E)
(reversed) on HEREFE 4
- trade receivables — EWE Z58 29,037 (1,385)
- other receivables — Hfth U5 IA 92 (3,522)
— contract assets - EREE 1,528 -
- prepayments —BAR 3,780 =
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HEMB AR as 23(b) - (28,702)
Impairment loss on property, plant W - BEREEAR
and equipment, and prepaid lease ARHEEFEL
payments BEER 5(c) - 30,300
Gain on disposal of property, plant HEME « BEREEAK
and equipment, and prepaid lease BNBERIE W=
payments 4 - (25)
Loss on write-off of property, plant and MEEME - BE REHZ
equipment 518 4 - 12,403
Government grants BUS 8 6 - 27)
Interest expenses FERX 5(b) 3,149 1,600
Interest income B WA 4 (3,941) (1,692)
Imputed interest on trade EEREER I EKES
receivables with extended credit terms FIEZEERE 4 - (1,067)
(18,528) (1,589)
Changes in working capital EERCER
Decrease in inventories FERL - 36,317
(Increase)/decrease in trade receivables FEWE B 3008 (), m (12,729) 401,645
Decrease in trade receivables BEREERZEKES
with extended credit terms TR - 80,600
Decrease in other receivables HoAt WK IE R A 9,529 38,881
Decrease in prepayments for consultation, B MBHERER
marketing and promotional services PRI TR FOR D - 1,650
Increase in trade and ERE S REMFUR
other payables #mn 27,649 8,082
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Pan Asia Environmental Protection Group Limited

RERREBEFRATE

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

= 2B
mEEERER
For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE_ZT—hhF+-_A=1+—HIEFE

Cash generated from operations

PRC Enterprises Income Tax paid

Net cash generated from
operating activities

Investing activities

Interest received

Payments for acquisition of property,
plant and equipment

Proceeds from disposal of
property, plant and equipment and
prepaid lease payments

Payment for incremental costs directly
attributable to disposal of property,
plant and equipment, and prepaid
lease payments

Net cash inflows from disposal of
subsidiaries

Net cash generated from
investing activities

Financing activities
Proceeds from issuance
of corporate bonds
Interests paid on the corporate bonds
Payment of lease liabilities

Net cash (used in)/generated from
financing activities

Net increase in cash and
cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at
beginning of the year

Effect of foreign exchange rate
changes, net

Cash and cash equivalents at
end of the year

Analysis of the balance of cash and
cash equivalents
Cash and bank balances

The notes on pages 59 to 171 form part of these financial

statements.

Note
iz

BEELEEEEZHS
BB ERER 22(a)

REEZDEEZ
HeR@

REEE
EWFILE
BENE - BERRETHR

HEME - BB REEAR
RN R EFEMEHE

HEME - BiERREAR
RN TR EFRIAIE N4
BERREERARR

RELERBAF 2
BERAFHE 23(a)&(b)
RETEHEEZ
B&s8

ﬂ?‘ﬂn
BORNRESFZ
FT{S 3R 21
AREEDNFE 21
EEHEaE 14

MRED (FRA) EEZ
BeRd

ReRERAREMA
BmBRH

FMZHER
FRAH&WE

SHEERERZ
12 341

FRZARR
F¥RAReNE

ReRERRERA
BESHW
R MRITHEER 17

—&bin

2019 2018
- —E-N\F
RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000
AR¥TT ARETT
5,921 565,586

- (237)

5,921 565,349
3,941 1,692

(7 (216)

160,000 30,000

- (5,840)

- 54,143

163,934 79,779

- 26,604

(2,941) (1,323)
(1,590) =
(4,531) 25,281
165,324 670,409
1,037,883 368,213
(137) (739)
1,203,070 1,037,883
1,203,070 1,037,883

FL9REFIT1 AZHEBAMBEHRR 2
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Notes to the Financial Statements

GENERAL INFORMATION

Pan Asia Environmental Protection Group Limited (the
“Company”) was incorporated as an exempted company
and registered in the Cayman Islands with limited liability
and its shares are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The addresses of
the registered office and principal place of business of
the Company are disclosed in the “Corporate Information”
section to this annual report.

The Company and its subsidiaries (together the “Group”)
are principally engaged in the sales of environmental
protection (“EP”) products and equipment, and
undertaking of EP construction engineering services in the
People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”), and investment
holding.

The Group’s manufacture and sales of EP construction
materials business was disposed of during the year ended
31 December 2018. Details of which are set out in notes 6
and 23(a).

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

a) Statement of compliance

These financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with all applicable Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”), which
collective term includes all applicable individual
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong
Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and
Interpretations issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”), accounting
principles generally accepted in Hong Kong and
the applicable disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (“CO”). These
financial statements also comply with the applicable
disclosure provisions of the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the
“Listing Rules”). Significant accounting policies
adopted by the Group are disclosed below.

The HKICPA has issued certain new and revised
HKFRSs that are first effective or available for
early adoption for the current accounting period
of the Group. Note 3 provides information on any
changes in accounting policies resulting from initial
application of these developments to the extent that
they are relevant to the Group for the current and
prior accounting periods reflected in these financial
statements.

Bt 755 R AR B

For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE_ZT—hhF+-_A=+—HIEFE

1. —REHR

RERREBBERAR ([ARA )R
SHEAMKLA—HERRERAT -
HEBEMNREBBBARXZMARAR (1B
Frl)Em e ARBZEMPERERERE
EEHWUBBERAFRIARER |-

#f o

AR REMBLRR (G ALE])EE
FEREARKME (THE ] EERFRE
(MRRDEMERBIEE - WARRRF
BRIRERE KB ER -

AEBZEENMHERREEMBEBHR
HE-Z—-)/\F+-ZA=+—HILFEL
& - AR IRHNHIE6 K23 °

2. FEETEE
a) STHREH

HEMBRRCIRBEEEEF
mrg ([BEEGMAg])
Bz B ERE B HRE
ER(TBBMBHRELER )
(L heRmEEm B E
BB mEEL  BEGIE
Al ([EAGTEA]) kB
R BAELBRMETR
A XERNESL R RHED (T2
AR ) 2 ER B RE MR
o L EPBHRIMETHR
P £ R AN (T LA D)
ZERBEBRHRE o NEERA
ZEBGFBOREENT ©

TR ASERMETH
AIREER B M B mEE
8] - HRAEE 2 NE5tHIE
BRERH A IR R R -
ARE T ARBREAZSE
BHRMEBH U EMHERERA
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Pan Asia Environmental Protection Group Limited
RERREEBRAAE

Notes to the Financial Statements

B 5 R AR B

For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE_ZT—hhF+-_A=1+—HIEFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

b)

Basis of preparation of the financial statements

The consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 31 December 2019 comprise the Company
and its subsidiaries.

The measurement basis used in the preparation
of the financial statements is the historical cost
basis except for certain financial instruments, which
are stated at their fair value as explained in the
accounting policies set out below.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity
with HKFRSs requires management to make
judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect
the application of policies and reported amounts
of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. The
estimates and associated assumptions are based
on historical experience and various other factors
believed to be reasonable under the circumstances,
the results of which form the basis of making the
judgements about the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities that are not readily apparent from
other sources. Actual results may differ from these
estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are
reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to
accounting estimates are recognised in the period in
which the estimate is revised if the revision affects
only that period, or in the period of the revision and
future periods if the revision affects both current and
future periods.

Judgements made by management in the application
of HKFRSs that have a significant effect on the
financial statements and major sources of estimation
uncertainty are discussed in note 32.

2.

TESFEE ()

b)

MBRR2HEREE

HE-F-NF+-A=+—
BLEFEEARBRRDES
) ELT PNOPEE L
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BT $RaR 2 AR BT A 2 PR AR
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HEE AR -
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B RBRRY SRR &R
IEEREE  BfF KA
M Z S BEREE - %F
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BEERBEZBEATBEE
ZEZHEEMAZMEL B
REMKADHERBEEBEA K
REECEERABZREE
ZER - ERERTERIRN
ZEfhE o

ZE R RRERR R E
ERETIRE - HEFHEAHE
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SEFNARREE - RERE
&7 AR Bk SR B R
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Notes to the Financial Statements

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

c)

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The
Group controls an entity when it is exposed, or has
rights, to variable returns from its involvement with
the entity and has the ability to affect those returns
through its power over the entity. When assessing
whether the Group has power, only substantive
rights (held by the Group and other parties) are
considered.

An investment in a subsidiary is consolidated into
the consolidated financial statements from the date
that control commences until the date that control
ceases. Intra-group balances, transactions and cash
flows and any unrealised profits arising from intra-
group transactions are eliminated in full in preparing
the consolidated financial statements. Unrealised
losses resulting from intra-group transactions are
eliminated in the same way as unrealised gains
but only to the extent that there is no evidence of
impairment.

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in a
subsidiary not attributable directly or indirectly to the
Company, and in respect of which the Group has
not agreed any additional terms with the holders of
those interests which would result in the Group as a
whole having a contractual obligation in respect of
those interests that meets the definition of a financial
liability.

Non-controlling interests are presented in the
consolidated statement of financial position within
equity, separately from equity attributable to the
owners of the Company. Non-controlling interests in
the results of the Group are presented on the face of
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income as an allocation of the total
profit or loss and total comprehensive income for
the year between non-controlling interests and the
owners of the Company. Loans from holders of non-
controlling interests and other contractual obligations
towards these holders are presented as financial
liabilities in the consolidated statement of financial
position.

Bt 755 R AR B

For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE_ZT—hhF+-_A=+—HIEFE
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Pan Asia Environmental Protection Group Limited
RERREEBRAAE

Notes to the Financial Statements

B 5 R AR B

For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE_ZT—hhF+-_A=1+—HIEFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

c)

d)

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests
(Continued)

Changes in the Group’s interests in a subsidiary that
do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as
equity transactions, whereby adjustments are made
to the amounts of controlling and non-controlling
interests within consolidated equity to reflect the
change in relative interests, but no adjustments are
made to goodwill and no gain or loss is recognised.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, it is
accounted for as a disposal of the entire interest in
that subsidiary, with a resulting gain or loss being
recognised in profit or loss. Any interest retained in
that former subsidiary at the date when control is
lost is recognised at fair value and this amount is
regarded as the fair value on initial recognition of a
financial asset, or, when appropriate, the cost on
initial recognition of an investment in an associate or
a joint venture.

In the Company’s statement of financial position,
an investment in a subsidiary is stated at cost less
impairment losses (see note 2(g)(ii)), unless the
investment is classified as held for sale (or included
in a disposal group that is classified as held for sale).

Other investments in debt and equity securities

The Group’s policies for investments in debt
and equity securities, other than investments in
subsidiaries are set out below.

Investments in debt and equity securities are
recognised/derecognised on the date the Group
commits to purchase/sell the investment. The
investments are initially stated at fair value plus
directly attributable transaction costs, except for
those investments measured at fair value through
profit or loss (“FVPL”) for which transaction costs
are recognised directly in profit or loss. These
investments are subsequently accounted for as
follows, depending on their classification.

2.

EFEFEBUR (8)
o) MEAARFERES (H)

d)

AEBER—HNBARZ#EE
BE (WEEHREEHRE)
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BLormeabEs - FLEE
RSB RN B R R
RAREZHIEE BIDRERA
Ry NI OREROEE S PkE NS
ERER - Mz BHRRRY)
FHERCBEERN (WER)
ARBERRHAEEEZR
BETVZERBE ZRAZ R
FE-

FEARBF ISR RERE - R
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

d)

Other investments in debt and equity securities
(Continued)

Investments other than equity investments

Non-equity investments held by the Group are
classified into one of the following measurement
categories:

— amortised cost, if the investment is held for
the collection of contractual cash flows which
represent solely payments of principal and
interest. Interest income from the investment is
calculated using the effective interest method
(see note 2(r)(ii)).

— fair value through other comprehensive income
(“FVOCI”") - recycling, if the contractual cash
flows of the investment comprise solely
payments of principal and interest and the
investment is held within a business model
whose objective is achieved by both the
collection of contractual cash flows and
sale. Changes in fair value are recognised in
other comprehensive income, except for the
recognition in profit or loss of expected credit
losses, interest income (calculated using the
effective interest method) and foreign exchange
gains and losses. When the investment is
derecognised, the amount accumulated in other
comprehensive income is recycled from equity
to profit or loss.

- FVPL if the investment does not meet the
criteria for being measured at amortised cost
or FVOCI (recycling). Changes in the fair
value of the investment (including interest) are
recognised in profit or loss.

Bt 755 R AR B

For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE_ZT—hhF+-_A=+—HIEFE
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For the year ended 31 December 2019
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

d)

e)

Other investments in debt and equity securities
(Continued)

Equrty investments

An investment in equity securities is classified as
FVPL unless the equity investment is not held for
trading purposes and on initial recognition of the
investment the Group makes an election to designate
the investment at FVOCI (non-recycling) such that
subsequent changes in fair value are recognised in
other comprehensive income. Such elections are
made on an instrument-by-instrument basis, but may
only be made if the investment meets the definition
of equity from the issuer’s perspective. Where such
an election is made, the amount accumulated in
other comprehensive income remains in the fair
value reserve (non-recycling) until the investment
is disposed of. At the time of disposal, the amount
accumulated in the fair value reserve (non-recycling)
is transferred to retained profits. It is not recycled
through profit or loss.

Dividends from investments in equity securities,
irrespective of whether classified as at FVPL or
FVOCI, are recognised in profit or loss as other
income in accordance with the policy set out in note
2(r)(vii).

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment, other than
construction in progress, are stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position at
cost less any accumulated depreciation and any
accumulated impairment losses (see note 2(g)(ii)).

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of
items of property, plant and equipment, less their
estimated residual value, if any, using the straight-
line method over their estimated useful lives.
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“E-NEFEFR

Notes to the Financial Statements

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

e)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Over the shorter of the term
of the lease and 20 years

Buildings

Furniture, fixtures

and equipment 5 years
Leasehold improvements 1 year to 5 years
Motor vehicles 5 years
Machineries 10 years

Where parts of an item of property, plant and
equipment have different useful lives, the cost of the
item is allocated on a reasonable basis between the
parts and each part is depreciated separately. Both
the useful life of an asset and its residual value, if
any, are reviewed annually.

Gains or losses arising from the retirement or
disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment
are determined as the difference between the net
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the
item and are recognised in profit or loss on the date
of retirement or disposal.

Construction in progress represents property, plant
and equipment under construction and pending
installation and is stated at cost less accumulated
impairment losses (see note 2(g)(ii)), if any. Cost
includes the costs of construction of buildings, the
costs of machinery and equipment and interest
charges arising from borrowings used to finance
the acquisition of these assets during the period of
construction or installation and testing. No provision
for depreciation is made on construction in progress
until such time as the relevant assets are completed
and are available for their intended use. When the
assets concerned are ready for intended use, the
costs are transferred to other categories of property,
plant and equipment and depreciated in accordance
with the policy as stated above.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

B 5 R AR B

For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE_ZT—hhF+-_A=1+—HIEFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

f)

Leased assets

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses
whether the contract is, or contains, a lease. A
contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract
conveys the right to control the use of an
identified asset for a period of time in exchange
for consideration. Control is conveyed where the
customer has both the right to direct the use of the
identified asset and to obtain substantially all of the
economic benefits from that use.

As a lessee

(A)  Policy applicable from 1 January 2019

Where the contract contains lease
component(s) and non-lease component(s),
the Group has elected not to separate non-
lease components and accounts for each lease
component and any associated non-lease
components as a single lease component for
all leases.

At the lease commencement date, the Group
recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease
liability, except for short-term leases that have
a lease term of 12 months or less and leases
of low-value assets. When the Group enters
into a lease in respect of a low-value asset, the
Group decides whether to capitalise the lease
on a lease-by-lease basis. The lease payments
associated with those leases which are not
capitalised are recognised as an expense on a
systematic basis over the lease term.
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“E-NEFEFR

Notes to the Financial Statements

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

f) Leased assets (Continued)

As a lessee (Continued)

A)

Policy applicable from 1 January 2019
(Continued)

Where the lease is capitalised, the lease
liability is initially recognised at the present
value of the lease payments payable over the
lease term, discounted using the interest rate
implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot be
readily determined, using a relevant incremental
borrowing rate. After initial recognition, the
lease liability is measured at amortised cost
and interest expense is calculated using
the effective interest method. Variable lease
payments that do not depend on an index or
rate are not included in the measurement of the
lease liability and hence are charged to profit or
loss in the accounting period in which they are
incurred.

The right-of-use asset recognised when a
lease is capitalised is initially measured at
cost, which comprises the initial amount of
the lease liability plus any lease payments
made at or before the commencement date,
and any initial direct costs incurred. Where
applicable, the cost of the right-of-use assets
also includes an estimate of costs to dismantle
and remove the underlying asset or to restore
the underlying asset or the site on which it
is located, discounted to their present value,
less any lease incentives received. The right-
of-use asset is subsequently stated at cost
less accumulated depreciation and impairment
losses (see note 2(g)(ii).
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For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE_ZT—hhF+-_A=1+—HIEFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

f) Leased assets (Continued)

As a lessee (Continued)

A)

Policy applicable from 1 January 2019
(Continued)

The lease liability is remeasured when there
is a change in future lease payments arising
from a change in an index or rate, or there is a
change in the Group’s estimate of the amount
expected to be payable under a residual value
guarantee, or there is a change arising from
the reassessment of whether the Group will
be reasonably certain to exercise a purchase,
extension or termination option. When the
lease liability is remeasured in this way, a
corresponding adjustment is made to the
carrying amount of the right-of-use asset, or is
recorded in profit or loss if the carrying amount
of the right-of-use asset has been reduced to
zero.

The Group presents right-of-use assets and
lease liabilities separately in the consolidated
statement of financial position.
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For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE_ZT—hhF+-_A=+—HIEFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. FESHEX (&)
(Continued)
f)  Leased assets (Continued) ) HEEEE)
As a lessee (Continueqd) EREAA (18)
(B) Policy applicable prior to 1 January 2019 B R-ZE—-—ALF—H—H
AT 3 F B BR

In the comparative period, as a lessee the
Group classified leases as finance leases if the
leases transferred substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership to the Group. Leases
which did not transfer substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership to the Group were
classified as operating leases.

Where the Group had the use of assets held
under operating leases, payments made under
the leases were charged to profit or loss in
equal instalments over the accounting periods
covered by the lease term, except where an
alternative basis was more representative of
the pattern of benefits to be derived from the
leased asset. Lease incentives received were
recognised in profit or loss as an integral part
of the aggregate net lease payments made.
Contingent rentals were charged to profit or
loss in the accounting period in which they
were incurred.
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For the year ended 31 December 2019
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

g) Credit losses and impairment of assets

J

Cred/it losses from financial instruments and
contract assets

The Group recognises a loss allowance for
expected credit losses (“ECLs”) on the following
items:

— financial assets measured at amortised
cost (including cash and cash equivalents,
and trade and other receivables); and

- contract assets as defined in HKFRS 15
(see note 2(i)).

Financial assets measured at fair value,
including equity securities measured at FVPL,
equity securities designated at FVOCI (non-
recycling) and derivative financial assets, are
not subject to the ECL assessment.

Measurement of ECLs

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of
credit losses. Credit losses are measured as
the present value of all expected cash shortfalls
(i.e. the difference between the cash flows due
to the Group in accordance with the contract
and the cash flows that the Group expects to
receive).
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Notes to the Financial Statements

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

g) Credit losses and impairment of assets
(Continued)

J

Creadit /losses from financial instruments and
contract assets (Continued)

Measurement of ECLs (Continued)

The expected cash shortfalls are discounted
using the following discount rates where the
effect of discounting is material:

- fixed-rate financial assets, trade and
other receivables and contract assets:
effective interest rate determined at initial
recognition or an approximation thereof;
and

- variable-rate financial assets: current
effective interest rate.

The maximum period considered when
estimating ECLs is the maximum contractual
period over which the Group is exposed to
credit risk.

In measuring ECLs, the Group takes into
account reasonable and supportable
information that is available without undue cost
or effort. This includes information about past
events, current conditions and forecasts of
future economic conditions.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

g) Credit losses and impairment of assets
(Continued)

J

Crediit losses from financial instruments and
contract assets (Continueq)

Measurement of ECLs (Continued)

ECLs are measured on either of the following
bases:

= 12-month ECLs: these are losses that are
expected to result from possible default
events within the 12 months after the
reporting date; and

— lifetime ECLs: these are losses that
are expected to result from all possible
default events over the expected lives of
the items to which the ECL model applies.

Loss allowances for trade receivables and
contract assets are always measured at an
amount equal to lifetime ECLs. ECLs on these
financial assets are estimated using a provision
matrix based on the Group’s historical credit
loss experience, adjusted for factors that are
specific to the debtors and an assessment of
both the current and forecast general economic
conditions at the reporting date.

For all other financial instruments, the Group
recognises a loss allowance equal to 12-month
ECLs unless there has been a significant
increase in credit risk of the financial instrument
since initial recognition, in which case the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal to
lifetime ECLs.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

g) Credit losses and impairment of assets
(Continued)

J

Credit /losses from financial instruments anad
contract assets (Continueq)

Significant increases in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk of a
financial instrument has increased significantly
since initial recognition, the Group compares
the risk of default occurring on the financial
instrument assessed at the reporting date
with that assessed at the date of initial
recognition. In making this reassessment, the
Group considers that a default event occurs
when (i) the borrower is unlikely to pay its
credit obligations to the Group in full, without
recourse by the Group to actions such as
realising security (if any is held); or (i) the
financial asset is 90 days past due. The Group
considers both quantitative and qualitative
information that is reasonable and supportable,
including historical experience and forward-
looking information that is available without
undue cost or effort. In particular, the following
information is taken into account when
assessing whether credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition:

- failure to make payments of principal or
interest on their contractually due dates;

- an actual or expected significant
deterioration in a financial instrument’s
external or internal credit rating (if
available);

= an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the operating results of
the debtor; and

- existing or forecast changes in the
technological, market, economic or
legal environment that have a significant
adverse effect on the debtor’s ability to
meet its obligation to the Group.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

g) Credit losses and impairment of assets
(Continued)

J

Creadit /losses from financial instruments and
contract assets (Continueq)

Significant increases in credit risk (Continued)

Depending on the nature of the financial
instruments, the assessment of a significant
increase in credit risk is performed on either an
individual basis or a collective basis. When the
assessment is performed on a collective basis,
the financial instruments are grouped based on
shared credit risk characteristics, such as past
due status and credit risk ratings.

ECLs are remeasured at each reporting date
to reflect changes in the financial instrument’s
credit risk since initial recognition. Any
change in the ECL amount is recognised as
an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss.
The Group recognises an impairment gain
or loss for all financial instruments with a
corresponding adjustment to their carrying
amount through a loss allowance account,
except for investments in debt securities that
are measured at FVOCI (recycling), for which
the loss allowance is recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the
fair value reserve (recycling).
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

g) Credit losses and impairment of assets
(Continued)

J

Crediit losses from financial instruments and
contract assets (Continueq)

Basis of calculation of interest income

Interest income recognised in accordance with
note 2(r)(iii) is calculated based on the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset unless
the financial asset is credit-impaired, in which
case interest income is calculated based on the
amortised cost (i.e. the gross carrying amount
less loss allowance) of the financial asset.

At each reporting date, the Group assesses
whether a financial asset is credit-impaired. A
financial asset is credit-impaired when one or
more events that have a detrimental impact on
the estimated future cash flows of the financial
asset have occurred.

Evidence that a financial asset is credit-
impaired includes the following observable
events:

= significant financial difficulties of the
debtor;

- a breach of contract, such as a default or
past due event;

- it becoming probable that the borrower
will enter into bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation;

= significant changes in the technological,
market, economic or legal environment
that have an adverse effect on the debtor;
or

- the disappearance of an active market for
a security because of financial difficulties
of the issuer.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

g) Credit losses and impairment of assets
(Continued)

J

)

Crediit losses from financial instruments and
contract assets (Continueq)

Write-off policy

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset
or contract asset is written off (either partially
or in full) to the extent that there is no realistic
prospect of recovery. This is generally the case
when the Group determines that the debtor
does not have assets or sources of income that
could generate sufficient cash flows to repay
the amounts subject to the write-off.

Subsequent recoveries of an asset that was
previously written off are recognised as a
reversal of impairment in profit or loss in the
period in which the recovery occurs.

Impairment of other non-current assers

Internal and external sources of information
are reviewed at the end of each reporting
period to identify indications that the following
assets may be impaired or an impairment loss
previously recognised no longer exists or may
have decreased:

- property, plant and equipment;

- right-of-use assets;

— prepaid lease payments; and

= investments in subsidiaries in the
Company’s statement of financial

position.

If any such indication exists, the asset’s
recoverable amount is estimated.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. TESIBER(8)

(Continued)
g) Credit losses and impairment of assets 9) RFEEFEBEREERE (&)
(Continued)

/i) Impairment of other non-current assets i) BtFEmEEERE
(Continuea) (#&)
Calculation of recoverable amount —  FEAKEEEE
The recoverable amount of an asset is BEZAKE S
the greater of its fair value less costs of NERAFERLEE
disposal and value in use. In assessing BN AN R (B (B 5T

value in use, the estimated future cash
flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that
reflects current market assessments of
the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset. Where an asset
does not generate cash inflows largely
independent of those from other assets,
the recoverable amount is determined
for the smallest group of assets that
generates cash inflows independently (i.e.
a cash-generating unit).

Recognition of impairment losses

An impairment loss is recognised in profit
or loss if the carrying amount of an asset,
or the cash-generating unit to which it
belongs, exceeds its recoverable amount.
Impairment losses recognised in respect
of cash-generating units are allocated
first to reduce the carrying amount of any
goodwill allocated to the cash-generating
unit (or group of cash-generating units)
and then, to reduce the carrying amount
of the other assets in the unit (or group of
cash-generating units) on a pro rata basis,
except that the carrying value of an asset
will not be reduced below its individual fair
value less costs of disposal (if measurable)
or value in use (if determinable).
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

)

h)

Credit losses and impairment of assets
(Continued)

)

)

Impairment of other non-current assetrs

(Continued)

— Reversals of impairment losses

An impairment loss is reversed if there has
been a favourable change in the estimates
used to determine the recoverable

amount.

A reversal of an impairment loss is
limited to the asset’s carrying amount
that would have been determined had no
impairment loss been recognised in prior
years. Reversals of impairment losses are
credited to profit or loss in the year in

which the reversals are recognised.

/nterim financial reporting and imparrment

Under the Listing Rules, the Group is required
to prepare an interim financial report in
compliance with HKAS 34, Interim Financial
Reporting, in respect of the first six months
of the financial year. At the end of the interim
period, the Group applies the same impairment
testing, recognition, and reversal criteria as
it would at the end of the financial year (see

notes 2(g)(i) and 2(g)(i)).

Inventories

Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and
net realisable value. Cost is calculated using the
weighted average cost formula and comprises all
costs of purchase, costs of conversion and other
costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their

present location and condition.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in
the ordinary course of business less the estimated
costs of completion and the estimated costs

necessary to make the sale.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

h)

Inventories (Continued)

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of
those inventories is recognised as an expense in the
period in which the related revenue is recognised.
The amount of any write-down of inventories to net
realisable value and all losses of inventories are
recognised as an expense in the period the write-
down or loss occurs. The amount of any reversal
of any write-down of inventories is recognised as a
reduction in the amount of inventories recognised
as an expense in the period in which the reversal
occurs.

Contract assets and contract liabilities

A contract asset is recognised when the Group
recognises revenue (see note 2(r)) before being
unconditionally entitled to the consideration under
the payment terms set out in the contract. Contract
assets are assessed for ECL in accordance with the
policy set out in note 2(g)() and are reclassified to
receivables when the right to the consideration has
become unconditional (see note 2(j)).

A contract liability is recognised when the customer
pays non-refundable consideration before the
Group recognises the related revenue. A contract
liability would also be recognised if the Group has
an unconditional right to receive non-refundable
consideration before the Group recognises the
related revenue. In such cases, a corresponding
receivable would also be recognised (see note 2(j)).

For a single contract with the customer, either a net
contract asset or a net contract liability is presented.
For multiple contracts, contract assets and contract
liabilities of unrelated contracts are not presented on
a net basis.

When the contract includes a significant financing
component, the contract balance includes interest
accrued under the effective interest method (see
note 2(r)(iii)).
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

)

k)

m)

Trade and other receivables

A receivable is recognised when the Group has an
unconditional right to receive consideration. A right
to receive consideration is unconditional if only the
passage of time is required before payment of that
consideration is due. If revenue has been recognised
before the Group has an unconditional right to
receive consideration, the amount is presented as a
contract asset (see note 2(j)).

Receivables are stated at amortised cost using the
effective interest method less allowance for credit
losses (see note 2(g)(i)).

Interest-bearing borrowings

Interest-bearing borrowings (including corporate
bonds) are measured initially at fair value less
transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition,
interest-bearing borrowings are stated at amortised
cost using the effective interest method. Interest
expense is recognised in accordance with the
Group’s accounting policy for borrowing costs (see
note 2(t)).

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are initially recognised at
fair value and are subsequently stated at amortised
cost unless the effect of discounting would be
immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank
and on hand, demand deposits with banks and
other financial institutions, and short-term, highly
liquid investments that are readily convertible into
known amounts of cash and which are subject to
an insignificant risk of changes in value, having been
within three months of maturity at acquisition. Bank
overdrafts that are repayable on demand and form
an integral part of the Group’s cash management
are also included as a component of cash and cash
equivalents for the purpose of the consolidated
statement of cash flows. Cash and cash equivalents
are assessed for ECL in accordance with the
Group’s accounting policy set out in note 2(g)(i).
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

n) Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental
costs directly attributable to the issue of new
ordinary shares or options are shown in equity as a
deduction from the proceeds.

o) Employee benefits

J

)

Short-term employee benefits and
contributions to defined conitribution
retirement plans

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave,
contributions to defined contribution retirement
plans and the cost of non-monetary benefits
are accrued in the year in which the associated
services are rendered by employees. Where
payment or settlement is deferred and the
effect would be material, these amounts are
stated at their present values.

Share-based payments

The fair value of share options granted to
employees is recognised as an employee
cost with a corresponding increase in share
option reserve within equity. The fair value is
measured at grant date using the binomial
option pricing model, taking into account the
terms and conditions upon which the options
were granted. Where the employees have
to meet vesting conditions before becoming
unconditionally entitled to the share options, the
total estimated fair value of the share options
is spread over the vesting period, taking into
account the probability that the options will
vest.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

o) Employee benefits (Continued)

)

)

Share-based payments (Continuead)

During the vesting period, the number of share
options that is expected to vest is reviewed.
Any resulting adjustment to the cumulative fair
value recognised in prior years is charged/
credited to profit or loss for the year of the
review, unless the original employee expenses
qualify for recognition as an asset, with
a corresponding adjustment to the share
option reserve. On vesting date, the amount
recognised as an expense is adjusted to reflect
the actual number of share options that vest
(with a corresponding adjustment to the share
option reserve) except where forfeiture is only
due to not achieving vesting conditions that
relate to the market price of the Company’s
shares. The equity amount is recognised in the
share option reserve until either the option is
exercised (when it is transferred to the share
capital for the shares issued) or the option
expires (when it is released directly to retained
profits).

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised at the
earlier of when the Group can no longer
withdraw the offer of those benefits and when
it recognises restructuring costs involving the
payment of termination benefits.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

P)

Income tax

Income tax for the year comprises current tax and
movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities.
Current tax and movements in deferred tax assets
and liabilities are recognised in profit or loss except
to the extent that they relate to items recognised
in other comprehensive income or directly in
equity, in which case the relevant amounts of tax
are recognised in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity, respectively.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the
taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted
or substantively enacted at the end of the reporting
period, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect
of previous years.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from
deductible and taxable temporary differences
respectively, being the differences between the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial
reporting purposes and their tax bases. Deferred tax
assets also arise from unused tax losses and unused
tax credits.

Apart from certain limited exceptions, all deferred tax
liabilities, and all deferred tax assets to the extent
that it is probable that future taxable profits will be
available against which the asset can be utilised, are
recognised. Future taxable profits that may support
the recognition of deferred tax assets arising from
deductible temporary differences include those
that will arise from the reversal of existing taxable
temporary differences, provided those differences
relate to the same taxation authority and the same
taxable entity, and are expected to reverse either
in the same period as the expected reversal of the
deductible temporary differences or in periods into
which a tax loss arising from the deferred tax asset
can be carried back or forward. The same criteria are
adopted when determining whether existing taxable
temporary differences support the recognition of
deferred tax assets arising from unused tax losses
and credits, that is, those differences are taken into
account if they relate to the same taxation authority
and the same taxable entity, and are expected to
reverse in a period, or periods, in which the tax loss
or credit can be utilised.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

P)

Income tax (Continued)

The limited exceptions to recognition of deferred tax
assets and liabilities are those temporary differences
arising from the initial recognition of assets or
liabilities that affect neither accounting nor taxable
profit (provided they are not part of a business
combination), and temporary differences relating
to investments in subsidiaries to the extent that, in
the case of taxable differences, the Group controls
the timing of the reversal and it is probable that the
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future,
or in the case of deductible differences, unless it is
probable that they will reverse in the future.

The amount of deferred tax recognised is measured
based on the expected manner of realisation or
settlement of the carrying amount of the assets and
liabilities, using tax rates enacted or substantively
enacted at the end of the reporting period. Deferred
tax assets and liabilities are not discounted.

The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset is
reviewed at the end of each reporting period and is
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable
that sufficient taxable profits will be available to
allow the related tax benefit to be utilised. Any such
reduction is reversed to the extent that it becomes
probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available.

Additional income taxes that arise from the
distribution of dividends are recognised when the
liability to pay the related dividends is recognised.

2.

TESFEE ()

P)

Frig®t ()

ZERRELENAEERBE
ZERPISMER - BIEFHE
RELFFESE N LR
BaMzBEERAEB (EED
AREEARHZ—#D) - K
REBRHEB R RRE PG
BREREZR (NRERTE
£ ARG B A2 ) [ 5
ZEfE - WEAKRATBEER R
AREE 2 ZR : A RAM
MER - AIRRRAIBEERK
BEOZER) -

ERRZRELERBSREIIZR
BERAGBEREEZRRAER
FFEFTR - URBEHRRE
BRER EC B2 B X
B RERAEERARYE
1EREIRATE -

BEFIAEE ZRHAENE R
EMRTAERN  ERRTE
A BEA /B S AR B s A AR
AR IENE - RIFHRELE
HIEEEREE - 5 RE&ARE
B e R A A AR
S8 3 P+ R 2 BUEE

BREDIKREE ZBINAEHRR
AR E 2 B EEER R
T ARERR °



Annual Report 2019
“E-NEFR

Notes to the Financial Statements

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

P)

Income tax (Continued)

Current tax balances and deferred tax balances, and
movements therein, are presented separately from
each other and are not offset. Current tax assets are
offset against current tax liabilities, and deferred tax
assets against deferred tax liabilities, if the Group
has the legally enforceable right to set off current tax
assets against current tax liabilities and the following
additional conditions are met:

- in the case of current tax assets and liabilities,
the Group intends either to settle on a net
basis, or to realise the asset and settle the
liability simultaneously; or

- in the case of deferred tax assets and liabilities,
if they relate to income taxes levied by the
same taxation authority on either:

- the same taxable entity; or

- different taxable entities, which, in each
future period in which significant amounts
of deferred tax liabilities or assets are
expected to be settled or recovered,
intend to realise the current tax assets
and settle the current tax liabilities
on a net basis or realise and settle
simultaneously.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

a)

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a
legal or constructive obligation arising as a result of a
past event, it is probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a
reliable estimate can be made. Where the time value
of money is material, provisions are stated at the
present value of the expenditure expected to settle
the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a
contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow
of economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations,
whose existence will only be confirmed by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future
events are also disclosed as contingent liabilities
unless the probability of outflow of economic benefits
is remote.

Revenue and other income

Income is classified by the Group as revenue when
it arises from the sale of goods, and the provision
of services in the ordinary course of the Group’s
business.

Revenue is recognised when control over a product
or service is transferred to the customer at the
amount of promised consideration to which the
Group is expected to be entitled, excluding those
amounts collected on behalf of third parties. Revenue
excludes value added tax or other sales taxes and is
after deduction of any trade discounts.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

r

Revenue and other income (Continued)

Where the contract contains a financing component
which provides a significant financing benefit to
the customer for more than 12 months, revenue
is measured at the present value of the amount
receivable, discounted using the discount rate that
would be reflected in a separate financing transaction
with the customer, and interest income is accrued
separately under the effective interest method. Where
the contract contains a financing component which
provides a significant financing benefit to the Group,
revenue recognised under that contract includes the
interest expense accreted on the contract liability
under the effective interest method. The Group takes
advantage of the practical expedient in paragraph 63
of HKFRS 15 and does not adjust the consideration
for any effects of a significant financing component if
the period of financing is 12 months or less.

Further details of the Group’s revenue and other
income recognition policies are as follows:

/) Sales of goods

The Group provides installation services for
the sales of EP products and equipment. The
goods or services are highly related that the
Group would not be able to fulfill its promises
by transferring each of the goods or services
independently. Thus, the installation services
which are bundled together with the sales of
EP products and equipment are not considered
to be distinct. Revenue from sales of goods are
recognised when the control of the assets has
been transferred to the customers, which is
usually upon completion of the installation and
on-site testing.

A receivable is recognised by the Group when
the customers have accepted the goods and
the related risks and rewards of ownership as
this represents the point in time at which the
right to consideration becomes unconditional,
as only the passage of time is required before
payment is due. Customers have no right to
return the goods once accepted.

Bt 755 R AR B

For the year ended 31 December 2019

HE_Z-NFE+-_A=+—HILLFE

2. FESTTEHE(H)

r

WA R E At e (48D

WERBEMERD + BEF
REFAMEFNZBBI12ME
A B ARERF T2 @
PR E R 5 TR AL IR R AR
ZEKRSERENE  MAE
WA RIRIEER A BIE B LR
e WERBEEREND B
REERBEABE Rz - Al
BIEZAE BERZWABTEER
ERFME A EARABEL
ZHERY - X"EEFBAESE
B 7SR S AR E 1557 F 63 EL
ZAITRER A W E B
B12EAsAT - Al NEmE
ABEK D 2 ER R EFAER
{go

ARER B 2 W Ko B At Y 5 AR
BRZE— BT

\

)  Em#EE

S L 3H SRR an
BREZERS - &
EE MR =EAE
B AR BN B BB
BBEREMIREET
Hfqs o Bt - SHEIRIR
7 h N AR s — BHER AR
LR RIS TR R
% o IHEEMMKRARE
EEHREBEREPE
(BERZERREAH
TERK IR ) TERR ©

S Bt

AEBREFPEXEM
Ko 48 A L B A 2 P A #E
[B] 7 B i 58 FE M RO
It 75 R 7 U BR £ (B B 4
M 5% s T B B A £ 1R
o XNE A EAR
BERY  FFP—B&
XEmERERE -

87



88

Pan Asia Environmental Protection Group Limited
RERREEBRAAE

Notes to the Financial Statements

B 5 R AR B

For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE_ZT—hhF+-_A=1+—HIEFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

r) Revenue and other income (Continued)

)

)

Design services

Revenue from design services in the contract
is recognised when the customer takes the
possession of and accepts the design work
performed.

/nterest income

Interest income is recognised as it accrues
under the effective interest method using
the rate that exactly discounts estimated
future cash receipts through the expected
life of the financial asset to the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset. For financial
assets measured at amortised cost or FVOCI
(recycling) that are not credit-impaired, the
effective interest rate is applied to the gross
carrying amount of the assets. For credit-
impaired financial assets, the effective interest
rate is applied to the amortised cost (i.e. gross
carrying amount net of loss allowance) of the
assets (see note 2(g)(i)).

Government granits

Government grants are recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position
initially when there is reasonable assurance
that they will be received and that the Group
will comply with the conditions attaching to
them. Grants that compensate the Group for
expenses incurred are recognised as income
in profit or loss on a systematic basis in the
same periods in which the expenses are
incurred. Grants that compensate the Group
for the cost of an asset are deducted from the
carrying amount of the asset and consequently
are effectively recognised in profit or loss over
the useful life of the asset by way of reduced
depreciation expense.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

r) Revenue and other income (Continued)

i

vy

vif)

Rental income from operating /eases

Rental income receivable under operating
leases is recognised in profit or loss in equal
instalments over the periods covered by the
lease term, except where an alternative basis is
more representative of the pattern of benefits
to be derived from the use of the leased asset.
Lease incentives granted are recognised
in profit or loss as an integral part of the
aggregate net lease payments receivable.
Contingent rentals are recognised as income in
the accounting period in which they are earned.

Imputed interest income

When the arrangement effectively constitutes
a financing transaction, the fair value of the
consideration is determined by discounting
all future receipts using an imputed rate of
interest. The imputed rate of interest is the
prevailing rate for a similar instrument of an
issuer with a similar credit rating. The difference
between the fair value and the nominal amount
of the consideration at initial recognition is
recognised in profit or loss. Imputed interest
income is accrued on a time basis, by reference
to the principal outstanding and at the imputed
rate of interest.

Dividend incorme

Dividend income from unlisted investments
is recognised when the shareholder’s right
to receive payment is established. Dividend
income from listed investments is recognised
when the share price of the investment goes
ex-dividend.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

s)

Translation of foreign currencies

[tems included in the financial statements of each of
the Group’s entities are measured using the currency
of the primary economic environment in which the
entity operates (the “functional currency”). These
consolidated financial statements are presented in
Renminbi (“RMB”), rounded to the nearest thousand
except for per share data, which is different from the
Company’s functional currency of Hong Kong dollars
(“HK$”) as the majority of the Group’s transactions is
denominated in RMB.

Foreign currency transactions during the year are
translated at the foreign exchange rates ruling at
the transaction dates. Monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are translated at
the foreign exchange rates ruling at the end of the
reporting period. Exchange gains and losses are
recognised in profit or loss, except those arising
from foreign currency borrowings used to hedge
a net investment in a foreign operation which are
recognised in other comprehensive income.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are
measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign
currency are translated using the foreign exchange
rates ruling at the transaction dates. The transaction
date is the date on which the Group initially
recognises such non-monetary assets or liabilities.
Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in
foreign currencies stated at fair value are translated
using the foreign exchange rates ruling at the dates
the fair value was determined.

The results of those entities within the Group
which have a functional currency other than RMB
are translated into RMB at the exchange rates
approximating the foreign exchange rates ruling at
the dates of the transactions. Statement of financial
position items are translated into RMB at the closing
foreign exchange rates ruling at the end of the
reporting period. The resulting exchange differences
are recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated separately in equity in the translation
reserve.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

s)

t)

u)

Translation of foreign currencies (Continued)

On the disposal of any of such entities, the
cumulative amount of the exchange differences
relating to that foreign operation is reclassified from
equity to profit or loss when the profit or loss on
disposal is recognised.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to
the acquisition, construction or production of an
asset which necessarily takes a substantial period
of time to get ready for its intended use or sale are
capitalised as part of the cost of that asset. Other
borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which
they are incurred.

The capitalisation of borrowing costs as part of
the cost of a qualifying asset commences when
expenditure for the asset is being incurred, borrowing
costs are being incurred and activities that are
necessary to prepare the asset for its intended use
or sale are in progress. Capitalisation of borrowing
costs is suspended or ceases when substantially
all the activities necessary to prepare the qualifying
asset for its intended use or sale are interrupted or
complete.

Discontinued operation

A discontinued operation is a component of the
Group’s business, the operations and cash flows of
which can be clearly distinguished from the rest of
the Group and which represents a separate major
line of business or geographical area of operations,
or is part of a single co-ordinated plan to dispose
of a separate major line of business or geographical
area of operations, or is a subsidiary acquired
exclusively with a view to resale.

Classification as a discontinued operation occurs
upon disposal or when the operation meets the
criteria to be classified as held for sale, if earlier. It
also occurs if the operation is abandoned.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

u)

Discontinued operation (Continued)

When an operation is classified as discontinued,
a single amount is presented on the face of the
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income, which comprises:

= the post-tax profit or loss of the discontinued
operation; and

— the post-tax gain or loss recognised on the
measurement to fair value less costs to sell,
or on the disposal, of the assets or disposal
group(s) constituting the discontinued operation.

Related parties

a) A person, or a close member of that person’s
family, is related to the Group if that person:

i has control or joint control over the
Group;

ii. has significant influence over the Group;
or

ii. is a member of the key management
personnel of the Group or the Group’s
parent.

b)  An entity is related to the Group if any of the
following conditions applies:

i. The entity and the Group are members of
the same group (which means that each
parent, subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is
related to the others).
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

v)  Related parties (Continued)

b)  An entity is related to the Group if any of the
following conditions applies: (Continued)

Vi.

Vii.

viii.

One entity is an associate or joint venture
of the other entity (or an associate or joint
venture of a member of a group of which
the other entity is a member).

Both entities are joint ventures of the
same third party.

One entity is a joint venture of a third
entity and the other entity is an associate
of the third entity.

The entity is a post-employment benefit
plan for the benefit of employees of either
the Group or an entity related to the
Group.

The entity is controlled or jointly controlled
by a person identified in note 2(v)(a).

A person identified in note 2(v)(a)(i) has
significant influence over the entity or
is a member of the key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent of
the entity).

The entity, or any member of a group
of which it is a part, provides key
management personnel services to the
Group or to the Group’s parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those
family members who may be expected to influence,
or be influenced by, that person in their dealings with

the entity.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

w)

Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each
segment item reported in the consolidated financial
statements, are identified from the financial
information provided regularly to the Group’s Chief
Executive Officer, who is the Group’s chief operating
decision maker (“CODM?”), for the purposes
of allocating resources to, and assessing the
performance of, the Group’s various lines of business
and geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not
aggregated for financial reporting purposes unless
the segments have similar economic characteristics
and are similar in respect of the nature of products
and services, the nature of production processes,
the type or class of customers, the methods used to
distribute the products or provide the services, and
the nature of the regulatory environment. Operating
segments which are not individually material may be
aggregated if they share a majority of these criteria.
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CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The HKICPA has issued a new HKFRS, HKFRS 16
“Leases”, and a number of amendments to HKFRSs that
are first effective for the current accounting period of the
Group.

Except for HKFRS 16 “Leases”, none of the developments
have had a material effect on how the Group’s results and
financial position for the current or prior periods have been
prepared or presented. The Group has not applied any
new standard or interpretation that is not yet effective for
the current accounting period.

HKFRS 16 “Leases”

HKFRS 16 replaces HKAS 17 “Leases” and the related
interpretations, HK(IFRIC) 4 “Determining whether an
arrangement contains a lease”, HK(SIC) 15 “Operating
leases — incentives” and HK(SIC) 27 “Evaluating the
substance of transactions involving the legal form of
a lease”. It introduces a single accounting model for
lessees, which requires a lessee to recognise a right-of-
use asset and a lease liability for all leases, except for
leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less (“short-
term leases”) and leases of low-value assets. The lessor
accounting requirements are brought forward from HKAS
17 substantially unchanged.

HKFRS 16 also introduces additional qualitative and
quantitative disclosure requirements which aim to enable
users of the financial statements to assess the effect that
leases have on the financial position, financial performance
and cash flows of an entity.

The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 as from 1
January 2019. The Group has elected to use the modified
retrospective approach and has therefore recognised the
cumulative effect of initial application as an adjustment
to the opening balance of equity as at 1 January 2019.
Comparative information has not been restated and
continues to be reported under HKAS 17.
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CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

HKFRS 16 “Leases” (continued)

Further details of the nature and effect of the changes to
previous accounting policies and the transition options
applied are set out below:

a)

b)

New aefinition of a lease

The change in the definition of a lease mainly relates
to the concept of control. HKFRS 16 defines a lease
on the basis of whether a customer controls the use
of an identified asset for a period of time, which may
be determined by a defined amount of use. Control
is conveyed where the customer has both the right
to direct the use of the identified asset and to obtain
substantially all of the economic benefits from that
use.

The Group applies the new definition of a lease
in HKFRS 16 only to contracts that were entered
into or changed on or after 1 January 2019. For
contracts entered into before 1 January 2019,
the Group has used the transitional practical
expedient to grandfather the previous assessment
of which existing arrangements are or contain
leases. Accordingly, contracts that were previously
assessed as leases under HKAS 17 continue to
be accounted for as leases under HKFRS 16 and
contracts previously assessed as non-lease service
arrangements continue to be accounted for as
executory contracts.

Lessee accounting and transitional impact

HKFRS 16 eliminates the requirement for a lessee to
classify leases as either operating leases or finance
leases, as was previously required by HKAS 17.
Instead, the Group is required to capitalise all leases
when it is the lessee, including leases previously
classified as operating leases under HKAS 17, other
than those short-term leases and leases of low-
value assets which are exempt. As far as the Group
is concerned, these newly capitalised leases are
primarily in relation to properties as disclosed in note
29(b). For an explanation of how the Group applies
lessee accounting, see note 2(f).
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CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

HKFRS 16 “Leases” (continued)

b)

Lessee accounting and transitional impact
(continueq)

At the date of transition to HKFRS 16 (i.e. 1 January
2019), the Group determined the length of the
remaining lease terms and measured the lease
liabilities for the leases previously classified as
operating leases at the present value of the remaining
lease payments, discounted using the relevant
incremental borrowing rates at 1 January 2019. The
weighted average of the incremental borrowing rates
used for determination of the present value of the
remaining lease payments was 5.13%.

To ease the transition to HKFRS 16, the Group
applied the following recognition exemption and
practical expedients at the date of initial application
of HKFRS 16:

(i) the Group elected not to apply the requirements
of HKFRS 16 in respect of the recognition of
lease liabilities and right-of-use assets to leases
for which the remaining lease term ends within
12 months from the date of initial application of
HKFRS 16, i.e. where the lease term ends on or
before 31 December 2019;

(i) when measuring the lease liabilities at the date
of initial application of HKFRS 16, the Group
applied a single discount rate to a portfolio of
leases with reasonably similar characteristics
(such as leases with a similar remaining lease
term for a similar class of underlying asset in a
similar economic environment); and
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2HEAGR  AEH
HAFSBEUERDN
HEHREFHE—/ER
T (MEBEUEERET
HEUAEEEBLRR
FA B2 FE o2 FH BB AR B 9 A
gk
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3. CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

HKFRS 16 “Leases” (continued)

b) Lessee accounting and transitional impact
(continueq)

(i) when measuring the right-of-use assets at the
date of initial application of HKFRS 16, the
Group relied on the previous assessment for
onerous contract provisions as at 31 December
2018 as an alternative to performing an
impairment review.

The following table reconciles the operating lease
commitments as disclosed in note 29(b) as at 31
December 2018 to the opening balance for lease
liabilities recognised as at 1 January 2019:

S BEEE (H)

BERAMBREERFE 165 HE

(&)

b) FRUEANETEERBEZE
(#&)
(i) EFEEXEBEBH

BHREEBE16HE
BZERBEEER &
EEFREIMNR T —
NF+—_A=+—H8Y
BiEARBEHENBAET
it - {ERBA R E T
2k e

TRAMTT290)FIHRER_Z
—NE+-A=+—HBZE%
HEAEER-_FT-NF—A
—RERZBERR NG
ERAVH AR ¢

RMB'000
ARETTT

Operating lease commitments
as at 31 December 2018

Less: Recognition exemption — low value assets
Less: Recognition exemption — short-term leases

Less: Total future interest expenses

Present value of remaining lease payments
discounted using the relevant incremental
borrowing rates and total lease liabilities
recognised as at 1 January 2019

Analysed as:
Current
Non-current

R=B—N\E+=A
St-BZEEHEERE

o EREE - KEEEE
o ER R — RIS

B RSB S AR R

SR BRI B E ST R AR
28 TRERERER
W-E—nF—A—A
R MER L

3,531

(15)
(1,026)

2,397

DATEATR ¢

BN &R 1,492

JEENHA 905
2,397
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For the year ended 31 December 2019
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CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. EFBEREEH (&)

(continued)

HKFRS 16 “Leases” (continued) EEMBREEAE165RHE ]

(%)

b) Lessee accounting and transitional impact b) REANBTTEEREEZE
(continueqd) (#&)
The right-of-use assets in relation to leases ERERNFMBEEEENHE
previously classified as operating leases have been REFERESL A DA RKE
recognised at an amount equal to the amount THERBoEREEE - WK
recognised for the remaining lease liabilities, adjusted RZZE—N\F+=ZA=+—8
by the amount of any prepaid or accrued lease A AR R RN R L
payments relating to that lease recognised in the ERENEREMN K EFEE
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 RIESREEITHAE -

December 2018.

The carrying amount of right-of-use assets as at 1 RZE-—NF—HA—BHEH
January 2019 comprises the following: BEERMERE NSAE -
RMB’000
ARBTT
Right-of-use assets relating to operating RIER BB HRE 2R
leases recognised upon F16R e ERELE
application of HKFRS 16 HERBNEREEE 2,397
By class BB

Leased property THEY 2,397
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3. CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

HKFRS 16 “Leases” (continued)

b)

Lessee accounting and transitional impact
(continueq)

The following adjustments were made to the amounts
recognised in the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 1 January 2019. Line items that were
not affected by the changes have not been included.

Non-current assets ERENEE
Right-of-use assets EREEE
Current liabilities mEAR
Lease liabilities HEBE
Non-current liabilities ERBIAR
Lease liabilities HEAE

For the purpose of reporting cash flows from operating
activities under indirect method for the year ended 31
December 2019, movements in working capital have been
computed based on opening consolidated statement
of financial position as at 1 January 2019 as disclosed
above.

S BEEE (H)

BERAMBREERFE 165 HE

(%)

b)

Carrying
amounts
previously
reported as at
31 December
2018

AT
—E-N\F
+=A
=+-8
EFRMEREEE
RMB’000
AREFIT

AUANETTEERBEZE

(&)

BEHR-_F-NFE—A—BH
AR B MBI ILR RS A & 7R

fEH T A

o7, 45k Th B 488
o N BT E

ZBEBXRAN -

Adjustments

A
RMB’000
NS

2,397

(1,492)

(905)

Carrying
amounts
under
HKFRS 16
as at

1 January
2019
REEEME
HwEER
1658
RIS—hEF
—HA—H

B IRE(E
RMB’000
AR®TR

2,397

(1,492)

(905)

RERBENTEEZEHBE_T-NAF+_H
ST HLEFERAREEHZIRAER
B ZEERRBCRLERABFEZR -
Z-NE—-A-BZHNREMBHRE

o e
ST HE o
EIR=EE
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REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND OTHER
NET LOSS

From continuing operations:
Revenue

Revenue from continuing operations represents the fair
value of the amounts received and receivables for goods
sold, and services rendered, which excludes value-added
and other sales taxes, and is after deduction of any goods
returns and trade discounts.

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers
during the year are as follows:

4. WA - Etplsm R HEMWEER
R

REFREERY
L'ON

REFBELLEBZBABRAHEE
REERBGHAELE 2B R RE
WHIBBHATE  ETEREIEER
MEMBEER - WAMKEMERE

1= O
Hnon

NE S -

FAXBREFARZWAASAT :

For the year ended 31 December 2019
BE_E-NE+-A=+—HILEE

EP construction

EP products engineering
Segment and equipment services Total
S8 BREGRZNE BRERIEZRY thy
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT ARBTR AR®TR
Types of goods or services BRERHER
Sales of goods EmiieE
- Flue gas treatment products —EREIEEM
and equipment 1 72,308 - 72,308
- Water treatment products —KEEEm
and equipment i 6,456 - 6,456
Design services Rat AR - 1,038 1,038
Total FEEy 78,764 1,038 79,802
Timing of revenue recognition VON: ]|
A point in time E—HH 78,764 1,038 79,802
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4. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND OTHER

NET LOSS (Continued)
From continuing operations: (Continued)

Revenue (Continued)

Segment

g

Types of goods or services RaskBaEm

Sales of goods EmineE

- Flue gas treatment products —EREEER
and equipment B

— Water treatment products - KEEER
and equipment B

Design services R R

Total #ar

Timing of revenue recognition B AR A2 BRI

A point in time R

Information about the Group’s performance obligation
Sales of EP proaucts and equipment

The performance obligation is satisfied when the control
of the EP products and equipment has been transferred
to the customers, which is usually upon completion of
the installation and on-site testing. The trading terms with
customers are mainly on credit and payment in advance
is normally required from customers. A certain percentage
of payment is retained by customers until the end of the
retention period. Warranties associated with the sales
of EP products and equipment cannot be purchased
separately and they serve as an assurance that the
products and equipment sold comply with agreed-upon
specifications.

Design services

The performance obligation is satisfied when the customer
takes the possession of and accepts the design work
performed. Payment is generally due upon acceptance of
the design work by customers.

WA - Eftblirzs Rk HAE18

(%)
REFRETRE (&)

WA (4)

For the year ended 31 December 2018
HE-_T-—\F+-A=1—-HLLFE

EP construction

EP products engineering
and equipment services Total
RREMKEE RRERIRERS st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARETT
124,535 - 124,535
35,326 - 35,326
— 2,327 2,327
159,861 2,327 162,188
159,861 2,327 162,188
FRLEEBANEENER
HERIRERRZE

B BN IRIRE G M R B B 12 5l
REBREZFPRER  BERTK
RERRBESHAER - BEFHRS
BERAEERET  BREFBTAX
NENMK - FEFPERBEETHLAZ
NREEREMER - EFHERR
EmEREHBIREELIEBR
B MREREHERIRENA
W E MG 2 IRAE

R

BOEAREFBELRERRZ
RE KRB o R RRES
BEERIRK BRI -



Notes to the

REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND OTHER 4.

NET LOSS (Continued)

From continuing operations: (Continued)

Revenue (Continued)

Revenue expected to be recognised in the future
arising from contracts with customers in existence at

the reporting date

The Group has applied the practical expedient in
paragraph 121 of HKFRS 15 to its contracts with
customers such that the Group does not disclose
information about revenue that the Group will be entitled
to when it satisfies the remaining performance obligations
under these contracts as these contracts have an original

expected duration of one year or less.

Other income

Interest income on bank deposits

Imputed interest on trade receivables
with extended credit terms

Rental income from operating lease

Sundry income

Other net loss

Gain on disposal of property,
plant and equipment, and
prepaid lease payments

Net impairment loss
(recognised)/reversed on:
— trade receivables
— other receivables
— contract assets
— prepayments

Loss on write-off of property,
plant and equipment

Net exchange gain/(loss)

Htuly 2
RITESRHBHA
BEREEHZEEES
FRZEEFE
REHECHEWA
FETEUI A

Hith &SRB H
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For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE_ZT—hhF+-_A=+—HIEFE

WA - Eftblir s Rk K518
R (&)

RERFREERYE (8
WA (&)

ELXERBEAMREREFMAATE
EEMR B RERHBA

AEEEREFAREREENK
WEERE15RE 121 RO A THE
HIE  BAKEEEARBERRA
SERmEZSEARBTNZHTE
MEETERARESHKRAZE
£ DRZEA RN RBERSES
RA—FXER -

HEWE - BFERREAK

BN ERE Y e

(BHR)/BEERE
[Eishe I
—EWE HFRIA
— E i fE I GRIA
—AREE
—JA K
MIEMZE -« BEREHEZ
[E518
fE 5 Ues, /(&8 )35

2019 2018
—E-nE —F-)N\F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®FT ARET T

3,941 1,692

- 1,067
- 27
- 79
3,941 2,865
- 25
(29,037) 1,385

(92) 3,522

(1,528) =

(3,780) -

- (12,403)
2 ©)
(34,435) (7,473)
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Loss before taxation from continuing operations is arrived

LOSS BEFORE TAXATION

at after charging the following:

a) Staff costs (including directors’

b)

c)

emoluments (Note 9)):

— Salaries, wages and
other benefits

— Contributions to defined
contribution retirement
plans (Note 8)

Finance costs:

Interest expenses on corporate
bonds (Note 21)

Interest on lease liabilities

Other items:
Amortisation of prepaid
lease payments
Auditors’ remuneration
— audit services
— other services
Cost of inventories (Note(i))
Depreciation of property,
plant and equipment

Depreciation of right-of-use assets

Impairment loss on property,
plant and equipment and

prepaid lease payments (Note(ii)

Operating lease charges under
HKAS 17
— office premise
— director’s quarter
— office equipment

5. BRBAIEGER

R THIEIR

a) AETHF (BREEHS
(B1a£9)) :
—I& #Hak
H b 4% F
— ERHFRINGE
WK (HfiE8)

b) MBEEF :
RAEFHM B
P (Kfat21)
HERENE

c) RftulAH :
TR T E R IE 2 # 3
ZEEI B
— BIZIR
— H At AR
FERA (K1)
Wx - BB R&E
ZIE
ERREEZNE

ME - BB RREAR
BNEERIERE
&8 (A1aE (i)

REBB G ERFETH
ZREHEER
N ES
—EEES

—WMRERE

KEFBEEZEBZBERABED

2019 2018
—E—NE —ZE-N\F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT AREET T
11,900 13,219
672 730
12,572 13,949
3,067 1,600

82 -

3,149 1,600

- 549

1,267 1,224

425 411
76,261 141,835
2,523 6,006
1,531 s

- 30,300

- 1,261

- 822

- 10
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LOSS BEFORE TAXATION (Continued)

Loss before taxation from continuing operations is arrived
at after charging the following: (Continued)

Notes:

(i) During the year ended 31 December 2019, cost of
inventories includes approximately RMB1,851,900 (2018:
RMB3,797,000) relating to staff costs and depreciation,
which amount is also included in the respective total
amounts disclosed separately above.

(i) Impairment loss of approximately RMB30,300,000 was
recognised during the year ended 31 December 2018 as
the assets classified held for sale were measured at fair
value less costs to sell which included the incremental
costs directly attributable to the disposal of the assets.

DISCONTINUED OPERATION

On 31 October 2017, Wuxi Pan Asia Environmental
Protection Technologies Limited (“Wuxi Pan Asia”),
a former wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
entered into an asset transfer agreement with Pan Asia
Environmental Protection (Jiangsu) Company Limited
(“Jiangsu Pan Asia”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, pursuant to which Wuxi Pan Asia agreed to
sell certain assets associated with the operation of sales
of EP products and equipment to Jiangsu Pan Asia (the
“Asset Transfer”). The Asset Transfer was completed on
16 January 2018 and Wuxi Pan Asia retained the assets
and liabilities associated with the operation of manufacture
and sales of EP construction materials.

On 31 October 2017, the Group entered into a sale
and purchase agreement (the “S&P Agreement”) with
an independent third party (the “Purchaser”), pursuant
to which the Group conditionally agreed to sell and the
Purchaser conditionally agreed to purchase the entire
equity interest in Wuxi Pan Asia after the completion of the
Asset Transfer at a consideration of RMB44,000,000 (the
“Disposal”).

Bt 755 R AR B

For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE_ZT—hhF+-_A=+—HIEFE

BRELmIE R (&)

KEFBEZ2EBZBERABED
MR TR IAE : ()

Hiat -

i) BEZZE-—IAF+=ZA=+—8H
ItFE  FEXABREFMAET
RARITEL ARE,851,9007T
(ZZ—)\F : AR¥3,797,000
JL) ML BEIFEA LS
WEZBESHEA -

i) BErBEARBELEZEENATAE
BIHEKATE  BRELEZSE
EG MO B LKA - REBE
# AR #30,300,000 TREZE =
E—N\E+-_A=1+—BILFER

7
o °©

ERIEEERE

R-ZE—+tF+A=+—8 &
REREMBRARAA ([#E$HZ
T (ARFREZENBAR)EZ
TSRECIHR)BRAB ([TEHZ
T (RRBZE2ENB AR )R
BEEE D Bt BHZTR
BT &2 o & EIRRE M MR
BHEXBHEBZETEE([BE
BE|) BEEZRCER_T-N\F
—HAt/RNBZEKX  EHZEHREE
SUE R ERREEN B EBER
ZEBEENAE-

RZZE—+tF+A=1+—8 &%
BE—2BYE=FH([EH |G
BEEWZ((EEWM=ZE]) @ Bt - &
SEEKMHRELEME S B EH
EEREEEZETNE HREA
R #44,000,000 T B #8520 FT
BE(HESE®E]) -
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DISCONTINUED OPERATION (Continued)

Details of the Asset Transfer and the Disposal were
set out in the Company’s announcements dated 31
October 2017, 14 November 2017 and 18 January 2018
respectively.

The directors of the Company were of the opinion that
the Disposal was highly probable because the Company’s
board of directors formally approved the Disposal and
there was no need to obtain the approval from the
Company’s shareholders as the Disposal constituted a
discloseable transaction under Chapter 14 of the Listing
Rules. In addition, the conditions precedent under the
S&P Agreement were fulfilled on 16 January 2018 and the
Disposal was completed on 16 January 2018 accordingly.
The directors of the Company were of the view that the
disposal company constituted a separate major line of the
Group’s business and accordingly, the Group’s operation
of manufacture and sales of EP construction materials was
classified as a discontinued operation.

The results and cash flows from the discontinued
operation for the period were analysed as follows.

ERIEEERK (&)

AEWRRHLE FE2HE 550
RARRAMA-F—tF+A=
+—B —F—tF+-AtmA
R=B-N\F—A+NBZRE -

ARREERR  HEFHEKBREHA
REL ARAAFESEEER
HAEHEERE  BARNHERER
BETRAUFI4EBRATRER
5 - WBARSARR BB -
AN - BEEMHZEERE T ZEREHE
R-Z-NFE—-HFtRBEEX
MHEEFERGBER —T—/\F—
AtRBZEX - A ARBEER
B HERRBRAEEEETSE
URERER  Hit 0 AEERE
MERREEMHNER DO
RERIEEERF -

HAKREBEREREXEBZEER
REREDNAOT °

2018
=2\
RMB’000
AREET T

Results from discontinued operation: KRECKRILEEERHZER
Other income H Uz 27
Selling and distribution expenses HE RN R (1,816)
General and administrative expenses —RITBAE (995)
Loss before taxation FRRAES R (2,784)
Income tax expenses S X (4)
(2,788)
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary (Note 23(a)) HEMB AR 2z (A1:£23(a)) 784

Loss for the period from HARBEERILER

discontinued operation EEZEBR (2,004)



DISCONTINUED OPERATION (Continued) 6.

Loss before taxation from discontinued operation is arrived

at after charging/(crediting) the following:

Amortisation of prepaid lease payments
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
Government grants’

Marketing and promotional expenses?

Staff costs
— Contributions to defined
contribution retirement plans (Note 8)
— Salaries, wages and other benefits

Cash flows from discontinued
operation:

Net cash outflows from operating activities
and net cash outflows from discontinued
operation

Annual Report 2019
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For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE_ZT—hhF+-_A=+—HIEFE

ERIEEEXH (F)

KECRIEEEREG 2R AER

BH%,(GEA) TFI&E -

AN EFIRZ #H
ME - BERREBZINE
BB
MR RS ERX?

BTRA
— EEMHFCRRETE
3R (H7#8)
—%¢  ITEREMEF

KEERIEEEXRHL
RERE :

2018
—T-N\F
RMB’000
ARET T
47

947

(27)
1,657

29

29

REKLEEDH RSN HIFHE

RREERIEEEXR 2B

ERHFE

U The amount represents the government grants of approximately 1
RMB27,000 relating to the subsidies from the PRC government
for acquisition of property, plant and equipment which was
released from deferred government grants to profit or loss
during the period from 1 January 2018 to date of disposal,
and the amount is included in other income in the results from

discontinued operation as disclosed above.

2 This item is included in selling and distribution expenses in 2
the results from discontinued operation as disclosed above.

(1,578)

Z 2 RAE E R B P BB s U B 1)
% BERRBEERMELNHA
R¥27,000 T EBRFME) » AR
—E-N\F-A-B=LHEBHH
M BRERF M A =R - B
SHEFTAN B FEREER L
BEBZFR 2 bl -

FZIAB T AW BB R B E AU
BREEXB2EBZHERDHRA
F o
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i) The Company and its subsidiaries incorporated
in the British Virgin Islands are not subject
to any income tax pursuant to the rules and
regulations of their respective countries of
incorporation.

ii) PRC Enterprise Income Tax is calculated at
25% of the estimated assessable profits of the
Company’s subsidiaries established in the PRC
during the years ended 31 December 2019 and
2018.

i)  No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has
been made for the years ended 31 December
2019 and 2018 as the Group did not have
assessable profits arising in Hong Kong during
both years.

iv) The PRC Enterprise Income Tax Law also
requires withholding tax of 10% upon
distribution of profits by the subsidiaries
established in the PRC since 1 January 2008 to
its overseas shareholders.

7. INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED 7. REGEEZREMEEKE
STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND ®/ZEHR
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
a) Taxation relating to continuing operations in the a) RixeEmkAEMEIENRRE
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other NEBFELCEXEB 2BIE
comprehensive income represents: 5
2019 2018
—E-hE —ET-N\F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TRT ARBTIT
Current tax: ENHIFRIA :
PRC Enterprise Income Tax RIS
— Provision for the year —FREE
(Note 22(a)) (K1z#22(a) - 2,521
Deferred tax: BRI :
Origination and reversal of TREREEER
temporary differences (Note 22(b)) Rl (Htat22(b)) - 595
Under-provision for deferred tax BREFIENBEFE
in previous years BETR 2,397 =
Income tax expenses PSRt 52 2,397 3,116

) ARARENEERK
HEEMAZZHER
AIREBERES B E MK
2 B 2 R R R A
BRBERPTFH o

iy HRECERGRIIIBE
PN/ XS SR s vl b
BRAANREBEE_Z—N
EERZTE—NE+=A
=t+—HIFEZHEE
JE FR B R 1R B 25 %

Povag
==
al>=+ °

il ARAEEREE_—ZT
—NFRE_ZFE—N\F+
—A=t+t—HILEEL
EREETEZERT &
F - R 5% A E F S
E BB RS E B
&

iv) BREEEMASHIANR
EB-EFNF-H
— B RPBEKRYZ
B R A | HEBIMNER
P38 M 93 IR 232 10%
AR R AN TRFOTR
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INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
(Continued)

b)  Reconciliation between income tax expenses and
accounting loss at applicable tax rates is as follows:

Loss before taxation from REFELEEL 2
continuing operations BRELATEE

Notional tax on loss before REARESBRE
taxation calculated at the statutory — HE[E 7% Hi &
rates applicable to respective STERFAIESE
tax jurisdictions ZBEVIA

Tax effect of non-taxable BARBWAZ
income Mg &

Tax effect of non-deductible EE L
expenses Mg &

Tax effect of tax losses RIERTIAEE 2 BT

not recognised
Tax effect of temporary difference  AEREREZE 2

not recognised M2
Tax effect of concessionary tax rate &% ¥ — B A FESR
granted to a subsidiary TR 2 ISR 2
Under-provision of deferred tax BELEHERNBEEE
in previous years BETIR

Income tax expenses FrigHi i =

Bt 755 R AR B

For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE_ZT—hhF+-_A=+—HIEFE

RREEaREM2HEKE
RZFES (&)

b) RERREFEZAF/HRMAX
HEETTERZEHRAT

2019 2018
—E-hFE —E-)N\F
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®FR ARBT T

s/ g

e

(56,227) (14,237)
(12,702) (2,288)
- (7,175)

2,630 12,144
1,486 339
8,586 =

- 96

2,397 =
2,397 3,116
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8. RETIREMENT BENEFITS COSTS

Defined contribution retirement plan

The Group has arranged for its Hong Kong employees
employed under the jurisdiction of the Hong Kong
Employment Ordinance to join the Mandatory Provident
Fund Scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) under the Hong Kong
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance and
Hong Kong Employment Ordinance. The MPF Scheme
is a defined contribution retirement plan managed by
independent trustees. Under the MPF Scheme, the
Group (the employer) and its employees make monthly
contributions to the scheme at 5% of the employees’
relevant income as defined under the Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes Ordinance. The contributions from each
of the employer and employees are subject to a cap of
HK$1,500 per month and thereafter contributions are

voluntary. Contributions to the plan vest immediately.

The employees of the Company’s subsidiaries established
in the PRC are members of a state-sponsored retirement
plan operated by the local government in the PRC and
these subsidiaries make mandatory contributions to the
state-sponsored retirement plan to fund the employees
retirement benefits. The retirement contributions paid
by these subsidiaries are based on a certain percentage
of the relevant portion of the payroll of all qualifying
employees in accordance with the relevant regulations in
the PRC and are charged to profit or loss as incurred. The
Group discharges its retirement obligations upon payment
of the retirement contributions to the state-sponsored
retirement plan operated by the local governments in the

PRC.

The Group’s contributions to defined contribution
retirement plans for the years ended 31 December 2019

and 2018 are as follows:

TE R FURIK
BRI

Contributions to defined contribution
retirement plans

— from continuing operations —REFESEER
(Note 5(a)) (Ki:t5(a)

— from discontinued operation —REBERIEREER
(Note 6) (KiiZ6)

3R K48 R B A
ERHFRATE

BIEE B8 6l A TEE T EES &
BB EBIEOIHATE  AEEELH
ERBEEERERBIEOEETFER
MEBSEELEBFEAESTE
([fE£srE]) - wEEATEITh A
W ZFEAEE 2 EERUR KT
gl - IRIBERTESFTE  AEE (BB
EBERHEEEABAZSBIREERM
BURA (E&BEHEAE ST 2
Bl) 2 5% M &t EELER - EE
FMEEE AS B 2 H#H3RA1,50078 7T
A ERR - BABFEREIMER - ¥
ST B 2 KA RS -

RRARRPEK 2 HEREZIE
8152 B h B 3t 75 BT & 1 30 i
REBZRINGE - ZEFHBAR
Al 7% 18 B 2K & B 2 SR AR AT &I 4F 3R
B R A R B B Z R IRE A SR
BE -  2EMBRARAXNZENRE
HRDERMEEEREEFN
BRASSZHEBEDL - RIREF
BAEBMRE  UREMELZSHE
it ABE c AREERBASEMT
BT & (F 3 i B 3K & B 2 SRR & T
B MERAER KA ASEETH
REBRKENTHZEE -

AKEHE-T-AER=T—)
E+-A=+—RILEEZEHEH
HRAH BRI T -

2019 2018
—E—NE —Z-N\F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT AREET T
672 730

672 730




DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 9.

EMOLUMENTS

Directors’ emoluments disclosed pursuant to section
383(1) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part
2 of the Companies (Disclosure of Information about
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Bt 755 R AR B

For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE_ZT—hhF+-_A=+—HIEFE

Benefits of Directors) Regulations are as follows:

Name of director

Executive director
Mr. Jiang Xin (Note (j)

Non-executive director
Mr. Fan Yajun

Independent
non-executive
directors

Mr. Lai Wing Lee

Mr. Leung Shu Sun, Sunny

Professor Wang Guozhen

EEng

BITES
BEEE (Wat()

FUTEE
BHELE

BUFBTES

RBKFI L&
2R E
TEYHR

EER

RESTBRAEME

RIBEBE L ARDIEI83(1)ERLA
A (WBEEENRER) R PI280 P
BeESMEMT

Year ended 31 December 2019
BE"E-AE+ZB=+—HLEE

Contributions

Salaries, to defined

allowances contribution

and other retirement

benefits plans
Fees Hig 2R EHER Total
ne Hetigdl  BAEBER hy
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR ARBTR AEBTT AEBTT
106 319 - 425
106 - - 106
53 - - 53
192 - - 192
53 - - 53
510 319 - 829
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9. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

Name of director

Executive directors
Mr. Jiang Xin (Note (j))

Mr. Cho Yu Chung (Note (i)

Non-executive director

Mr. Fan Yajun

Independent
non-executive
directors

Mr. Lai Wing Lee

Mr. Leung Shu Sun, Sunny
Professor Wang Guozhen

Notes:

EEng

RTEE
BEEE (W)
BEFREE (W)

FBTES
BHELE

BUFBTES

RBKFI L&
2R L
TEYHR

9. EE

RESTHRAEME (&)

Year ended 31 December 2018

2= \E+-HA=1t—HItEE

Contributions

Salaries, to defined

allowances contribution

and other retirement

benefits plans
Fees ¢ 2R TEEER Total
e Hivf@h  RIRGEIHRR Bar
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETL AREFT ARETTL
103 822 - 925
103 - - 103
51 - - 51
185 - - 185
51 - - 51
493 822 - 1,315

(i) During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group
provided director’s quarter accommodation amounting
to approximately RMB319,000 (2018: RMB822,000) to

Mr. Jiang Xin.

(if) Mr. Cho Yu Chung resigned as executive director of the
Company on 31 January 2018.

As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, the directors of the
Company held share options under the Company’s share
option scheme. Details of which are disclosed in note 26.

During the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018,
no directors received any emoluments from the Group
as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as
compensation for loss of office. No directors has waived
or agreed to waive any emoluments during both years.

(i

HE-Z—hF+=-—A=+—H1
FE  AEEREESLLESSRE
EEBHARES19,000T(=F
— N\ : AR¥8220007T) °

BEFREENR—ZT-N\F—A=+
—BEERRRRITES -

RZE-—NEFERZTE—-N\F+=H
=+—H  ARAEBREARF
B S EERE - BHEER
RERTE) 2 B BRI EE26 o

BE_T-NER-_FT-N\Ft=
A=+—BLFE HEESFER
7K 5 [B] Mig R (o] B <2 4 A 0 2 00 A
FRMAREE R 2 R NBER

B E

c EBEN LM EFEME

KA BRETME -



Annual Report 2019
“E-NEFR

Notes to the Financial Statements

10. INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST
EMOLUMENTS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT’S EMOLUMENTS

(@)

Five highest paid individuals

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments,
one (2018: one) is a director of the Company whose
emoluments are disclosed in note 9. The aggregate
of the emoluments in respect of the remaining
four (2018: four) individuals from the continuing
operations are as follows:

Salaries, allowances and e EMK
other benefits H b 427
Contributions to defined TERRE FUGR IR
contribution retirement plans FTEIfHK

During the years ended 31 December 2019 and
2018, no emoluments were paid or payable by
the Group to the five highest paid individuals as
inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as
compensation for loss of office during both years.

The emoluments of the above four (2018: four)
individuals with the highest emoluments are within
the following bands:

Bt 755 R AR B

For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE_ZT—hhF+-_A=+—HIEFE

10. BEMESALREREERE
B <

(@ BBERSHAL

TEReMEALRE—%
(ZE—N\F: —R)ARQTA
B HMeBRERHFE -
BRTREFELEEH 2TA
“E-N\FmB) AL Z

SEFTIAT :
2019 2018
—E-hFE —E-)N\F
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®FR ARBT T

3,534 3,372
61 59
3,595 3,431

HE_Z-NER_T-N\F
TZA=+—BLEEE A&
B ERALERSHFALTIN
S e RN & 1E R0 5% A
FREAREBEFMAIRINAR
SERS 2 BB 2 BE -
btz (ZF—N\F : @4)
EaMe AT zM& AR M
T

Number of individuals

AB
2019 2018
—E—hEF —E—N\4F
Bands: HA

Nil to HK$1,000,000 ZZ1,000,000/8 7T 2 2

HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001t E
1,500,000/ 7T 1 1

HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 8 TE
2,000,000 7T 1 1
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HE_ZT—hhF+-_A=1+—HIEFE

10. INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST 10.

EMOLUMENTS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT’S EMOLUMENTS
(Continued)

(b) Senior management’s emoluments
The emoluments paid or payable to senior

management (including one (2018: one) highest paid
individual as disclosed above) are within the following

bands:
Bands: A -
Nil to HK$1,000,000 Z % 1,000,000/ 7T,
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 %&cE
2,000,000/ 7T
11. DIVIDENDS 11.

The directors of the Company do not recommend
the payment of a final dividend for the year ended 31
December 2019 (2018: Nil).

BNSENTEREEE (&
B2 (CE—NF—%) L
RRBZBREFAL)ZHE
ERMT -

Number of individuals

A®
2019 2018
—E—hE —E2-N\F
3 3
1 1
4 4

RE

AABEETEHZRENEBEE T —
hE+-A=+—BIEFE 2R
E(ZE—N\F : &) o
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12. LOSS PER SHARE
From continuing and discontinued operations:
The calculation of the basic and diluted loss per share

attributable to owners of the Company is based on the
following data:

Loss for the year attributable R EERERK

to owners of the Company for HEBEMEHN

the purposes of calculating basic NAEHB AESG

and diluted loss per share FREE
Number of shares Bia&H

Weighted average number of ordinary

shares for the purpose of calculating s /T mR
basic loss per share I3 28

Diluted loss per share for the years ended 31 December
2019 and 2018 are the same as the basic loss per share
because the exercise of the Company’s outstanding share
options would have anti-dilutive effect.

St EERERER

Bt 755 R AR B

For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE_ZT—hhF+-_A=+—HIEFE
12. BREE
REFESERERIELEEL .

ARBEBANEEBRERAREE
BRTA T8I

2019 2018
—E-NnF —ET-N\F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%TT ARETTT
(58,624) (19,357)
2019 2018
—E—hF AR
840,000,000 840,000,000

HRITEARE MARITEERER
EREERE BHBE_T-NF
RZZE—NF+ZA=+—HBLF
BB EERESRELNER
Gl
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For the year ended 31 December 2019

BE-_ZT-—NF+_A=+—HIEFE

12. LOSS PER SHARE (Continued) 12.
From continuing operations:
The calculation of the basic and diluted loss per share

from continuing operations attributable to owners of the
Company is based on the following data:

Loss for the year attributable to RARHEE AEEENRN
owners of the Company from REFELERBRIE
continuing and discontinued KE TS 2 518
operations

Adjusted for: Loss for the period from  FHE : KARIEA A

discontinued operation FE{GHEIARR A
attributable to owners of BRI EER 2
the Company [E518
Loss for the purpose of R ESRERREE
calculating basic and diluted loss iR NS
per share from continuing SERE R BB

operations

The denominators used are the same as those detailed
above for both basic and diluted loss per share from
continuing and discontinued operations.

From discontinued operation:
Bas/c /oss per share

Basic loss per share from discontinued operation for the
year ended 31 December 2018 was RMB0.24 cents per
share, based on the loss for the year from discontinued
operation attributable to owners of the Company
amounting to approximately RMB2,004,000 during the
year and the denominators detailed above for basic loss
per share from continuing and discontinued operations.

Diluted /oss per share

Diluted loss per share from discontinued operation for
the year ended 31 December 2018 was the same as the
basic loss per share from discontinued operation because
the exercise of the Company’s outstanding share options
would have anti-dilutive effect.

BREE (&)
REFHECERY
ARBFEAANEBEREFERLEE

BZBRERNREFEBRIIEAT
£ e

2019 2018
—B—-hF —T-N\F
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TT ARETTT

(58,624) (19,357)
- 2,004
(58,624) (17,353)

KERERENERIERERHBZ
BREANBEEBEMERA 2N E
Y8R X ERR -

REBRIEREER !
GIREX R

BE_T-N\Et+-_A=t—81L
FE RECRIEELEXRB B8R
EXEBESERARK0.24 - T3
BRERAFERNRRERARMESF
AREERUEREXHZEBROA
K #2,004,0007T & =X ATt sk B #
BRENECRIEREXRBZEHRE
REBERNDEEE -

GIRAEE R

HRITEARE MARTTERBREZER
EREBXE BHEEZE_FT—/\F
TTA=tT-RALEFERBELL
REXB v BREFHERKXAE
RIMRERT 2 BIRENERER -
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13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Cost:
As at 1 January 2018

Additions
Derecognised upon disposal of
a subsidiary (Note 23(b))
Write-off
Transfer to assets classified
as held for sale
Exchange adjustments

As at 31 December 2018 and
1 January 2019

Additions
Exchange adjustments

As at 31 December 2019

Accumulated depreciation:
As at 1 January 2018
Charge for the year
Eliminated upon disposal of a
subsidiary (Note 23(b))
Eliminated on written off
Transfer to assets classified

as held for sale
Exchange adjustments

As at 31 December 2018 and
1 January 2019

Charge for the year
Exchange adjustments

As at 31 December 2019

Carrying amounts:

As at 31 December 2019

As at 31 December 2018

BE:
R=E-\&—A-H

AE
REE-BHBANER R
(Hiz23)
ik
BRZSEA

JEE
ERAE

FRHE

RZB-NE+ZA=F+-BR

—=

ZT-nE-A-H

hE
BB

RZB-AFt=A=t-A

AhE:
RZT-\$-A-H

REEHY
REE—BMBARRRER
(Hi223)
HERRR
E@Kﬁ\*
LEE
A%

FRHE

2-\Ft-A=t-AR
’E—Hﬁ A-A

AEERR
EiHz

RZE-NF+-A=1-H
IRE(E :
RZZ-NEFZA=+-H

RZZ-\E+ZA=1-H

13. X BMERRE

Furniture,
fixtures and Leasehold Motor  Construction
Buildings equipment improvements  Machineries vehicles in progress Total
& #f
#F  RERZH WREE fa RE ERIR an
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT  ARETT  ARETR  ARETR  ARETR  AREBTT  ARETR
189,574 3,459 23,302 19,829 8,222 28,824 273,210
- 83 133 - - - 216
= (38) = = = = (38)
= = (15,862) = = = (15,862)
(189,574) = (7,439) = = (28,824) (225,837)
- 4 2 - 28 - 34
- 3,508 136 19,829 8,250 - 31,723
= 7 - - - - 7
= 4 3 = 14 = 21
- 3,519 139 19,829 8,264 - 31,751
56,869 2,563 4,444 15,649 7,321 = 86,846
4,004 313 930 466 683 = 6,396
= (38) = = = = (38)
= = (3,459) = = = (3,459)
(59,873) = (1,891) = = = (61,764)
= 2 = = 25 = 27
- 2,840 24 16,115 8,029 - 27,008
- 473 72 1,978 - - 2,523
= 2 1 = 14 = 17
- 3,315 97 18,093 8,043 - 29,548
= 204 42 ,136 221 = 2,208
= 668 112 3,714 221 = 4715
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14. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

As at 1 January 2019
Depreciation
Exchange difference

As at 31 December 2019

Expenses relating to short-term leases and
other leases with lease terms ending on or
before 31 December 2019

Expenses relating to leases of low value
assets, excluding short-term leases
of low value assets

Total cash outflows for leases

14, FHEEE

N=E—nF—A—A
8
5 4

RZE—hE+=—A=+—H

HARAR—_T-hhF+=-_A=+—~H
S ZAEmA R SEE R EMEE

HERAZ Fs
HEEEEEESHABZMAX
TEREEEEEZEREE

HEZRERE AR

¢
g
N

Leased
property
HEYMX

RMB’000
AR®TT

2,397

(1,531)
37

903

499

‘-‘
)

1,590
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15. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries as at 31

December 2019 are as follows:

WHELY
Place of Issued and
incorporation/ fully paid The
establishment and share capital/  Group’s Held Held
type of legal entity registered  effective by the by a
gEmei/ capital  interest  Company  subsidiary
Name of subsidiary BIMER EETRAR F5E HFLE  EMELFE
HELREHR ERERLE k% /dRks EREE i1} i1}
Pan Asia Environmental British Virgin US$200/ 100% 100%
Protection Technologies Islands, limited Ordinary Share
Limited liability company 20057/ LMk
EBRARES
ARAE]
Pan Asia Environmental The PRC, N/A 100% - 100%
Protection (Jiangsu) wholly-foreign- (Note (i)
Company Limited (Note (i) owned enterprise TER
RERR (1% BRAR hE NEBERE (Hitty)
(Kt
Pan Asia Environmental The PRC, HK$100,000,000/ 100% - 100%
Protection (China) wholly-foreign- Registered Capital
Company Limited (Nota (i) owned 100,000,000%7%,/
RERR (FE)EBR A enterprise SRR
(i) hE NEBERE
None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities subsisting
at the end of the year or within any time during the year.
Notes: /;/9152- ;
(i) The English names for these companies which were ()
established in the PRC are not officially registered but
included here as a translation for identification purpose.
Bz A e
(if) As at 31 December 2019, the registered capital of this (ii)
company was not yet injected by the Group.
(i)  The Group had no subsidiaries which have material non- (iii)

controlling interests during the years ended 31 December
2019 and 2018.

Bt 75 R AR B

For the year ended 31 December 2019
BHE_Z-NF+_A=1T—HILLFE

15. RB AT ZRE

R-B-hE+-_H=+—H =&

AR ZEBHBARFHENT :

Proportion of ownership interest

Principal activities
and place of
operations

IEREREETHR

Investment holding/
Hong Kong
RERR /B

Sales of EP products
and equipment,
and provision of
EP construction
engineering services/
the PRC
HERREMRRHE
RRERRERTIE
s/ wE

Sales of EP products
and equipment,
and provision of
EP construction
engineering services/
the PRC
HERREMRRE -
RREERERTIE
B,/

A6 R B8 AN 58 2 4 o] B ) 70 461 AR Y

BARIBEMERESFE -

FZERPBEKILZ AR Z R AT
WHIEREMEL 2B - RS

TSR XX A T A EIREATS -

RZZE—NAF+ZA=+—H " %

NEEMRA HARRAEEEA ©

BE_Z-NEFER-ZE—N\F+=
B=1+—HIFE - AEBEILEH

BRRIGER EAIEIE R
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16. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

Trade receivables (Note (a))
Less: Impairment loss on
trade receivables

Trade receivables, net

Other receivables (Note (b))
Less: Impairment loss on other receivables

Other receivables, net

Consideration receivable from disposal of
property, plant and equipment, and
prepaid lease payments

16. BE 5 R EMRIEA

FEW B 5 3R (Kt (a)
L EAE B RIR R E 1R

FEWE 5 TR IE AR

Hfth UK IR (A15E (b))
B Eopt FEUGRIR 2 BB B 1R

Hit YR F 8

REHENE - BERREAR
BNEEFRNERAE

Contract assets (Note (c)) ERBEBE (Kit(c)
Prepayments and deposits R RIES
Other tax recoverables E AT g B 718

a)

Trade receivables

The Group generally allows credit period ranging
from O to 180 days to its trade customers. Further
details on the Group’s credit policy are set out in
note 31(b)(i).

Credit is offered to customers following an
assessment of their financial abilities and payment
track record. Credit limits are set out for all
customers and these can be exceeded only with
the approval from management. Management also
monitors overdue trade receivables, and follows up
the collection of these receivables.

a)

2019 2018
ZE—-hEF —T-N\F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TR ARETT

86,433 153,815

(49,597) (100,671)

........%8%6 53144

991 3,501

(901) (809)

_____________ %0 . 26%

______________ - . 160,000

36,926 215,836

14,591 22,701

3,335 7,552

34 34

54,886 246,123
EWE 5 RE

AEE-RETEESEPO
Z180HMEEH - FEARE
BEEEBR E—FHE &
M EES1 (b)() °

EENEFHEP Rk

ENFLeHrAEFPEL -
ARRBAEEFPHIEREER
B EFEERELMERTA
HBALEEERE - EEEN
EEBPNEKE SRR A
B B RE WO % ERUGRIA



16. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 16.

Annual Report 2019
—E-hEER

Notes to the Financial Statements

(Continued)

a)

Trade receivables (Continued)

The following is an ageing analysis of trade
receivables, net of impairment loss, presented based
on the invoice date at the end of the reporting
period which approximated the respective revenue
recognition dates:

Less than six months NMEARA
Over six months but less than NMEAU EE—FR
one year

The movements in the loss allowances for
impairment of trade receivables during the year is as
follows:

As at 1 January n—A—H8

Net impairment losses recognised/ REFELEER L
(reversed) from continuing BE#ER/(B#E)
operations WEEEFE

Write-off as unrecoverable A5 1E £ U B FE M 5

As at 31 December R+—A=+—8H

The Group applied the ECL prescribed by HKFRS
9, and the impairment methodology of ECL model is
set out in note 31(b)(i).

Bt 75 R AR B

For the year ended 31 December 2019
BHE_Z-NF+_A=1T—HILLFE

FEWE 5 R HAFRE ()

a) EWREZHEE)

T A B 5 3R R 1
LRSI
BB GTERE 8IS
b 48 40 I W MBS R 2 R
P -

2019 2018
—E—hEF —E-N\F
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TT ARETT

31,730 42,015
5,106 11,129
36,836 53,144

FARZEWE ZFKIE 2 RIERE

BREEZEENT -
2019 2018
—E-hE T N\&
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TRT ARETT

100,671 130,695
29,037 (1,385)
(80,111) (28,639
49,597 100,671

REBERAB AN ERELER
FORMEZTEHREERBE -
mBAEEEEER ZRER
SEB A M FES1 () (i) °
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BE_Z-NF+_A=1+—HILLFE

16. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
(Continued)

b)

c)

Other receivables

The movements in the loss allowances for impairment
of other receivables during the year, including both
specific and collective loss components, are as
follows:

As at 1 January
Net impairment loss recognised/(reversed)
from continuing operations

R—H—8
KREFBELEEEZ
BE#R(BE&E)

16. BB 5 R EMKE (&)

b)

B (& 1R B

As at 31 December

Reversal of impairment loss on other receivables
represents the recovery of debts from debtors
previously considered to be impaired.

Contract assets

The contract assets primarily represent the retention
receivables from the contracts with customers. The
retention receivables (generally 5% to 10% of the
total contracted value) are amounts which are not
paid by the customers until expiry of the retention
period (generally one to two years) as specified in
the contracts.

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment
of contract assets during the year are as follows:

As at 1 January
Impairment loss recognised from
continuing operations

As at 31 December

wR—H—H
KEFEEEEBLZ
ERERRERR

R+—A=+—H

c)

W+=A=+—8

H fth P& U R 1R

F R H A B YRR E B 18
BRE2E (BREELRERES
BE )T

2019 2018
“ZE—hE —ZT—)\F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTFE ARETT
809 4,331

92 (3,522)

901 809

H fth /8 Yo ok TR (B 1R B (B 3
Z B AR 2% R0 (B B FE W % F 1B
BARBERERE -

EREE

EREEXEEKXBEFER
Z FEWE RFRIA o JEUE RFK
RA(—RBERREEIS%E
10%)IEEERRATAZE R
HE (BE R —EMF) Em
BEPAXNZE® -

FRNz 6 RAERERRRERE
ZEN

2019 2018
“E—hE —ZT—)\F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTFE ARETT
1,528 -
1,528 -
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CASH AND BANK BALANCES

Cash and bank balances comprise cash held by the Group
and short-term bank deposits with an original maturity of
three months or less. As at 31 December 2019, the bank
balances and deposits carried interests at the prevailing
market interest rate which ranged from 0% to 0.3% (2018:
0% to 0.3%) per annum.

As at 31 December 2019, the Group had bank balances
and cash denominated in RMB that were either not freely
convertible or were subject to exchange controls in the
PRC, amounting to approximately RMB1,202,798,000
(2018: RMB1,037,697,000).

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

Bt 75 R AR B

For the year ended 31 December 2019
BHE_Z-NF+_A=1T—HILLFE

17. RERBITER

ReRBRTHEREEAEEREZ
RekFREINHPER=AHUT
ZRBRTER -R_T—NF+
“A=t—R - RITERRTFRER
BOIMBSENENFEE0.3%(=
T—N\F: TE0.3%)8 °

R-ZZE—NAFE+_A=+—8 -
REBEAETERNTRA B KB
HZHEEHTEZUAREE
BZRTEBMRESHAARE
1,202,798,0007C (= ZE— N5 : A
R #1,037,697,0007T) °

18. EREZ RHEMFIE

2019 2018

—2-A% T F

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR%TR ARBTFT

Trade payables (Note (a)) B S8 (Kt () 29,148 16,342

Accruals and other payables FERTE A I b FE < RIB 18,468 1517

Amount due to a related company FE1S — & BB A B U

(Note 19) (H1:£19) 7,320 =
Financial liabilities measured at REHEN AT EN SR B G

amortised cost 54,936 27,453

Other PRC tax payables EAth pE TR B A I8 9,254 9,089

64,190 36,542

a) Ageing analysis of trade payables

The ageing analysis of trade payables at the end of
each reporting period based on invoice date is as

a) BENEZREZREDN

e B ZIAN & S HIRIZ
BHERMZREDITAOT

follows:
2019 2018
ZE-hE —T—N\F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TR ARETTT
Less than six months ~NEAR 17,815 15,354
Over six months but less than one year 7N{EA M F1E—FR 2,035 -
Over one year but less than two years —F A FERFR 8,310 -
Over two years ESVN 988 988

29,148 16,342
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19. AMOUNT DUE TO A RELATED COMPANY

Name of related company
) NGIEL

Praise Fortune Limited

Relationship with the Group
BEKERE

The Company’s immediate and

19. FEE—REREE A FRIE

20.

ultimate controlling party
ARRZ B R&EEHTT

The amount due to a related company was non-trade in
nature, unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

LEASE LIABILITIES

The following table shows the remaining contractual
maturities of the Group’s lease liabilities at the end of the
current and previous reporting periods and at the date of

2019 2018
—E2-hE —E-)N\F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®FT ARET T
7,320 -

e —FRIRAEE R BIRIATISEE B 1%
g EmEA - RRNAREKRER -

HERRE
TRETNE A RBEREHIAR

BEEHEVBRELENE16IRH
B "EEHEREZNBRAR

20.

transition to HKFRS 16: Z|838 -
31 December 2019 1 January 2019
—E-hE+ZHB=1+-H —E-N1E—-H—H
Present value Total Present value Total
of the minimum minimum  of the minimum minimum
lease payments lease payments  lease payments  lease payments
RERERENRE REHEREME SEEEERE SEEETUELS
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TR AR®TRT ARETT ARETRT
Within 1 year —FR 926 938 1,492 1,572
After 1 year but within 2 years ~ —F%EMER - - 905 918
926 938 2,397 2,490
Less: Total future interest W ARFIERT A%

expenses (12) (939)
Present value of lease liabilities  TE&ELRE 926 2,397

Note:

The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 using the

modified retrospective approach and adjusted the
opening balances as at 1 January 2019 to recognise lease
liabilities relating to leases which were previously classified
as operating leases under HKAS 17.

M AKBEEEREERIAEN T E

RIERMBERBHBIRELEAFE 1657
VWEABR-ZE-hF—H—BZ
HITNAEER - ATERELSERTIRIBE B
S EAFITROBRELEHE
MEEEHEEEE -
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CORPORATE BONDS

During the year ended 31 December 2017, the Company
issued five tranches of 3 years to 7.5 years corporate
bonds with aggregate principal amount of HK$25,000,000
(equivalent to approximately RMB21,278,000) which will be
matured during the period from October 2020 to May 2025.

During the year ended 31 December 2017, Mr. Jiang Xin,
the executive director of the Company, and Mr. Jiang
Quanlong, father of Mr. Jiang Xin, subscribed 4 years
corporate bonds with principal amount of HK$10,500,000
each (equivalent to approximately RMB8,944,000 each)
which will be matured in October 2021. The rest of three
tranches of 3 years to 7.5 years corporate bonds with
aggregate principal amount of HK$4,000,000 (equivalent
to approximately RMB3,390,000) were subscribed by
three independent third parties which will be matured
during the period from October 2020 to May 2025.

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Company
issued one tranche of 6 months corporate bond with
a principal amount of HK$30,000,000 (equivalent to
approximately RMB26,604,000) to an independent third
party which matured in May 2019. The mature date of this
tranche of corporate bond was extended to May 2020.

The corporate bonds are unlisted, unsecured and
interest bearing at a fixed interest rate of 6% per annum
with interest payable annually in arrears. The effective
interest rates of the corporate bonds are ranged from
approximately 6% to 11.6%.

21.

Bt 75 R AR B

For the year ended 31 December 2019
BHE_Z-NF+_A=1T—HILLFE

DNEES

HE-_ZT—+tHF+-_A=+—HIE
FE ARAIETRHEIFER7.5F
RNAES A& 4B ¥ R25,000,000
BT (BERHARK21,278,000
) R —_E_EFE+ARE_Z
—RFERAHMEE -

HE-_Z—+tFt+=-A=+—H8H1t
FE - BELE (RARTMITESR)
MERELE(BSLEZRER)
BERBLIFRRES  BhAEHE
£10,500,000/8 T (IHERBMH 4
ANER#8,944,00070) * HR =T =
—F+AEH BT =HAeEE
4,000,000 7T (HHERK AR
3,390,00070) Z3F &7 5F QA&
FCHE-ZRBIYBE=HALTRE
ZEBHEBN_ZE_TFTAEE
T -AFEAAHMEE -

HE-_Z-—N\F+=ZA=+—H1t
FE ARAA—RBBULE=HE
T HeEARRES  AeHEA
30,000,000/ 7T (FHER L AR
26,604,0007T) * ZEHFR=ZZFT—N
FRAZHE - ZHAREFEHA
EL§1—7—7¢£H°

RAEEFARLET - EEH AR EIZ
BEFFE6%TE  ERETFER
WE 2 FEIS R B - RAElfEHRZ AN
FNENT46%ZE11.6% °
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21. CORPORATE BONDS (Continued) 21.

Movements of the corporate bonds during the year are as

follows:

At 1 January

Issuance of corporate bonds
Effective interest expenses
Interests paid

Exchange adjustments

At 31 December

Analysed for reporting purpose as follows:
Current portion
Non-current portion

Total

BREHOWHIT -
BIERER
FEENERER 9

st

Carrying amounts repayable (based on the scheduled
repayable dates set out in the subscription agreements):

Within one year

Over one year but not more than
two years

Over two years but not more than
five years

Over five years

Total

—FR
B —FETBEREF

BAREETRATE
BBEE

#Et

DNEES (&)

RAEFREAZEBMT ¢

2019 2018
—E—hE —T—-N\F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT ARBEFIT
48,035 20,440

- 26,604

3,067 1,600
(2,941) (1,323)
1,093 714
49,254 48,035
27,952 26,487
21,302 21,548
49,254 48,035

BEEEE(RERBHHMAEL

REEEE A
2019 2018
—e-nE -2 N\F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR  ARETX
27,952 26,487
18,980 814
820 19,294
1,502 1,440
49,254 48,035
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22. INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED 22.
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

a) The movements of tax payable in the
consolidated statement of financial position

during the year are as follows:

As at 1 January

Provision for the year
— PRC Enterprise Income Tax
— from continuing operations
(Note 7(a))

Income tax paid during the year

Derecognised upon disposal of a
subsidiary (Note 23(b))

As at 31 December

m—A—H8

FRNEE

— BB
—KERBEREER
(H1it7(a)

FAENAEHR

REE—FRBERRRBKLE
1®R (M1i#23(b))

R+—A=+—8H

BEZZT—NF+=

A=+—BIEFE

REPBRRRAZTEHR

a) HEMBRRRAIZESH

BHRERNZEEBWMT :

2019 2018
—E—-NF —E-N\F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT AREEF T

2,521 11,125

- 2,521
- (237)
- (10,888)
2,521 2,521
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22. INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION (#&)

(Continued)

b) Deferred taxation

The components of deferred tax assets recognised
in the consolidated statement of financial position

b) EZEHIE

and the movements during the year are as follows: ;R :

As at 1 January 2018

Charged to profit or loss from
continuing operations
(Note 7(a))

As at 31 December 2018 and
1 January 2019

Fair value

adjustment on

Impairment trade receivables
loss on with extended

22. REMBRREZAZHAEHR

RSB R R R 2
EIERE A B 2 AR5 R 2

Under-provision in previous years BAFEREETE

(Note 7a))

As at 31 December 2019

trade and other credit terms
receivables and others Total
BEREENY
EkEAR FA )
HtRE REMATE
R EER BEREM @i
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFTL AREFT AREFTL
RZE-\&—A—H (2,832) (160) (2,992)
TEERYH
REFELEER
(Bit78) 435 160 595
RZZB-\Ft-A=+t-BR
“E-N1F¥-H—H (2,397) - (2,397)
(Biit7(a) 2,397 = 2,397

RZZ-nFE+=A=1—H = -
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22. INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
(Continued)

b)

Deferred taxation (Continued)

Pursuant to the Enterprise Income Tax Laws of the
PRC (the “New EIT Laws”), a 10% withholding tax
is levied on dividends declared to foreign investors
from foreign investment enterprise established in the
PRC. The requirement is effective from 1 January
2008 and applies to earnings after 31 December
2007. A lower withholding tax rate may be applied
if there is a tax arrangement between the PRC and
the jurisdiction of the foreign investors. For the
Group, the applicable tax rate is 10%. The Group
is therefore liable to withholding taxes on dividends
distributed by those subsidiaries established in the
PRC in respect of earnings generated from 1 January
2008 onwards. The Group recognised deferred tax
liabilities in respect of expected distributable earnings
from its subsidiaries established in the PRC since 1
January 2008 with reference to the Group’s dividend
policy, no matter whether any dividends have been
declared out of such earnings by the subsidiaries at
the reporting date. The directors of the Company
will review the funding requirements of the Group
from time to time and revise the dividend policy of its
subsidiaries as appropriate.

A 3 R MY =

For the year ended 31 December 2019
BHE_Z-NF+_A=1T—HILLFE

. mEMBRRRAZHAER

(&

b)

EERE (1)

BEFEGEMREHE ([Ch
TEMEBEEY])  EHEK
SN R)INE B FE M INE AR B E P
KA AR B ZBEBR10% T8
MolBEEB_TT/N\F—H
—HEBEW  BAR-ZZTt
FH-A=+—HENETF -
fisi H B B2 HN B 3% 3 5 TR 1A
BETEBRBZY - KRR
EREERIBME - TAEE
ﬁﬁ?’kﬁﬁm < A510% ° &
AR B AR B A L
W%QTF477A¢ A—
B DAT& EE A 89 & F BT 99 Ik 9 AR
BHEMENR - BZZFZN
F—A—BUAERF B ZH
B8 A Bl & T8 BA A] 2 R & F
T AEERBEEREER
ﬁ AR IBBE - Emil B
AR BEARBEBZRER
FIREBEEMARE c AR 7§$
HARRNAEENE S
¥ - FL e EMB A
f&% BB R
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22. INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
(Continued)

b)

Deferred taxation (Continued)

As at 31 December 2019, the Group has unrecognised
deferred tax liabilities of approximately RMB33,855,000
(2018: RMB38,105,000) in relation to withholding
tax on undistributed earnings of approximately
RMB338,552,000 (2018: RMB381,047,000) due to the
retention of undistributed earnings by the subsidiaries
established in the PRC as determined by the directors
of the Company.

There are no income tax consequences attaching
to the payment of dividends by the Company to its
shareholders.

As at 31 December 2019, deductible temporary
differences in respect of tax losses not recognised
in these financial statements were approximately
RMB13,964,000 (2018: RMB10,323,000). No deferred
tax asset has been recognised in respect of
such deductible temporary differences due to the
unpredictability of future profit streams. Included
in the above are tax losses of approximately
RMB13,964,000 (2018: RMB10,323,000) which can
only be carried forward for a maximum period of five
years.

22. BE

(&)

b)

BBRRRAZ PGB

IEFERLE (4])

RZE—NF+A=1+—
B A"EEERDIKEFEL
AR #338,552,0007C (=&
—\F : AR#381,047,000
L) BB BB RER
BRLERBEBEABAN AR
33,855,000 (ZF—\F :
AR#38,105,0007T) * J5H
RARREBRERER BHK
SR B A RMREB R D IR AT
FTEK °

ARRAERRZ M 2 S
BIMEEVEE

RZE—NhEF+_A=+—
B ARABBEHRERERD
MIBEENENEREEL
BARKA13,064,0007T (=F
—N\F: AR¥10,323,000
JC) ° FAR AR R FIE 2 A TE
i AEEIWARFZETED
TREZEBRRARCHBEE -
FHTBEREHEBEEBEELOA
R#13,964,0007C (=& —/\
F: AR#10,323,0007T) °
ErEE 5L BEAF o
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Disposal of equity interest in Wuxi Pan Asia a)

As disclosed in note 6, the Disposal was completed
on 16 January 2018. The gain from the Disposal is
analysed as follows:

23. HEH B A

HERGZ D RE

MK 6 ME  HEEED
RZZE—NF—A+H=
e HEEEZKRIF SN

™
Cash consideration received BEWIRER(E
Analysis of assets and liabilities over which S&ERFIENSERARZ
control was lost: S :

Property, plant and equipment
Prepayments for consultation, marketing and

FRE ISR R E ERMTE

promotional services (N
Deferred tax assets BEFITREE
Inventories FE
Trade and other receivables FEWE 5 Rk H b 3kIE
Pledged bank deposits B MIRITF K
Tax recoverable ATk B 7 IR
Trade and other payables e E S R E M FIR
Deferred tax liabilities BIERIAB A
Deferred government grants R SE BT 44 B
Net assets disposed of HE s EE TR
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary: HERBARZWS :
Cash consideration received BUERERE
Net assets disposed of HEZEEFH

Gain on disposal of a subsidiary (Note 6)

S B 2R 2 Wk (HaE6)

Net cash inflows arising on disposal: HEZRERASHE :

Cash consideration received BEYERENRE

Less: Cash and cash equivalents disposed of B HEZEREERER
R&EE

Net cash inflows from disposal of a subsidiary

HEMBARZASRAZFR

ARBETT
RMB’000

44,000

184,823

42,050
406

115,657
68,974

6,543

77,523
(448,834)
(1,218)
(2,708)

43,216

44,000
(43,216)

784

44,000

44,000
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23. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

b)

Disposal of equity interest in Lianyungang Minxin b)

Investment Limited (“Lianyungang Minxin”)

On 283 April 2018, the Group entered into a share
transfer agreement with an independent third party
to dispose of its 100% equity interest in Lianyungang
Minxin at a cash consideration of RMB10,150,000.
Lianyungang Minxin was principally engaged in
undertaking of EP construction engineering services.
The disposal was completed on 30 April 2018. The

gain from the disposal is analysed as follows:

Cash consideration received

Analysis of assets and liabilities over which
control was lost:

Property, plant and equipment

Equity instrument at fair value through other
comprehensive income

Other receivables

Bank balances

Trade and other payables

Tax payable

Net liabilities disposed of

Gain on disposal of a subsidiary:
Cash consideration received
Net liabilities disposed of

Gain on disposal of a subsidiary

Net cash inflows arising on disposal:
Cash consideration received
Less: Cash and cash equivalents disposed of

Net cash inflows from disposal of a subsidiary

Note: The amount of RMB9,000,000 accumulated in the

23. HEMB LT (&)

HEEZEEROLREARAT

(TEEBRL ] RE

R-ZE—N\FNWA=-+=H -
NEBE—ZBTFE =L
e ERE - AHEHERE
EHERNL100%MKE - Wek
BAARK10,150,0007T ° &
EFRODEBEREAERRE
RIERE -HEER_Z—

NEMA=+HEKX - HEZ

WS AT T
ARBFIT
RMB’000
BUWIRESRE 10,150
RERHENESERARZ
S :
VI - B KRS -
BAFEFAEMEZEBEZ
I A =
H A e U IR 388
IR1T4E 5 7
JENE 5 R HEAFIE (8,059)
FEfSFIIR (10,888)
LEZEEFE (18,552)
HEMBATRZKS :
BUWIRESR(E 10,150
HEZEBEFR 18,552
HENB ARz W 28,702
HEZRERARHE :
BEWIRER(E 10,150
B HEZEERER
REIE B 7)
HENB AR ZRERAFE 10,143

At AR AFES AR MER

Group’s fair value reserve (non-recycling) in relation
to the equity instrument at fair value through other
comprehensive income is transferred to the Group’s
retained profits upon completion of the disposal.

WazEm TAZAEER
FERERE(TAEMNFEA)R
&% AR#9,000,0007T
ERNHETRAEREARE
B 2 R H o
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24. SHARE CAPITAL

Authorised and issued share capital

Ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each ZRRETEO. 15T £ Z 28 %

Authorised: ERE -

As at 1 January and 31 December R—HA—HX
+—A=+—H

Issued and fully paid: BERITREAE :

As at 1 January and 31 December M—HA—HBX&
t=—A=+—H

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive
dividends as declared from time to time and are entitled
to one vote per share at meetings of the Company. All
ordinary shares rank equally with regard to the Company’s
residual assets.

Bt 75 R AR B

For the year ended 31 December 2019
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24, R

EEREBITRA

2019 and 2018
“E-AEFERIS-IN\EF

Number of
shares Amount
Ein 8 H of
’000 HK$’000
Thg F#&x
4,000,000 400,000
840,000 84,000

(Equivalent to
approximately
RMB78,073,000)
(HERHBARR
78,073,0007C)

EBEFEAGRBUDRTBEEIRL
BREXLBENARAIANE LIAF
—ERE - 2R EBREARAR

BREEMSBRF °
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25. RESERVES

The reconciliation between the opening and closing
balances of each component of the Group’s consolidated
equity is set out in the consolidated statement of changes
in equity. Details of the changes in the Company’s
individual components of equity between the beginning
and the end of the year are set out below:

25. %15

AEENGAERSARIEY 2F
MR FREBRZHBRINEG S HE
BEYR o A EHE R O (8 B AR AP
MRFENREFR2EOZEFIEH
SR

Attributable to owners of the Company

. INGE EPN
Share
Share Share  Contributed  Translation option Accumulated
capital premium surplus reserve reserve losses Total
23 KR BARE EREE BRERE RHER &g
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT  ARETT ARETT ARETn ARETR ARETR ARETR
Note2d)  (Notef)  (Notefii)  (Note®)  (Note ()
(Hizkod) (Hrzk) B GiE) (FrsE)
As at 1 January 2018 R=E-\5-A-H 78,073 466,844 372,178 (88,771) 14,949 (262,878 585,395
Loss for the year ERER - - - - - (3.211) (3.211)
Other comprehensive income A2 Ak
- Exchange difference on translation ~ — B EEHKHEXE
of financial statements to EHRRELY
presentation currency ERES - - - 28,913 - - 28,913
Total comprehensive income/(loss) ~ £R2ENE/(B8)
for the year Lt - - - 28913 - (3.211) 25,702
Transfer to accumulated losses REREXHEER
upon lapse of share options REER - - - - (8,309) 8,309 =
As at 31 December 2018 and RZB-N\E
1 January 2019 +-A=t+-8k
~E-75-A-E 78073 46684 372178 (54,859) 6640 (257780 611,007
Loss for the year FRER = = = = = (16,510) (16,510)
QOther comprehensive income Eth2ERa
- Exchange difference on translation ~ —#EHEHXE
of financial statements to ZHEREE Y
presentation currency ERES - - - 13,488 - - 13,488
Total comprehensive income/(oss) M2 EYRE/ (BiE)
for the year ek = = - 13,488 - (16,510) (8,022)
As at 31 December 2019 RZB-NE
+-B=+-H 78073 46684 372178 (#1,370) 6640 (2742000 608075
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25. RESERVES (Continued)

Share premium and reserves

J

)

77)

Share premium

Under the Companies Law (Revised) of the Cayman
Islands, the share premium of the Company is
distributable to the owners of the Company provided
that immediately following the date on which the
dividend is proposed to be distributed, the Company
will be in a position to pay off its debts as they fall
due in the ordinary course of business.

Special reserve

The special reserve of the Group represents the
difference between the nominal value and share
premium of the subsidiaries acquired and the
nominal value of the Company’s shares issued for
the acquisition of these subsidiaries at the time of
group reorganisation immediately prior to the listing
of the Company’s shares on 1 December 2007.

Contributed surplus

The contributed surplus represents the difference
between the nominal value of the ordinary shares
issued by the Company and the net assets value of
subsidiaries acquired through an exchange of shares
pursuant to the group reorganisation.

Enterprise expansion reserve and statutory surolus
reserve

Statutory surplus reserve and enterprise expansion
reserve are set up by the Company’s subsidiaries
established in the PRC by way of appropriation
from the profit for the year in accordance with the
relevant laws and regulations in the PRC. These
subsidiaries are required to allocate certain percent
of its net profit for the year as reported in their PRC
statutory accounts to the statutory surplus reserve
and enterprise expansion reserve until such reserves
reach 50% of registered capital. These reserves
are non-distributable. The statutory surplus reserve
can be used to make up prior year losses of these
subsidiaries, if any, and can be applied in conversion
into capital by means of capitalisation issues. The
enterprise expansion reserve is used for expanding
the capital base of these subsidiaries by means of
capitalisation issue.

Bt 75 R AR B
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25. fi#tl (&)

BRAD R 18 R ot 8
) RGEE

)

1)

REREFHE RRE (KE
F1)  ARBZ B EER D
KT ARBERA @ EREE
EORKREERZR  AAF]
ABRENEEN B EEKBIR
FEHZ(EE

1B E

A9 B2 45 BB IR AT RS
BA R 2 B R R R
BARRABRHN - FELE+
—A—B LB AARARNEE
AR 51 S I 2
BITRGZEEL £ -

A

BABBREARRERITER
BeHEERESEEHEH
BMRAEEBNB AR CEES
ERERE -

ERERFEREERG #E

AEBARHEBRERBERFRE
TR R AR B Z M B A
AR BB BIERERER
DBEREMRYL - ZEME
RAIMADEEFENEERA
RRRERZETADLFEL
NEZERRHEIEEER
fE  BEEABFHBEEEM
BARZ50% ° ZEEETAD
& ° A TE 2 B feh 18 T R 00 o8 47
BEFEZSHBARZER
(B RAIABERNLEITZT
ABROER - DEBRME
BRARAERc#T2 7R
RZEMB AT 2 EANERE -
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25. RESERVES (Continued)
Share premium and reserves (Continued)
v)  Translation reserve

The translation reserve comprises all foreign
exchange differences arising from the translation
of the financial statements of the entities within the
Group whose functional currency is other than RMB.
The reserve is dealt with in accordance with the
accounting policies set out in note 2(s).

vi))  Share option reserve

The share option reserve arose upon on the grant of
share options of the Company and is dealt with in
accordance with the accounting policies set out in
note 2(o)(ii).

vi)  Fair value reserve (non-recycling)

The fair value reserve (non-recycling) comprises the
cumulative net change in the fair value of equity
instrument designated at FVOCI under HKFRS 9 that
are held at the end of the reporting period (see note
2(d)).

Distributable reserves of the Company

Under the Companies Law (Revised) of the Cayman
Islands, share premium and contributed surplus are
distributable to shareholders, subject to the condition that
the Company cannot declare or pay a dividend, or make a
distribution out of share premium and contributed surplus
if (i) it is, or would after the payment be unable to pay its
liabilities as they become due, or (i) the realisable value of
its assets would thereby be less than the aggregate of its
liabilities and its share capital account.

As at 31 December 2019, the Company’s reserves available
for distribution to shareholders amounted to approximately
RMB564,732,000 (2018: RMB581,242,000), computed
in accordance with the Companies Law (Revised) of
the Cayman lIslands and the Company’s articles of
association. This includes the Company’s share premium of
approximately RMB466,844,000 (2018: RMB466,844,000)
and contributed surplus of approximately RMB372,178,000
(2018: RMB372,178,000), less accumulated losses of
approximately RMB274,290,000 (2018: RMB257,780,000),
which are available for distribution.
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26. SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company’s share option scheme (the “Share Option
Scheme”) was adopted pursuant to a resolution passed
on 1 December 2007. The purpose of the Share Option
Scheme is to enable the Company to grant options to
selected participants as incentives or rewards for their
contributions to the Group. Under the Share Option
Scheme, the directors of the Company may grant options
to the following eligible participants:

)

i

Vi)

vii)

viii)

any employee (whether full-time or part-time,
including any executive director but excluding any
non-executive director) of the Company, any of its
subsidiaries or any entity (“Invested Entity”) in which
the Group holds an equity interest;

any non-executive director (including independent
non-executive director) of the Company, any of its
subsidiaries or any Invested Entity;

any supplier of goods or services to any member of
the Group or any Invested Entity;

any customer of the Group or any Invested Entity;

any person or entity that provides research,
development or other technological support to the
Group or any Invested Entity;

any shareholder of any member of the Group or any
Invested Entity or any holder of any securities issued
by any member of the Group or any Invested Entity;

any advisor (professional or otherwise) or consultant
to any area of business or business development of
any member of the Group or any Invested Entity; and

any other group or classes of participants who have
contributed or may contribute by way of joint venture,
business alliance or other business arrangement to
the development and growth of the Group.

26.
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([REERDZEMNEE (T
wEBEGRE - BRERNT
B ETEREMIFERTE
%)

ARTA] - EEAIWERRHIE
AREBR ZEMERITES
(BRBIMFNTESR) :

[F) < 5% B {E AT K B 2 B) sl AE ]
REBEBREHEMIMB 2
Al L FER

ARMRETRERR ER
EF

RAEB R AREEBIRM
BioE » REIEMBHRXRFZ
EAALHER

REEEMKE QR SAAER
BERBZEMRRIHAAEER
FAIKE R RS E AR EERE
BUOI2EMNILHF2EMNFEA
A

AEBEMMKE QB REMKR
BERZEMNEBBBLER
BRZEAZAA(THED
RBZEAD)HER : &

BRAEDLE EBHBERY
AEBEZBEREERFLEMD
XM ERRAEIELR
Bl MR EESER 22
BE o

137



138

Pan Asia Environmental Protection Group Limited

RERREERRAF

Notes to the Financial Statements
R e

For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE_Z-NF+_A=+—HILFE

26. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

The total number of shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all options to be granted under the Share
Option Scheme and any other share option scheme of
the Group must not in aggregate exceed 10% of the
shares in issue on the day on which trading of the shares
commenced on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
(“General Scheme Limit”"). The total number of shares
available for issue under the Share Option Scheme is
80,000,000 (including those granted but not yet to be
exercised), representing 9.5% of the issued shares of the
Company as at 31 December 2019 (2018: 9.5%).

The maximum number of shares in respect of which
options may be granted under the Share Option Scheme
must not in aggregate exceed 30% of the shares of the
Company in issue from time to time. The number of
shares in respect of which options may be granted to any
participant is not permitted to exceed 1% of the shares
of the Company in issue during the 12-month period
before the date of grant without prior approval from the
Company’s shareholders. Any grant of options under the
Share Option Scheme to a director, chief executive or
substantial shareholder of the Company or any of their
respective associates (as defined under the Listing Rules)
must be approved by the independent non-executive
directors of the Company. In addition, any grant of options
to a substantial shareholder or an independent non-
executive director or any of their respective associates in
excess of 0.1% of the shares of the Company in issue and
with an aggregate value (based on the closing price of the
Company’s shares at the date of grant) in excess of HK$5
million within any 12-month period must be approved by
shareholders of the Company in general meeting.

Unless otherwise determined by the directors of the
Company and stated in the offer of the grant of options to
a grantee, there is one year vesting period required under
the Share Option Scheme for the holding of an option
before it can be exercised.
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26. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued) 26. EBRRESE (&)
An offer for the grant of options to a grantee shall be MERAELNREEREZL A
accepted by no later than 21 days from the date of offer. TENEXAEE21 BRER - &
HK$1 per grant of options is payable on the acceptance MER 2 BERERERTHDBERE
of the grant of options. Options may be exercised in XTI o AR AR IR AR AT
accordance with the terms of the Share Option Scheme B 2 R ATE - WRER B AR #E AT &
and expiring in accordance with the terms of the Share 2GR BT W TIBE R
Option Scheme or upon the expiry of the tenth anniversary KB (ARBEERBLE) -
of the Share Option Scheme, whichever is the earlier.
The exercise price is determined by the directors of the TEEBRARRIESZEE  MAD
Company, and shall not be less than the highest of (i) the BIER()E L Z4 B B RS AW
closing price of the Company’s shares as stated in the BRAFARTRG 2WTE : (i)
daily quotations sheets of the Stock Exchange on the ZERNELNA R A EZ B 5
date of the offer of grant; (i) the average closing price of R BEMERMEARARG 2
the Company’s shares as stated in the daily quotations FHWTE - R(iAR RO EE
sheets of the Stock Exchange for the five trading days (UKEmBERE) -
immediately preceding the date of the offer of grant; and
(iii) the nominal value of the Company’s share.
a) The terms and conditions of the share options a) RTFEEREEBEREZGER
granted to directors and employees are as RARHIME
follows:
Number of
share
options Contractual
granted Vesting life of options
=i conditions TRRRiE
BikiE® A BEEH aREH
Granted to directors: RTES 2B -
—on 11 June 2012 ——F——4F 5,000,000 one year 10 years
~NAT—H —4 45
Granted to employees: KTRE 2B
—on 11 June 2012 ——F——F 30,000,000 one year 10 years
~NA+—H —4 45
Total number of share = B I i 2
options granted 35,000,000
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26. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

a)

The terms and conditions of the share options
granted to directors and employees are as
follows: (Continued)

On 11 June 2012, 39,000,000 share options were
granted to directors, senior management and
employees of the Group under the Company’s Share
Option Scheme at a consideration of HK$1 for
each offer of which 35,000,000 share options were
accepted in July 2012. Each option gives the holder
the right to subscribe for one ordinary share of
HK$0.1 each of the Company. These share options
vested on 11 June 2013, and will be exercisable
until 10 June 2022. The exercise price is HK$0.83
per share. As at 31 December 2019, the outstanding
share options granted and accepted by directors and
employees was 32,500,000 (2018: 32,500,000).

No share options were exercised during the years
ended 31 December 2019 and 2018.

26. BIRERTE (&)

a)

RYIEEREEEREZHER
RARHEMT (&)

RZZE——F~A+—8"
RIEAR QR 2 B ER S A
BH1BTHRERNAEEE
ZE SRAEBABREER
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26. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

b)

The number and weighted average exercise

price of share options granted and accepted by

directors and employees are as follows:

Outstanding at beginning of ENRATE
the year

Lapsed during the year FRER

Outstanding at end of the year ~ F#RHAIT{E

Bt 75 R AR B

For the year ended 31 December 2019
BHE_Z-NF+_A=1T—HILLFE

26. B ERTE ()
by ERHAEEREECEMZ

Exercisable at end of the year ~ F#& A F471F

BREHE RNEFITEE
mE
2019 2018
- b 2 —T-N\F
Weighted Weighted
average average
exercise exercise
price Number of price Number of
MiEFLY  share options MEFH  share options
fTER ERESE T8 RRESE
HK$0.83#&TC 32,500,000 HK$1.318T 42,900,000
- - HK$2.81%57L (10,400,000)
HK$0.83#TT 32,500,000  HK$0.83/%7T 32,500,000
HK$0.83# 7T 32,500,000  HK$0.83/%7T 32,500,000

The options outstanding as at 31 December 2019
had an exercise price of HK$0.83 (2018: HK$0.83)
and had a weighted average remaining contractual

life of 2.441 years (2018: 3.441 years).

RZZE—NF+=-—A=+—8
MARITEEREZITEEAR
0.83%8 L (ZZ— & :0.83
BIT) - IEFHFIERE BFR
B2.401F (ZF—/)\F : 3.441
F) o
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26. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

26. BT (&)

c) Fair value of share options and assumptions c) BREZAFERER
The fair value of services received in return for share AR EmMES 2 R% 2
options granted is measured by reference to the fair AFEZERBEREZ AFE
value of share options granted. The estimate of the e BERBREZMFTAT
fair value of the share options granted is measured B[ ZEAAEEERRN 5T
based on the Binomial Option Pricing Model. The o BREZARFHAIE
contractual life of the share option is used as an Nz —BHARY -
input into this model.
Share options
granted on
Tz g
11 June 2012
Fair value of share options and BEREZATFERMEE —E—_F
assumptions ~A+—H
Fair value at measurement date Ret=E B8z A E HK$0.25& 7T
Fto
HK$0.27#7T
Share price f& B HK$0.83i# T
Exercise price TEE HK$0.83#7T
Expected volatility (expressed as TEARR R (VAT =18z Bt
weighted average volatility EEEN IR
used in the modeling under IR IERR)
the Binomial Option Pricing Model) 54%
Option life (expressed as weighted FEARESE B (LA 1B = HARE
average life used in the modeling EEEN IR
under the Binomial Option IR F KRR ) 10 years
Pricing Model) +F
Expected dividends TEHARR 2 4.82%
Risk-free interest rate 4 [ e 1) 2
(based on Exchange Fund Notes) (REBEINEESZE) 1.13%

The expected volatility is based on the historic
volatility (calculated based on the weighted average
remaining life of the share options), adjusted for
any expected changes to future volatility based on
publicly available information. Expected dividends
are based on historical dividends. Changes in the
subjective input assumptions could materially affect
the fair value estimate.

There were one year vesting period associated with
the share options granted.

B HAR bR T AR AR I SE R bR At
(DA B B 2 b4 7 15 R 4k 47
HAE)  BERAU ARG
H) B R BE R RO 8 2 TR HR &
HE - FHRETIREBER
BETE - IRATEHBAZH
BRZEEH AU R FEZEF
BREATE -

EREZBRENS —FRB
HARR -
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27. SEGMENT REPORTING

The Group manages its business by divisions and all those
divisions are located in the PRC. In a manner consistent
with the way in which information is reported internally
to the Group’s CODM for the purposes of resources

allocation and performance assessment,

the Group’s

operating and reportable segments under HKFRS 8,
Operating segments are organised into two main operating
segments including (i) EP products and equipment and (ii)
EP construction engineering services. No other operating
segments identified by the CODM have been aggregated
in arriving at the reportable segments of the Group.

a)

Segment revenue, profit or loss, assets and
liabilities

For the purposes of assessing segment performance
and allocating resources between segments, the
Group’s CODM monitors the results, assets and
liabilities attributable to each reportable segment on
the following basis:

Segment assets include all tangible and intangible
assets, and current assets with the exception of
unallocated cash and bank balances, investments
in financial assets and other corporate assets.
Segment liabilities include trade and other payables
attributable to individual segments.

Revenue and expenses are allocated to the
reportable segments with reference to sales
generated and services rendered by those segments
and the expenses incurred by those segments
or which otherwise arise from the depreciation
or amortisation of assets attributable to those
segments. Inter-segment assistance provided by one
segment to another is not measured.

The measure used for reporting segment profit is
“adjusted EBITDA” that is, “adjusted earnings before
interest, taxes, depreciation and amortisation”, where
“interest” is regarded as including investment income
and “depreciation and amortisation” is regarded as
including impairment losses on non-current assets.
To arrive at adjusted EBITDA, the Group’s earnings
are further adjusted for items not specifically
attributed to individual segments, such as directors’
emoluments, auditor’s remuneration and other
corporate administration costs.

In addition to receiving segment information
concerning adjusted EBITDA, the Group’s CODM
is provided with segment information concerning
revenue, depreciation, amortisation and impairment
losses and additions to non-current segment assets
used by the segments in their operations. Inter-
segment sales are priced with reference to prices
charged to external parties for similar orders.

27.
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27. SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued) 27. EHE (&)
a) Segment revenue, profit or loss, assets and a) AW - BAHEE - BEE
liabilities (Continued) kR&& (&)

Information regarding the Group’s reportable
segments as provided to the Group’s CODM for the
purposes of resources allocation and assessment
of segment performance for the years ended 31
December 2019 and 2018 is set out below:

HE-F-NFR-F-N\F
T-AS=t—BLFE %A
RATE RS BRIAFET A
SR EAEARRY
AEE 25 HE 0

™
EP products EP construction
and equipment engineering services Total
From continuing operations: REFEEEES BRERRBH RRERIERS #t
2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018
ZE-AE T\ ZE-hAE —“T)\& IB-AE —T)N\F
RMB’000 RMB’ 000 RMB’000 RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000
ARBTRE ARETT AR®TRT ARETT AR®TR ARETR
Reportable segment revenue from REMBERZ
external customers A 255 A 78,764 159,861 1,038 2,327 79,802 162,188
Inter-segment revenue GaR L ON - - - - - -
Reportable segment revenue A2FH DA 78,764 159,861 1,038 2,327 79,802 162,188
Reportable segment (loss)/profit EEE Gy
(adlusted EBITDA) (B518),/ %7
(48 FZEBITDA) (34,553) 24,509 31 1,004 (34,522) 25,513
Depreciation of property, plant mE - BEK
and equipment RE2HE (1,978) (119) - = (1,978) (119)
Net impairment loss (recognised)/ (BFHR),/ EER
reversed on: REBRFE
— trade receivables - W E SHE (29,037) 1,385 - = (29,037) 1,385
- other receivables — Ht MG - 3525 - - - 3525
— contract assets - AREE (1,528) - - - (1,528) -
— prepayments - BER (3,780) = - = (3,780) =
Reportable segment assets 2R PEE 56,039 85,545 2 361 56,041 85,906
Reportable segment liabilties A2FHHEaRE 28,160 15,354 8,188 8,189 36,348 23,543
Note: Hiat -

There were no additions to non-current segment assets

to both reportable segments during the years ended 31
December 2019 and 2018.

RBE_Z-NEFR-_Z-N\F+
“HA=T—BIEFE  WETERK
DEPGEAREIFRB D EEE -
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27. SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued) 27. D EPERE (18)
b) Reconciliations of reportable segment revenue, b) HWE{RDIBUYA - BRFIRE
profit or loss, assets and liabilities B EEREEZYE
2019 2018
—E-RE T )\F
RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000
From continuing operations: REFEEETRES - AR®TTRT ARBTIT
Revenue A
Reportable segment revenue Al 2o FUA 79,802 162,188
Elimination of intra-group HIEEERR S
transactions - _
Consolidated revenue A WA 79,802 162,188
(Loss)/profit (E518), &%
Reportable segment (loss)/profit REIINEF R T 25
derived from external customers DE(ER), &R (34,522) 25,513
Depreciation and amortisation e R (4,054) (6,555)
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HEHB ARz WS - 28,702
Impairment loss on property, Y% - B BB &
plant and equipment, and FENEEREZ
prepaid lease payments BEEE - (30,300)
Loss on write-off property, plant S E - BB &
and equipment Sz EE - (12,403)
Finance costs BLE R AR (3,149) (1,600)
Unallocated head office and RO BCABEL Ko 1 S W a
corporate income 3,941 1,742
Unallocated head office and ROMBHXREHEFRAS
corporate expenses (18,443) (19,336)
Consolidated loss before taxation BRELRIAR G B 18 (56,227) (14,237)
Assets BE
Reportable segment assets A2MROoHEE 56,041 85,906
Unallocated cash and bank AOBRIRE KIRTTEER
balances 1,203,070 1,037,883
Deferred tax assets EETRIBE B - 2,397
Consideration receivable from KEHEME - BEK
disposal of property, plant and HEARTENEE
equipment and prepaid lease RIEH IR E
payments - 160,000
Unallocated head office and ROMBHBREEEE
corporate assets 1,951 4,932
Consolidated total assets REBEAE 1,261,062 1,291,118
Liabilities afH
Reportable segment liabilities AZWoHEaE 36,348 23,543
Corporate bonds NEES 49,254 48,035
Tax payable FE(S R IE 2,521 2,521
Amount due to a related company JE 5 — [ B EE A B R IE 7,320 B
Unallocated head office and AOMBEHLRTEEE
corporate liabilities 21,448 12,999
Consolidated total liabilities FEMRAR 116,891 87,098
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27. SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued) 27.

c) Information about major customers

Revenue from external customers individually
contributing 10% or more of the Group’s total
revenue from continuing operations is as follows:

Customer A =PEHR
Customer B EFL
Customer C =ER
Customer D =ET
Customer E BEIK
Customer F BFEC
Customer G BFER

Revenue from the above customers during the years
ended 31 December 2019 and 2018 are generated
from EP products and equipment segment.

d) Geographical information
(1) Revenue from external custormers

The following table sets out information about
the geographical location of the Group’s
revenue from external customers arising from
continuing operations. The geographical
location of customers is based on the location
at which the services were provided or the
goods were delivered.

Mainland China B K e (AT )
(place of domicile)

d)

ok

PR & ()
FHEXERFZEN

51| B R AN 5% B 2R B R AR S
EXEBHBWAI0%HIA L2

REINBEE ZWAIT -
2019 2018
—E—NE —ZE-N\F
RMB’000 RMB’ 000

AR®FR ARBT T

18,437 =
16,526 =
12,946 =
12,091 =
10,973 =

- 25,862

- 16,978

BE-F-NTR-F-N\F
+=A=+—RLFE KA
LIE S AT R R EE B
RED WK -

HIEE R
@) KEINBEFZRA

TREHBBEAEEK
BRERLEEBINEE
FZWARWMERRZ
Bt BREMEMEIZ
RERBHEMTEM

RhEID ©
2019 2018
—E-NF —T-N\F
RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000

AR®TRT ARETT

79,802 162,188
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d) Geographical information (Continued)

()

Spec/fied non-current assets

The Group’s specified non-current assets
comprise property, plant and equipment, and
right-of-use assets.

The geographical location of these specified
non-current assets is based on the physical
location of the assets, in the case of property,
plant and equipment, and right-of-use assets.

The following table sets out information about
the geographical location of the specified non-
current assets.

Mainland China A B KR (FEA )
(place of domicile)
Hong Kong B

27.
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For the year ended 31 December 2019
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2 EE|E ()
d HEHER (&)
) IEEHFREEE

AEBZEEFRRDE
= BEYE - BB IR
WARERREE

SEEEIRBEENM
i@ R E (L%
MR K R A IA K fE A
EME)BENERMAE
H T TE e

TR EWIETIERD
EEMFEE Y EE -

2019 2018
—E—NE —ZT-N\F
RMB’000 RMB’ 000

AR®FR ARBET T

2,102 4,532
1,004 183

3,106 4,715
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28. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS

a)

Transactions with related parties

In addition to the transactions and balances
disclosed elsewhere in these financial statements,
the directors of the Company considered that
the followings were the material related party
transactions entered into by the Group during the
years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018:

Relationship with
Name of related party related party
FRBALTER HERBALTZRE
Mr. Jiang Xin Director of the Company
BEkE AREES

Mr. Jiang Quanlong
BRELE

Father of Mr. Jiang Xin,
a director of the Company
AREESBEEREZH

Wauxi Xin Wei High
Temperature Ceramics
Co., Ltd. (Note)

BENBRREERERAA
(Hizt)

A company of which
Mr. Jiang Quanlong,
a father of Mr. Jiang Xin,
is also a director of its
holding company
BREEIARBRELE
TRZDANERRRZES

The directors of the Company are of the opinion
that the above transactions were entered into under
normal course of business and in accordance
with the terms of the agreements governing these
transactions.

Note:
The English name for this company which was established

in the PRC is not officially registered but included here as a
translation for identification purpose.

28. EXRFRABALRS

a)

Nature of
transaction

XHMR

EERABALXRS

BRIt S B IRR H A EE 5 BT
WEZ2RXSREHIN » KRAF]
EERAEAEEREBEE_T—
NER_ZE—N\F+=-_A=+

—BILFEARMILZERE
BEMALTRSIT :

2019 2018

ZE-hE —T)\F

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTR ARETT

Interest expense for
corporate bonds
RABFMERX 581 560

Interest expense for
corporate bonds
AREFHERX 581 560

Rental income

HEHBA

ARRIEZR/ AR ZRE
BEEHBRETARBREZ

ERXHZ W KT

wizt -

R BIR S 2 R A) 2 S A R 3F
EREMELL 2B - RNREFFT
BENEBHOSBEMRS - HE5
ZH e
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28. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

b)

Transactions with key management personnel

Remuneration for key management personnel of
the Group representing the amounts paid to the
Company’s directors as disclosed in note 9 and the
highest paid employees and senior management as
disclosed in note 10 is as follows:

RS RN
BB AR A

Short-term employee benefits
Post-employment benefits

29. COMMITMENTS

(@)

(b)

Capital commitments

As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, the Group did
not have capital commitment in respect of acquisition
and construction of property, plant and equipment
contracted but not provided for.

Operating lease commitments

As a lessee

As at 31 December 2018, the Group had operating
lease commitments for future minimum lease
payments under non-cancellable operating leases
in respect of office premises, factory premises and
equipment which fall due as follows:

—FRN

Within one year
After one year but within five years

Leases and rentals are negotiated and fixed for
periods of three years. None of the leases includes
contingent rentals.

Bt 755 R AR B

For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE_ZT—hhF+-_A=+—HIEFE

28. EXEBHEBALRS (&)

b) HITEETEEAERS
REFBFTESEABZ B
(BIEfsEoFTIREE 2 It F AR A
BENHFI0OFBREZ HES
MeREENSREEABZS
BE) EHIuR

2019 2018

ZE—-hEF —E—)\F

RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000

AR®TRT ARET T

2,480 2,900

30 36

2,510 2,936

29, EiE
(a) BEREE

(b)

—FRIEAFA

RZB-NFR-_F-NF+
ZA=1+—8 AEEWE
WEEREEME  BE R&E
BRI AE R B RS #R 5 fF 33
B2 BEAAYE

REREARE

o

EEEHEA
RZE—NF+_A=+—
B AEERPAETYWE - T
TR0 3 N BB A IR AR T T U A
ZHEMBRRE S FHREMR
EFE LR ERED IS
AT
2018
—E—N\F
RMB’000
AREET T

2,428
1,103

3,531

HEFHS HEFH=-FER
RERE - HEMEERENAN
ﬁ o
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30. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The Group’s primary objectives when managing capital
are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as
a going concern, and to generate sufficient profit to
maintain growth and provide a satisfactory return to its

shareholders.

The management actively and regularly reviews and
manages its capital structure to maintain a balance
between the higher shareholder returns that might
be possible with higher levels of borrowings and the
advantages and security afforded by a sound capital
position, and makes adjustments to the capital structure
through the amount of dividend payment to shareholders
or raise new debt financing. No changes were made in the

objectives or policies during the year.

The management monitors the Group’s capital structure
on the basis of a net debt-to-equity ratio. For this purpose,
the Group defines net debt as total debt (which includes
trade and other payables, lease liabilities and corporate

bonds) minus cash and bank balances.

The net debt-to-equity ratios as at 31 December 2019 and

2018 were as follows:

Trade and other payables

Lease liabilities HEAE
Corporate bonds NEES
Sub-total /INET

Less: Cash and bank balances

Net cash and bank balance

Total equity EmiAEE
Net debt-to-equity ratio B R E

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries are

subject to externally imposed capital requirements.

30.

BN E 5 RE MR

B e MIRITAERR

e RIRTTHESRFE

EXEE

AEEEREAZAERBRNRE
AEBERPEERBEFELLERE
g URELRME N MR IE
R RARRREUHE 2B o

EEEREB R TR ERNEREETT
B RER  UWEESKERERE
MTAIEHBEZESEBKFEE
EZERNRRERZITERFREZ
FIERS F 1 - 30350 ¥ A IR 3% A%
BRETHESRERE RREIE
L - FR - BEXZEEER
BRERTMES -

EEERERL X FEELEERAR
SE2EREE - Bt AERER
EEHFEREBEE (BRENE
ZFREMKE  HEAGBARRT
BE5) B E RIRITAER

R-E—NER_ZFE—N\F+=A
=t HZERELEEFEAT

2019 2018
—E—hE —E—N\F
RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000
AR®FT ARETIT
64,190 36,542
926 =
49,254 48,035
114,370 84,577
(1,203,070) (1,037,883)
(1,088,700) (953,306)
1,144,171 1,204,020
N/A RiER N/A i@

KR B SAT AT EL P B A AL RO
BER L EARRTERS



31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

a)

Categories of financial instruments
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31. 2T A
a) L2RMIESSE

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of REREHR - SEe@MIA
financial instruments at the end of each reporting MEEEEW T :

period are as follows:

Financial assets

Trade receivables

Consideration receivable from
disposal of property, plant and
equipment, and prepaid
lease payments

Other receivables

Contract assets

Cash and bank balances

Financial assets measured at
amortised cost

Financial liabilities
Trade and other payables
Corporate bonds

Lease liabilities

Financial liabilities measured at
amortised cost

2019 2018
—E—NEFE —E-N\F
RMB?’ 000 RMB’ 000

AR®TR ARETIT

SREE
FEWE 2 5/IE 36,836 53,144
REHEWE  BEK

BEA KRB AERIE

KRR (B

- 160,000
H b el skI8 920 2,692
EREE 14,591 22 701
& RIRTTER 1,203,070 1,037,883

BESBEHENSREE
1,254,587 1,276,420
2019 2018
—E—hE —E—N\F
RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000
AR®FT ARETIT

eRER

R E 5 K HE M FIE 54,936 27,453
NEIMESH 49,254 48,035
HERE 926 =

BESEFHENERMAR

105,116 75,488
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31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies

The risks associated with the financial instruments
include credit risk, interest rate risk, liquidity risk
and currency risk arises in the normal course of the
Group’s business. The Group’s exposure to these
risks and the financial risk management policies and
practices used by the Group to manage these risks

are described below.

/) Crediit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty
will default on its contractual obligations
resulting in a financial loss to the Group. The
Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable
to trade and other receivables, and bank
balances. Management has a credit policy in
place and the exposures to these credit risks

are monitored on an ongoing basis.

Trade and other receivables

In respect of trade and other receivables,
individual credit evaluations are performed on
all customers requiring credit over a certain
amount. These evaluations focus on the
customer’s past history of making payments
when due and current ability to pay, and
take into account information specific to
the customer as well as pertaining to the
economic environment in which the customer
operates. The Group generally allows credit
period ranging from O to 180 days to its trade
customers. Normally, the Group does not

obtain collateral from its customers.

31. @RI A (F)

b)

TREAREEBEREE

HEZEFeRTABEZARE
BAKEREXBBIETESL
MEERR - MERR - RE
BB LEEER - NEE
FrEs 2 R R AKERAE
B%ERBR M RRE EK
REEHESIT o

) EEmEE

EERREHFIRE
ReaRBEEABEEER
SXMBER AKH
ZEERBREIEXRERE
WE 5 K B A 5RIE A K
RITHESR - EEECH
EEEBRR  XHES
RREEERR -

JEWE 5 R R b E

MEWE 5 K EAKIE
ms ' AKEHEK—
TeBENEEBZAE
= F @5 # 17 5 B 5T
e FHEBRERP
2 JE B HA A 3R A0 8% %
WBEZEMED  ITE
EEFEEARKER
BZEERE - A%HE
—BRBETEIEFOE
180HMIEER - £— &
BRT  AEEBFTEH
REERERR o
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31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

J

Credit risk (Continued)
Trade and other receivables (Continued)

In respect of trade receivables, the Group’s
exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by
the individual characteristics of each customer.
Taking into account the creditworthiness of the
Group’s customers, the credit risk measures
and the historical levels of the bad debts,
the directors of the Company consider that
such concentration of credit risk would result
in significant credit default exposure to the
Group. At the end of the reporting period,
32.91% (2018: 16.30%) and 51.61% (2018:
51.53%) of trade receivables were due from
the Group’s largest customer and the five
largest customers, respectively, arose from EP
products and equipment segment.

The maximum exposure to credit risk is
represented by the carrying amount of each
financial asset in the consolidated statement
of financial position after deducting any
impairment loss. As at 31 December 2019
and 2018, the Group did not provide any
guarantees which would expose the Group to
credit risk.

Bt 755 R AR B

For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE_ZT—hhF+-_A=+—HIEFE

31. @RI A (F)

b) LRERAKBREEASERBXK (&)

=EmEE ()
JEWE S RENM NI ()

REWBESHREME -
AEEBZEERREE
XEERF ZERER
e - ZREAEKE
BEFEZEEE EFEAR
ERi N CR EAR: N -/
FoARRBEERE
hEEFEERREE
rEEBRNEAGEER
REBR - RER&EHIR -
RERRERMZED
HMrERRIRAEERZAR
FEREREE D RIMLIE
WE S IE32.91% (=
T— N\ :16.30%) &
51.61% (ZZF— \F :
51.53%) °

EmEERBREMERE
MR ERBIRR&A MBS
AARTERTREE
MEREE R-_F—N
FR-_F-N\F+_H
=t+—H AEEYLE
REEMATEEHAE
B m = ERRAER -
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31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

/)

Credit risk (Continued)
Trade and other receivables (Continued)

The Group reassesses lifetime ECLs for
trade receivables under HKFRS 9 to ensure

31. €RTH (&)

b) TREREEBEEREEK (H)

=EmEE ()
JEWE 5 RAMFE (&)

AEBRBEEEHTR
HERIFE IR B H VA FE

that adequate impairment losses are made WE S RIBRFE R
for significant increase in the likelihood or TEHEEEBE - LR
risk of a default occurring. The ECLs on ?JELZ’j?%EE)]T%’\ET
trade receivables are assessed for debtors %A 8 12 00 5T IR 2 49
individually or collectively using a provision E’\Jf@ﬂﬁﬁﬂé c JEE 5
matrix. As part of the Group’s credit risk HREWBHEEERED
management, the Group uses debtors’ ageing ERBRBERIMESL A

to assess with the impairment loss because
these customers consist of a large number
of customers which share common risk

#EATME R R FF A -
EAAEEEERRE
BH—IR AEEZER

characteristics that are representative of the B A B AR e uﬁﬁ/ﬂiﬁ
customers’ abilities to pay all amounts due in B W ERZE
accordance with the contractual terms. The FEEXNEALRRR

estimated loss rates are estimated on historical
observed default rates over the expected life of
the debtors and are adjusted forward-looking
information that is available without undue cost
or effort.

FHEOER  mMZFEA
B R %sﬁlﬁ?%%ﬁﬂ?‘dﬁ/\
1l7|<m§‘1§513'iﬁi’iﬁﬁ
IEEI’J ﬁnJrEEET@T

i 49 11&
&F ]U;zﬁ?ﬁﬁﬂfﬁ@%
ﬁJZZlezﬁ HEN A E B
BIREME B RHEL FH% -

The following table provides information about TREER-_Z-NF
the Group’s exposure to credit risk and ECLs rZZE-—NF+ZA=
for trade receivables as at 31 December 2019 +—BEBLASEEE
and 2018: [B f K fE E 5 5IE 2

?ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ%?ﬂﬁﬁ’]ﬁﬂ

Year ended 31 December 2019
E§E_E-AE+ZB=+—HLEE

Gross  Impairment

Expected carrying loss

loss rate amount allowances

RARERE HIEEE HESRRE

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TT AR®TT

Current (not yet past due) ANER () 4.91% 15,395 756

Less than 6 months past due A RelEA 7.46% 18,470 1,378
More than 6 months but less than

1 year past due BEGMEA LA BRI E 11.56% 5,772 667

Over 1 year past due AHE1ENE 100% 46,796 46,796

Total 5t 86,433 49,597
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31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 31. £@ I A (&)
b) Financial risk management objectives and b) <RRAMEEBEZRBUE(H)

policies (Continued)
/) Credit risk (Continued) /)

Trade and other receivables (Continued)

EEmE (&)

JEWE 5 RE MR (&)

Year ended 31 December 2018
BEZ-/\Ft-RA=T—HLEE

Expected

loss rate

BHEREX

Current (not yet past due) HE k) 0.76%

Less than 6 months past due Ao R6lEA 3.51%

More than 6 months but less than

1 year past due BHEGE AN LB E 9.93%

Over 1 year past due AHE1EN E 100%
Total ot

Expected loss rates are based on actual loss
experience over the past 2 years. These rates
are adjusted to reflect differences between
economic conditions during the period over
which the historical data has been collected,
current conditions and the Group’s view of
economic conditions over the expected lives of
the receivables.

Further quantitative disclosures in respect of
the Group’s exposure to credit risk arising from
trade and other receivables are set out in note
16.

Bank balances

The Group mitigates its exposure to credit risk
by placing deposits with financial institutions
with established credit rating. Given the high
credit ratings of the banks, the management
does not expect any counterparty to fail to
meet its obligations.

Gross Impairment
carrying loss
amount allowances

mEEE REBERE
RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000
ARBTT  ARETR

1,050 8
42,786 1,500
12,008 1,192
97,971 97,971

153,815 100,671

%EHHJESEY& F2&H
=} m}gﬁ{a%\%ﬁﬁu :E: o It
EhERDAERMERN (B
FEBREEARKE) &
A& E#H W GRIETE
7 B B e 88 B AR 0 2
E R MmANAFEEE o

EASEEREK
B REMRBELE 2
EERRcE—FTFE=
WA FE16 o

RiT#

REBREEFRRY
E’Jiraﬂi%’f%?— K DA B K
HEERR - ERRIT
Zf’f&’&ﬂﬁ% EEE
EMAEHBEHF IR
BEETEEZBR -
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31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

)

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate
risk in relation to corporate bonds with fixed
interest rate (see note 21). The management
monitors interest rate exposure and will consider
repayment of the corporate bonds when
significant interest rate exposure is anticipated.

The Group’s cash flow interest rate risk relates
primarily to variable-rates of bank balances.

The Group does not anticipate significant
interest rate risk because the interest rates of
these balances are not expected to change
significantly.

i) Interest rate profile

The following table details the interest
rate profile of the Group’s variable-rate
bank balances at the end of the reporting
period:

31. $RtTH (&)

b)

2019

—E-0F

Effective

interest rate

Bank balances

RR#E

0%-0.3%

TREREE B RRBUR (8)

)

RMB’ 000
N1 aw

1,203,050

FIEmB

& [ E B B & E A
RpEES (RME21)
MAFEMERR - &
2B B R R R 3§
1A T8 HA [ e B KA R &
RREBERARES -

AEBZRERERN
[\ Bz = B B IR 1T 4 B4

FEMEEH -

Z

AEELEBEHE AR
ZEB - BAZSEH
SEIESERE PN

) FESER

TRAELANEED
RITHE R 2 F B A
RRE|EHRAF
KR

2018
“E-)\F

Effective
interest rate
LUk

HIR

RMB' 000
ARBTTR

0%-0.3% 1,037,871
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31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

/})  Interest rate risk (Continued)

1)

Sensitivity analysis

At 31 December 2019, it is estimated
that a general increase/decrease of 100
basis points in interest rates, with all other
variables held constant, would decrease/
increase the Group’s loss after tax from
continuing operations and increase/
decrease the Group’s retained profits
by approximately RMB9,023,000 (2018:
RMB7,784,000). Other components
of equity would not be affected by the
changes in interest rates.

The sensitivity analysis above has been
determined assuming that the change
in interest rates had occurred at the
end of the reporting period and had
been applied to the exposure to interest
rate risk for non-derivative financial
instruments in existence at that date.
The 100 basis point increase or decrease
represents management’s assessment of
a reasonably possible change in interest
rates over the period until the end of
the next reporting period. The analysis
is performed on the same basis for year
2018.

Bt 755 R AR B

For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE_ZT—hhF+-_A=+—HIEFE

31. @RI A (F)

b) LRERAKBREEASERBXK (&)

W FEEE (&)

1)

BRI

RZE—NF+=
A=+—8  #
fhet  EATE EA
BEBETE B
T FEERE
F+ .,/ T 100 EE
S AEEEE
B ETE TR
BB
RAEEZRE &
FI3E R 4
AR %9, 023,000
T (ZE—N\F :
7,784,0007T) ° &
w2 E A I R
SXFREEH T
gi&o

ESEE ST
BREFEEBHE R
WMEHREE I
EEANRZBEHT
EZIETESRT
BAAZ ZFIER
% o 100 B E B 2
18 =X Bk i A B 1R
ERXEEZTEBRE
HARHBENE G
BA g EEET{EZ
FfE e ZFE—N\F
") AT & LA FE [R] #9
BT o
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31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 31. €EMI A (&)
b) Financial risk management objectives and b) <EREMEEBEZRBUER (#)
policies (Continued)
iiy)  Liguidity risk i) mEBEEEE
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will mEE®RRIIERE
encounter difficulty in meeting obligations EXBITEREARER
associated with financial liabilities that are NAAsHEtmEmEE
settled by delivering cash or another financial HHIHzemAEER
asset as they fall due. The Group’s policy is to 5% 05 38 B N B R B o
regularly monitor current and expected liquidity REEZHERTHE
requirements and its compliance with lending THEERERZRBE
covenants and to ensure that it maintains EHEREBETERE
sufficient reserves of cash and adequate HZIER  AERAE
committed lines of funding from banks to meet BB auiieRER
its liquidity requirements in the short and longer BEARBITERBRER
term. HES - AENEEH
ERRACRBEST
The following table details the remaining TRAEFINANEEZ Ik
contractual maturities at the end of the MmEemAaERNREH
reporting period of the Group’s non-derivative RZEBRTERBR o 1t
financial liabilities, which are based on DERERMERKE
contractual undiscounted cash flows (including Rem (BERESRF
interest payments computed using contractual = (ol AFEFIE - A
rates or, if floating, based on rates current at ERBEBRARHIFITH
the end of the reporting period) and the earliest E)FHEZFENAR) &
date the Group can be required to pay. AEB A EAN R Z &
FHHHE -
2019
—Z-0E
Contractual undiscounted cash flow
BRMERBARLRE
More than More than
Within one one year two years
year or but less than but less than
Carrying on demand two years five years Over five
amount —£RE BE-FE @EREE years Total
REE BREREES DREE PREE BBLE 8
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’ 000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AERTRE AERBTR AER®TR AE%TR AEBTRT AERRTR
Non-derivative financial ~ JE{TE &SRB R
liabilities
Trade and other payables JERE 5 R H A 54,936 54,936 - - - 54,936
Corporate bonds NalfEH 49,254 29,920 20,102 1,272 1,845 53,139
Lease liabilities (Note) HEBRE (M) 926 938 - - - 938
105,116 85,794 20,102 1,272 1,845 109,013




31.

b)

Non-derivative financial

liabilities

Trade and other payables
Corporate bonds
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

/) Liguidity risk (Continued)
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31. @RI A (F)

b) 2REREEEEZRIEX(E)
i) BB ()
2018
—T-N\F

Contractual undiscounted cash flow
ERAERBRRSM

More than More than
Within one one year two years
yearor  butless than  but less than
Carrying ~ on demand two years five years Over five
amount —FRxgk  BA—FE BARFE years Total
FEE ZREXEER PINGES SREE HBRF bk
RMB’ 000 RMB’000 RMB’ 000 RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB’000
AREBTT ARE®ETT ARETT ARETTE ARETT ARETR
EiTESMAR
[ERE 5 R Efh 508 27,453 27,453 - - - 27,453
ARES 48,085 28,389 2,191 20,801 1,910 53,291
75,488 55,842 2,191 20,801 1,910 80,744
Note: Hiat -

The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 using the
modified retrospective approach and adjust the opening
balance as at 1 January 2019 to recognise lease liabilities
relating to lease which were previously classified as
operating lease under HKAS 17. Lease liabilities include
amounts recognised at the date of transition to HKFRS 16
in respect of lease previously classified as operating leases
under HKAS 17. Under this approach, the comparative
information is not restated. See note 3.

AEEDEREERITER T E
REMBRBHBHRESEAFE 1657
WERAER=-T-—NF-—A—HZ
HEe - ARG RENRER
BEAERFEI7TROBREEH
E2HERE - AEAREEES
AEAFEITREOBRKEEHER
HEEEMS  HERESERSE
BB EERNFE 1657 B B H

RZEH - RIEZTE LKA
BT ES o 55 RRES
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31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b)

c)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

)

Currency risk

The Group’s PRC subsidiaries transact in
RMB, and the Company and other subsidiaries
mainly transact in HK$. Management considers
the Group’s exposure to currency risk is not
significant.

Estimation of fair values

The following summarises the major methods and
assumptions used in estimating the fair values of the
following financial instruments.

J

Financial assets and financial liabllities

For financial assets and financial liabilities that
are liquid or having a short-term maturity,
it is assumed that the carrying amounts
approximate their fair values. The assumption is
applied to trade receivables, other receivables,
trade and other payables, and bank balances
without a specific maturity. For other financial
instruments (including corporate bonds), the
fair values are determined in accordance with
generally accepted pricing models based on
discounted cash flow analysis.
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32. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

a)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies,
which are described in note 2, the directors of
the Company are required to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions about the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily
apparent from other sources. The estimates and
associated assumptions are based on historical
experience and other factors that are considered
to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these
estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are
reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to
accounting estimates are recognised in the period in
which the estimate is revised if the revision affects
only that period, or in the period of the revision and
future periods if revision affects both current and
future periods.

/) Useful lives and resiadual values of property,
plant and equipment

Management determines the estimated useful
lives and residual values for the Group’s
property, plant and equipment in accordance
with the Group’s accounting policies stated in
note 2(e). The Group will revise the depreciation
charge where useful lives and residual values
are different from previous estimates, or will
write off or write down technically obsolete or
non-strategic assets that have been abandoned
or sold.
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32. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

a) Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

/) Impairment of property, plant and equipment

If circumstances indicate that the carrying value
of an item of the property, plant and equipment
may not be recoverable, the asset may be
considered “impaired”, and an impairment
loss may be recognised in profit or loss in
accordance with the accounting policy for
impairment of property, plant and equipment as
described in note 2(g)(ii). The carrying amounts
of assets are reviewed periodically in order to
assess whether the recoverable amounts have
declined below the carrying amounts. These
assets are tested for impairment whenever
events or changes in circumstances indicate
that their recorded carrying amounts may
not be recoverable. When such a decline has
occurred, the carrying amount is reduced to
recoverable amount.

The recoverable amount is the greater of the
fair value less costs of disposal and the value in
use. In determining the value in use, expected
future cash flows generated by the asset
are discounted to their present value, which
requires significant judgement relating to the
level of revenue and amount of operating costs.
The Group uses all readily available information
in determining an amount that is a reasonable
approximation of recoverable amount,
including estimates based on reasonable and
supportable assumptions and projections of
the level of revenue and amount of operation
costs. Changes in these estimates could have
a significant impact on the carrying value of the
assets and could result in additional impairment
charge or reversal of impairment in future
periods. As at 31 December 2019, the carrying
amount of the Group’s property, plant and
equipment was approximately RMB2,203,000
(2018: RMB4,715,000).
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32. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

a) Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

/)

)

Estimation of imparrment of frade rece/vables

The Group estimates the loss allowances for
trade receivables by assessing the ECLs. This
requires the use of estimates and judgements.
ECLs are based on the Group’s historical credit
loss experience, adjusted for factors that are
specific to the debtors, and an assessment
of both the current and forecast general
economic conditions at the end of reporting
period. Where the estimation is different from
the original estimate, such difference will affect
the carrying amounts of trade receivables and
thus the impairment loss in the period in which
such estimate is changed. The Group keeps
assessing the expected credit loss of trade
receivables during their expected lives. As at 31
December 2019, the carrying amount of trade
receivables was approximately RMB36,336,000
(2018: RMB53,144,000). Details of the
impairment of trade receivables are disclosed in
notes 16 and 31(b)(i).

Warranty provisions

The Group does not make provision for product
warranties arising from sales of EP products
and equipment, taking into account the Group’s
recent claim experience and past experience of
the level of repairs. In addition, the Group has
also received product warranties in respect of
those products and equipment supplied from
its suppliers, and the scope of the product
warranties (including warranty periods) are
the same as those the Group offered to its
customers. It is not indicative of future claims
that it will receive in respect of past sales.
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32. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

b)

Critical accounting judgements in applying the
Group’s accounting policies

In determining the carrying amounts of certain assets
and liabilities, the Group makes assumptions for the
effects of uncertain future events on those assets
and liabilities at the end of each reporting period.
These estimates involve assumptions about such
items as cash flows and discount rates used. The
Group’s estimates and assumptions are based on
historical experience and expectations of future
events and are reviewed periodically. In addition
to assumptions and estimations of future events,
judgements are also made during the process of
applying the Group’s accounting policies.

/) /ncorme taxes

The Group is subject to income tax in Hong
Kong and various taxes in the PRC. Significant
judgement is required in determining the
provision for taxation. There are many
transactions and calculations for which the
ultimate tax determination is uncertain during
the ordinary course of business. The Group
recognises liabilities for anticipated tax issues
based on estimates of whether additional tax
will be due. Where the final tax outcome of
these matters is different from the amounts
that were initially recorded, such differences
will impact the income tax and deferred
tax provisions in the period in which such
determination is made.
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32. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

b) Critical accounting judgements in applying the
Group’s accounting policies (Continued)

)

Withholding tax on the distributable profits of
the Company's subsidiaries established in the
PRC

On 16 March 2007, National People’s Congress
approved the New EIT Laws which was
effective from 1 January 2008. According to
the relevant regulations of the New EIT Laws,
when a foreign investment enterprise distributes
dividends out of the profits earned from 1
January 2008 onwards to its foreign investors,
they are subject to the PRC Enterprise Income
Tax. The applicable income tax rate varies with
the origin of the overseas investors.

The Group’s determination as to whether to
accrue for withholding tax from distribution
of dividends from its subsidiaries established
in the PRC according to the relevant tax law
and regulations is subject to judgement on
the timing of the payment of the dividends.
The estimation process is highly based on
assumptions, which are influenced by projected
future market and economic conditions and
future financing requirements of the Group, and
it is not probable that these subsidiaries will
distribute dividends in the foreseeable future.
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33. COMPANY-LEVEL STATEMENT OF 33. A T8 mE AR R &
FINANCIAL POSITION
2019 2018
—B-hE —E-N\&F
Note RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000
B 5E AR®TT ARBFIT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS JERENEE
Equipment B 101 183
Right-of-use assets FRAEEE 14 903 -
Investments in subsidiaries N B AT ZIEZE 15 365,190 357,199
366,194 357,382
CURRENT ASSETS REEE
Other receivables H fth pE U Tk 18 462 3,412
Amounts due from subsidiaries FE UM B A B Y FR I8 307,014 300,864
Cash and bank balances B & NMIR1TE S 202 118
307,678 304,394
CURRENT LIABILITIES nEAE
Other payables H b fE < 58 15,617 2,644
Corporate bonds NEIESH 21 27,952 26,487
Lease liabilities HEAE 20 926 -
44,495 29,131
NET CURRENT ASSETS mEEERE 263,183 275,263
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT #BEERRH&R
LIABILITIES 629,377 632,645
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES JERBAR
Corporate bonds NEES 21 (21,302) (21,548)
NET ASSETS HERE 608,075 611,097
CAPITAL AND RESERVES B & B £ i
Share capital R& 2 24 78,073 78,073
Reserves (i 25 530,002 533,024

TOTAL EQUITY k=t b 608,075 611,097
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IMMEDIATE AND ULTIMATE CONTROLLING
PARTY

The directors of the Company consider the immediate
and ultimate controlling party of the Group to be Praise
Fortune Limited, which was incorporated in the British
Virgin Islands. This entity does not produce financial
statements available for public use.

RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING
FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The table below details the changes in the Group’s
liabilities arising from financing activities, including both
cash and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from
financing activities are those for which cash flows were,
or future cash flows will be, classified in the consolidated
statement of cash flows as cash flows from financing
activities.

At 1 January 2018 RZZE-\F—HA—H

Changes from financing cash flows: nﬂ!iﬁﬁﬁt!l
Proceeds from issuance of corporate bonds ~ E1TRAIES 2 FiiG7UE
Interests paid BAAE

Total changes from financing cash flows BERE T EDETE
Effect of changes in foreign exchange rates ~ SMEEREH) v &2
Other changes: Ry @E -

Effective interest expenses ERFERZ

At 31 December 2018 RZB-\F+-A=t-H
Change in accounting policy (Note 3) SHBRED (fi73)
As at 1 January 2019 RZZ-N&—A—-H
Changes from financing cash flows: MERQRCEDR
Payment of lease liabilities EEHEEE

Interests paid BRFE

Total changes from financing cash flows HERSH EDER
Effect of changes in foreign exchange rates ~ SNEEXRZE) v 22
Other changes: Ry @E :

ERFISHX

Effective interest expenses

At 31 December 2019 R_Z-NF+_A=1+—H

Bt 755 R AR B

For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE_ZT—hhF+-_A=+—HIEFE
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ARAEZRAE  AEEZEE
MR EH T AR EBRE RS
R i1 VAN ﬁPraise Fortune
Limited » ZE B MG HAR
BB WE -

35. MMEEHELEEBEZHE
TRFVWAEEMEETESMELAR
B  RERASRKIFERSE
FomMEEMELAGERET
FZREREEHARKRERE S
REERERERDEABRETE
Eimiﬁi//\b °©
Lease Corporate

liabilities bonds Total

HEAR NG -1 ]
(Note 20) (Note 21)
(Hiz#20) (Hiz21)

RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000

ARBTT ARBTT ARBTT

- 20,440 20,440

- 26,604 26,604

- (1,323) (1,323)

- 25,281 25,281

- 714 714

- 1,600 1,600

- 48,035 48,035

2,397 - 2,397

2,397 48,035 50,432

(1,590) - (1,590)

= (2,941) (2,941)

(1,590) (2,941) (4,531)

37 1,093 1,130

82 3,067 3,149

926 49,254 50,180
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36. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

The following significant events took place subsequent to
31 December 2019:

(@)

Proposed acquisition of 99.99% of the issued
share capital in Maye International Holdings
Limited (“Mayee International”)

On 7 November 2018 and 30 January 2019,
the Company entered into a sale and purchase
agreement, and a supplemental sale and purchase
agreement (the “Acquisition Agreement”),
respectively, with an independent third party,
Zhongying International Limited (“Zhongying”),
pursuant to which the Company has conditionally
agreed to acquire, and Zhongying has conditionally
agreed to sell 99.99% of the issued share capital
of Mayee International at a total consideration
of approximately HK$1,253,220,000. The total
consideration will be settled by the Company through
payment of cash amounting to approximately
HK$1,013,220,000 and issuance of convertible
bonds with a principal amount of HK$240,000,000.
Mayee International and its subsidiaries are
principally engaged in property management
and leasing of shops in a shopping mall located
in Kunming, Yunnan, the PRC. This proposed
acquisition constitutes a very substantial acquisition
under Chapter 14 of the Listing Rules and is
therefore subject to the shareholders’ approval at an
extraordinary general meeting of the Company.

On 28 June 2019, the Company and Zhongying
entered into the second supplemental agreement
to extend the date for fulfilment of the conditions
precedent set out in the Acquisition Agreement to 27
June 2020.

Further details of this proposed acquisition are
set out in the Company’s announcements dated 5
December 2018, 30 January 2019, 29 April 2019, 28
June 2019, 30 September 2019, 29 November 2019
and 28 February 2020 respectively.

Up to the date of this report, the conditions
precedent in the Acquisition Agreement have not yet
been fulfilled. Accordingly, the proposed acquisition
has not yet been completed.
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36. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
(Continued)

(b)

Proposed acquisition of 51% of the issued share
capital of MSC (Hong Kong) Limited (“MSC”)
involving issue of consideration shares

On 10 July 2019, the Company entered into a sale
and purchase agreement (the “Agreement”) with
an independent third party (the “Vendor”), pursuant
to which the Company has conditionally agreed to
acquire and the Vendor has conditionally agreed
to sell 51% of the issued share capital of MSC at a
consideration of HK$40,260,000. The consideration
will be subject to downward adjustment based on
the profit guarantees given by the Vendor and will be
settled by several tranches of consideration shares to
be issued by the Company. MSC and its subsidiaries
are principally engaged in the sales of coupons
and provision of online preferential top-up services
business in the PRC, such as catering memberships
top-up, petrol filing cards top-up, phone call charges
top-up and video website memberships top-up.

On 9 January 2020, the Company and the Vendor
entered into the supplemental agreement to extend
the date for fulfilment of the conditions precedent
set out in the Agreement to 30 April 2020.

On 22 January 2020, the Company and the Vendor
entered into a deed of termination whereby the
parties have mutually agreed to terminate the
Agreement and the supplemental agreement with
effect from the date of a deed of termination.

Further details of this proposed acquisition are set
out in the Company’s announcements dated 10 July
2019, 22 July 2019, 9 January 2020 and 22 January
2020 respectively.
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36. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
(Continued)

()

Impact on Coronavirus Disease 2019
(“COVID-19”) outbreak

Following the outbreak of Coronavirus Disease
2019 (“COVID-19”) in late 2019, the central
government of the PRC has implemented a number
of measurements for disease prevention and
controls. The business environment in the Mainland
China has been significantly affected. The World
Health Organisation further declared the COVID-19
pandemic in March 2020, a series of precautionary
and control measures have been implemented
across the globe. The future development of the
COVID-19 and its disruption to business and
economic environment are highly uncertain. The
Group has been assessing the operational and
financial impact of the outbreak of COVID-19 on the
Group. However, given the dynamic nature of the
incident, it is not practicable to provide a reasonable
estimate of its impacts on the Group’s financial
position, performance and cashflows up to the date
of this report.

36. MEMKEE (&)

()

T2 - EBMRES
(fCOVID-19]) ZERB NS
=

BE T NFEARAEBRES
(fCoVID-19]) & 1E&E 1% -
PR R EBRTE B S BERR
TEPF IR SIIEIE « P B RRE &
RBEZEHABEE -R_T—
TE=ZR o it REEAMSE—
F£EMHCOVID-19K7H1T » I
ERE2HEE— R &E X
72 5| FE e © COVID-19% 15 HY
RARRBERREHLERLEE
RENTERR=SETHET
M B AEEFET GEE
COVID-19 ¥ AN & & & 18 K Bt
TEHIFZE - AT - ERZEH
MBI  BEEAREAHE
KRB AR E AR EE 7
o s RERBERTZENS
BEiGET o



37.

38.

Annual Report 2019
“E-NEFR

Notes to the Financial Statements

POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS,
NEW STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS
ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE FOR THE
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

Up to the date of issuance of these financial statements,
the HKICPA has issued a number of amendments and new
standards which are not yet effective for the year ended
31 December 2019 and which have not been adopted in
these financial statements. These include the following
which may be relevant to the Group.

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Definition of a Business'

Amendments to HKAS 1
and HKAS 8

Definition of Material®

Amendments to HKFRS 9,
HKAS 39 and HKFRS 7

Interest Rate Benchmark
Reform?

i Effective for business combinations and asset acquisitions
for which the acquisition date is on or after the beginning
of the first annual period beginning on or after 1 January
2020.

Z Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2020.

In addition to the above new and amendments to HKFRSSs,
a revised conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting
was issued in 2018. Its consequential amendments, fhe
Amendments to References to the Conceptual Framework
in HKFRS Standards, will be effective for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2020.

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of
what the impact of these developments are expected to
be in the period of initial application. So far the Group has
concluded that the adoption of them is unlikely to have
significant impact on the Group’s consolidated financial
statements.

COMPARATIVE FIGURES

The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 as at 1 January
2019. Under the transition methods chosen, comparative
information is not restated. Further details of the changes in
accounting policies are disclosed in note 3.
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Pan Asia Environmental Protection Group Limited
RERREEBRAAE

Financial Summary

MBRE

The following is a summary of the consolidated results and the
consolidated assets and liabilities of the Group for the last five

financial years.

CONSOLIDATED RESULTS

mERE

For the year ended 31 December
B8E+-A=1+—HL=EE

TERRAEEBELAMBEFREZHFEE
ML EERBERE -

2019 2018 2017 2016 2015
ZEB-AE T )\F —E—+tF —T—F —T—HF
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000  RMB’000
ARBTFRE ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT
Continuing operations: BEEEREE:
Revenue WA 79,802 162,188 588,549 637,846 1,068,593
(Loss)/profit before taxation  BRFiAT (E518),/ A (56,227) (14,237) 24,687 74,543 99,293
Income tax (expenses)/credit FTiS#: (Fsz),/ &% (2,397) (3,116) 11,416 (16,859) (32,472)
(Loss)/profit for the year from 4 A7 B 45 B 48 & % 7%
continuing operations 2 (E18),/ S5 H (58,624) (17,353) 36,103 57,684 66,821
Discontinued operation: B#IEIESEE :
(Loss)/profit for the period/ ~ H3A / FRKEE KL
year from discontinued REEKL
operations (&), &5F - (2,004)  (183,462) 17,759 1,996
(Loss)/profit for the year FR(ER), & (58,624) (19,357)  (147,359) 75,443 68,817
CONSOLIDATED ASSETS AND LIABILITIES GEEEHRAE
As at 31 December
®+=—B=+—H
2019 2018 2017 2016 2015
ZE-hE —T-)\F& —T—+ttF —T—RF —T—HF
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTFRE ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT
Total non-current assets EMBEERE 3,106 7,112 237,291 512,960 683,218
Total current assets MEVEERE 1,257,956 1,284,006 1,516,899 1,539,238 1,179,289
Total assets BERE 1,261,062 1,291,118 1,754,190 2,052,198 1,862,507
Total liabilities BERE (116,891) (87,098)  (520,515)  (672,757)  (557,926)
Net assets BEFE 1,144,171 1,204,020 1,233,675 1,379,441 1,304,581
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